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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, DC 20549

FORM 10-Q
(Mark One)

 

☒ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
 

For the quarterly period ended March 31, June 30, 2024

OR

 

☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
 

For the transition period from  to 

Commission File Number: 001-39453

Markforged Holding Corporation
(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

Delaware 92-3037714

(State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer


Identification No.)

60 Tower Road

Waltham, MA 02451

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (866) 496-1805

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class

Trading

Symbol(s)

Name of each exchange

on which registered

Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share

Redeemable Warrants, each whole warrant exercisable for 

one share of Common Stock, $0.0001 par value

MKFG

MKFG.WS

New York Stock Exchange

New York Stock Exchange

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or 

for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes ☒ No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this 

chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes ☒ No ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the 

definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer ☐ Accelerated filer ☐

Non-accelerated filer ☒ Smaller reporting company ☒

Emerging growth company ☒

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting 

standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ☐ No ☐☒ No ☒

As of May 8, 2024 August 7, 2024, the registrant had 201,365,126 203,248,837 shares of common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, outstanding.
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Risk Factors Summary

 

The risk factors detailed in Item 1A entitled “Risk Factors” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are the risks that we believe are material to our investors and a reader should 

carefully consider them. Those risks are not all of the risks we face and other factors not presently known to us or that we currently believe are immaterial may also affect our 

business if they occur. The following is a summary of the risk factors detailed in Item 1A:

• We are, and have been in the recent past, subject to business and intellectual property litigation. In particular, in July 2021, Continuous Composites Inc. (“Continuo
Composites”) filed a patent-infringement case against us in the United States District Court of Delaware and on April 11, 2024, the jury returned a verdict against u
the amount of $17.3 million. Continuous Composites has also asserted through post-trial motions claims for additional royalty payments for sales of certain produc
manufactured and/or sold in the United States after December 31, 2023. In the event that these claims are successful and the District Court awards royalties for sa
after December 31, 2023, we expect the remedy to be a fixed-fee assessment of royalty payments for each machine sold or manufactured in the United States tha
includes our carbon fiber reinforcement technology.

• We have a history of net losses and may not be able to achieve profitability for any period in the future or sustain cash flow from operating activities. We have a 
relatively limited operating history and have experienced rapid growth, which makes evaluating our current business and future prospects difficult and may increas
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risk of your investment. Our operating results may fluctuate significantly from period-to-period.

• The additive manufacturing industry in which we operate is characterized by rapid technological change, which requires us to continue to develop new products an
innovations to meet constantly evolving customer demands and which could adversely affect market adoption of our products.

• Declines in the global economy, geopolitical and social uncertainties, global health crises and difficulties in the markets that we serve may adversely impact our 
business.

• Adverse developments affecting the financial services industry or other third parties, such as a liquidity crisis, increased levels of defaults or non-performance by 
financial institutions or transactional counterparties or the perception that any of these events could occur, could adversely affect our current and projected busines
operations and our financial condition and results of operations.

• We face significant competition in our industry. If we are unable to create new products or meet the demands of our customers, our business could be materially 
adversely affected.

• We depend on our network of value-added resellers and our business could be materially adversely affected if they do not meet our expectations.

• We depend heavily on third-party suppliers. If they or their facilities become unavailable or inadequate, our business could be adversely affected. We may experie
significant delays in the design, production and launch of our additive manufacturing solutions and enhancements to existing products, and we may be unable to 
successfully commercialize products on our planned timelines.

• We rely on a limited number of third-party logistics providers for distribution of our products, and their failure to effectively distribute our products, including becaus
delays and disruptions caused by current conditions in global shipping capacity, would adversely affect our sales.

• If demand for our products does not grow as expected, or if market adoption of additive manufacturing does not continue to develop, or develops more slowly than
expected, our revenues may stagnate or decline, and our business may be adversely affected.

• Defects in new products or in enhancements to our existing products that give rise to product returns or warranty or other claims could result in material expenses,
diversion of management time and attention, and damage to our reputation.

• We may be unable to consistently manufacture our products to the necessary specifications or in quantities necessary to meet demand at an acceptable cost or at
acceptable performance level. As manufacturing becomes a larger part of our operations, we will become exposed to accompanying risks and liabilities. We depen
a limited number of third-party contract manufacturers for a substantial portion of our manufacturing needs and we depend on a number of suppliers for other parts
components; since the second half of 2021, we have increasingly experienced, and expect to continue to experience, price increases, supply shortages and delay
any such delay, disruption or quality control problems in their operations which could cause harm to our operations, including loss of market share, reduced margin
damage to our brand.

• We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, rapid growth and organizational change since our inception. If we fail to manage our growth effective
may be unable to execute our business plan, maintain high levels of service and customer satisfaction or attract new employees and customers.

• A real or perceived defect, security vulnerability, error or performance failure in our software or technical problems or disruptions caused by our third-party service 
providers could cause us to lose revenue, damage our reputation and expose us to liability.

• Our existing and planned global operations subject us to a variety of risks and uncertainties that could adversely affect our business and operating results. Our bus
is subject to risks associated with selling machines and other products in non-United States locations. Global economic, political and social conditions and uncerta
in the market that we serve may adversely impact our business.

• A significant portion of our business depends on sales to the public sector, and our failure to receive and maintain government contracts or changes in the contrac
fiscal policies of the public sector could have a material adverse effect on our business.

• We are, and have been in the recent past, subject to business and intellectual property litigation. We could be subject to personal injury, property damage, product
liability, warranty and other claims involving allegedly defective products that we supply. We could face liability if our additive manufacturing solutions are used by o
customers to print dangerous objects.

• If we are unable to adequately protect our proprietary technology or obtain and maintain patent protection for our technology and products or if the scope of the pa
protection obtained is not sufficiently broad, our competitors could develop and commercialize technology and products similar or identical to ours, and our ability t
successfully commercialize our technology and products may be impaired.

• If we are unable for any reason to meet the continued listing requirements of the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), such action or inaction could result in a delis
of our securities.

• We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and may identify additional material weaknesses in the future or fail to maint
effective internal control over financial reporting, which may result in material misstatements of our consolidated financial statements or cause us to fail to meet ou
periodic reporting obligations.
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EXPLANATORY NOTE

On July 14, 2021, we consummated the merger (the "Merger") contemplated by the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of February 23, 2021 (the “Merger 

Agreement”), by and among one, a Cayman Islands exempted company limited by shares (“one”), Caspian Merger Sub Inc., a Delaware corporation and a wholly owned 

subsidiary of one (“Merger Sub”), and MarkForged, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Legacy Markforged”). As a result of the Merger, Legacy Markforged merged with and into 

Merger Sub with Legacy Markforged surviving as our wholly-owned subsidiary and, following one’s filing of a notice of deregistration and necessary accompanying documents 

with the Cayman Islands Registrar of Companies, and a certificate of incorporation and a certificate of corporate domestication with the Secretary of State of the State of 

Delaware, under which one was domesticated, one changed its name to “Markforged Holding Corporation.”

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains statements that are forward-looking and as such are not historical facts. This includes, without limitation, statements 

regarding the financial position, business strategy and the plans and objectives of management for our future operations of Markforged Holding Corporation (“Markforged,” the 

“Company,” “we,” “us”). These statements constitute projections, forecasts and forward-looking statements, and are not guarantees of performance. Such statements can be 

identified by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. When used in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, words such as “anticipate”, “believe”, 

“continue”, “could”, “estimate”, “expect”, “intend”, “may”, “might”, “plan”, “possible”, “potential”, “predict”, “project”, “should”, “strive”, “would” and similar expressions may identify 

forward-looking statements, but the absence of these words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking.

Forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q include, for example, statements about:

• the benefits of the Merger, and other acquisitions and our ability to realize such benefits;

• our financial performance;

• the effect of uncertainties related to economic downturns and global supply chain disruptions, or any future pandemics;

• the expected growth of the additive manufacturing industry;

• our anticipated growth and our ability to achieve and maintain profitability in the future;

• the impact of the regulatory environment and complexities with compliance related to such environment on us;

• the effect of and our ability to respond to general economic, political and business conditions, including recent increases in interest rates, rising inflation, foreign 
exchange fluctuations and risk of recession;

• our ability to access sources of capital, including debt financing and other sources of capital to finance operations and growth;

• the success of our marketing efforts and our ability to expand our customer base;

• our ability to develop and deliver new products, features and functionality that are competitive and meet market needs;

• our ability to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting;

• our ability to remediate our material weaknesses in our internal control of financial reporting;

• our ability to grow and manage growth profitably and retain key employees;

• the expected impact of any cost reduction initiative we may undertake and any estimates of our operating expenses and yearly run rate;

• the impact of the reverse stock split on the trading price of our common stock, the liquidity of our common stock, our ability to attract new investors and raise capita
our ability to regain compliance with the New York Stock Exchange’s minimum bid price listing requirement; and

• the outcome of legal or governmental proceedings that have been and may continue to be instituted against us. us, and the impacts of the outcomes of those legal
governmental proceedings on our business operations, financial condition and results of operations.

These forward-looking statements are based on information available as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and current expectations, forecasts and 

assumptions, and involve a number of judgments, risks and uncertainties. Accordingly,
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forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as representing our views as of any subsequent date, and we do not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking 

statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date they were made, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required 

under applicable securities laws.

As a result of a number of known and unknown risks and uncertainties, our actual results or performance may be materially different from those expressed or implied by 

these forward-looking statements. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.

 

PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.

 

MARKFORGED HOLDING CORPORATION

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023

(In thousands, except share data and par value amounts) (Unaudited)

  

March 31,


2024    

December 

31,


2023    

June 30,


2024    

December 

31,


2023  

Assets            

Current assets            

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 107,924     $ 116,854     $ 73,390     $ 116,854  

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for expected credit losses ($271 and $360, respectively)     21,493       24,059  

Restricted cash     19,122       —  

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for expected credit losses ($438 and $360, respectively)     21,605       24,059  

Inventory     23,792       26,773       22,557       26,773  

Prepaid expenses     3,328       2,756       2,052       2,756  

Other current assets     1,733       2,022       1,940       2,022  

Total current assets     158,270       172,464       140,666       172,464  

Property and equipment, net     17,893       17,713       16,945       17,713  

Intangible assets, net     15,924       17,128       15,596       17,128  

Right-of-use assets     35,809       36,884       34,819       36,884  

Other assets     3,734       3,763       3,768       3,763  

Total assets   $ 231,630     $ 247,952     $ 211,794     $ 247,952  

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity            

Current liabilities            

Accounts payable   $ 11,877     $ 13,235     $ 8,749     $ 13,235  

Accrued expenses     12,451       9,840       11,276       9,840  

Litigation judgment payable (Note 15)     17,300       —  

Litigation payable (Note 15)     17,511       —  

Deferred revenue     9,609       8,779       8,997       8,779  

Lease liabilities     7,316       7,368       7,361       7,368  

Other current liabilities     1,500       1,526       —       1,526  

Total current liabilities     60,053       40,748       53,894       40,748  

Long-term deferred revenue     5,457       6,083       5,187       6,083  

Contingent earnout liability     1,540       1,379       245       1,379  

Long-term lease liabilities     34,647       35,771       33,420       35,771  
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Other liabilities     2,030       2,361       1,652       2,361  

Total liabilities     103,727       86,342       94,398       86,342  

Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)                        

Stockholders’ equity                        

Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 1,000,000,000 shares authorized at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023; 

199,399,503 and 198,581,263 shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively     19       19  

Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 1,000,000,000 shares authorized at June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023; 

202,549,293 and 198,581,263 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively     19       19  

Additional paid-in capital     369,561       366,281       373,397       366,281  

Accumulated deficit     (240,610 )     (204,664 )     (255,008 )     (204,664 )

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income     (1,067 )     (26 )     (1,012 )     (26 )

Total stockholders’ equity     127,903       161,610       117,396       161,610  

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 231,630     $ 247,952     $ 211,794     $ 247,952  

 
See notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

1

MARKFORGED HOLDING CORPORATION

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023

(In thousands, except share data and per share data) (Unaudited)

 
 Three Months Ended March 31,   Three Months Ended June 30,     Six Months Ended June 30,  

 2024     2023   2024     2023     2024     2023  

Revenue   20,547       24,090     21,688       25,449     $ 42,235     $ 49,539  

Cost of revenue   10,414       12,508     10,810       13,476       21,224       25,984  

Gross profit   10,133       11,582     10,878       11,973       21,011       23,555  

Operating expenses                                

Sales and marketing   7,844       10,576     8,526       9,666       16,370       20,242  

Research and development   9,935       10,380     9,060       10,286       18,995       20,666  

General and administrative   12,165       12,128     10,334       12,120       22,499       24,248  

Litigation judgment   17,300       —     —       —       17,300       —  

Total operating expenses   47,244       33,084     27,920       32,072       75,164       65,156  

Loss from operations   (37,111 )     (21,502 )   (17,042 )     (20,099 )     (54,153 )     (41,601 )

Change in fair value of derivative liabilities   31       189     95       125       126       314  

Change in fair value of contingent earnout liability   (161 )     808     1,295       (817 )     1,134       (7 )

Other expense, net   (135 )     (204 )   (84 )     (16 )     (219 )     (222 )

Interest expense   (154 )     —     (170 )     (116 )     (324 )     (116 )

Interest income   1,400       1,691     1,230       1,577       2,630       3,268  

Loss before income taxes   (36,130 )     (19,018 )   (14,676 )     (19,346 )     (50,806 )     (38,364 )

Income tax (benefit) expense   (184 )     1     (278 )     (358 )     (462 )     (357 )

Net loss $ (35,946 )   $ (19,019 ) $ (14,398 )   $ (18,988 )   $ (50,344 )   $ (38,007 )

Weighted average shares outstanding - basic and diluted   199,290,500       195,369,245     201,252,969       196,372,157       200,273,880       195,873,471  

Net loss per share - basic and diluted $ (0.18 )   $ (0.10 ) $ (0.07 )   $ (0.10 )   $ (0.25 )   $ (0.19 )

 
See notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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2

 
MARKFORGED HOLDING CORPORATION

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

For the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023

(In thousands, except share data and per share data) thousands) (Unaudited)

 

 Three Months Ended March 31,   Three Months Ended June 30,     Six Months Ended June 30,  

 2024     2023   2024     2023     2024     2023  

Net loss $ (35,946 )   $ (19,019 ) $ (14,398 )   $ (18,988 )   $ (50,344 )   $ (38,007 )

Other comprehensive loss, net of taxes:                                

Unrealized loss on available-for-sale marketable securities, net   —       (50 )   —       25       —       (25 )

Foreign currency translation adjustment   (1,041 )     158     55       (1,704 )     (986 )     (1,546 )

Total comprehensive loss $ (36,987 )   $ (18,911 ) $ (14,343 )   $ (20,667 )   $ (51,330 )   $ (39,578 )

 

See notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

3

 
MARKFORGED HOLDING CORPORATION

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

For the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023

(In thousands, except share data) (Unaudited)

 

   Common Stock    

Additional


Paid-in     Accumulated    

Accumulated 

Other 

Comprehensive           Common Stock    

Additional


Paid-in     Accumulated    

Accumulated 

Other 

Comprehensive    

Total 

Stockholders’ 

Equity  

   Shares     Amount     Capital     Deficit     Loss     Total     Shares     Amount     Capital     Deficit     Income (Loss)        

December 31, 2022     194,560,946     $ 19     $ 352,564     $ (101,097 )   $ 1,068     $ 252,554       194,560,946     $ 19     $ 352,564     $ (101,097 )   $ 1,068     $ 252,554  

Exercise of common stock 

options     502,299       —       180       —       —       180       502,299       —       180       —       —       180  

Stock vested under 

compensation plan


   less shares withheld to 

cover taxes     580,375       —       (118 )     —       —       (118 )     580,375       —       (118 )     —       —       (118 )

Stock-based compensation 

expense     —       —       4,144       —       —       4,144       —       —       4,144       —       —       4,144  

Earnout stock-based 

compensation expense     —       —       212       —       —       212       —       —       212       —       —       212  

Net loss     —       —       —       (19,019 )     —       (19,019 )     —       —       —       (19,019 )     —       (19,019 )

Other comprehensive income     —       —       —       —       108       108  

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

9/93

Other 

comprehensive 

income (loss)     —       —       —       —       108       108  

March 31, 2023     195,643,620     $ 19     $ 356,982     $ (120,116 )   $ 1,176     $ 238,061       195,643,620     $ 19     $ 356,982     $ (120,116 )   $ 1,176     $ 238,061  

                                    

December 31, 2023     198,581,263     $ 19     $ 366,281     $ (204,664 )   $ (26 )   $ 161,610  

Exercise of 

common stock 

options     952       —       1       —       —       1  

Stock vested under 

compensation plan


   less shares withheld to 

cover taxes     818,240       —       (181 )     —       —       (181 )     1,236,392       —       (28 )     —       —       (28 )

Stock-based compensation 

expense     —       —       3,498       —       —       3,498       —       —       1,938       —       —       1,938  

Earnout stock-based 

compensation expense     —       —       (37 )     —       —       (37 )     —       —       (248 )     —       —       (248 )

Net loss     —       —       —       (35,946 )     —       (35,946 )     —       —       —       (18,988 )     —       (18,988 )

Other comprehensive income     —       —       —       —       (1,041 )     (1,041 )

Other 

comprehensive 

income (loss)     —       —       —       —       (1,679 )     (1,679 )

June 30, 2023     196,880,964     $ 19     $ 358,645     $ (139,104 )   $ (503 )   $ 219,057  

                                    

December 31, 

2023     198,581,263     $ 19     $ 366,281     $ (204,664 )   $ (26 )   $ 161,610  

Exercise of 

common stock 

options     —       —       —       —       —       —  

Stock vested under 

compensation plan


   less shares 

withheld to cover 

taxes     818,240       —       (181 )     —       —       (181 )

Stock-based 

compensation 

expense     —       —       3,498       —       —       3,498  

Earnout stock-

based 

compensation 

expense     —       —       (37 )     —       —       (37 )

Net loss     —       —       —       (35,946 )     —       (35,946 )

Other 

comprehensive 

income (loss)     —       —       —       —       (1,041 )     (1,041 )

March 31, 2024     199,399,503     $ 19     $ 369,561     $ (240,610 )   $ (1,067 )   $ 127,903       199,399,503     $ 19     $ 369,561     $ (240,610 )   $ (1,067 )   $ 127,903  

Exercise of 

common stock 

options     —       —       —       —       —       —  
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Stock vested under 

compensation plan


   less shares 

withheld to cover 

taxes     2,063,654       —       (159 )     —       —       (159 )

Stock-based 

compensation 

expense     —       —       3,247       —       —       3,247  

Earnout stock-

based 

compensation 

expense     —       —       (2 )     —       —       (2 )

Issuance of 

Common Stock in 

connection


   with acquisition 

earnout 

achievement     1,086,136       —       750       —       —       750  

Net loss     —       —       —       (14,398 )     —       (14,398 )

Other 

comprehensive 

income (loss)     —       —       —       —       55       55  

June 30, 2024     202,549,293     $ 19     $ 373,397     $ (255,008 )   $ (1,012 )   $ 117,396  

 

See notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

4

 
MARKFORGED HOLDING CORPORATION

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023

(In thousands, except share data) thousands) (Unaudited)

 
   For the Three Months Ended March 31,     For the Six Months Ended June 30,  

   2024     2023     2024     2023  

Operating Activities:                        

Net loss   $ (35,946 )   $ (19,019 )   $ (50,344 )   $ (38,007 )

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities                        

Depreciation, amortization, and non-cash lease interest     3,099       2,430       6,244       6,677  

Provision for doubtful accounts     161       (523 )     328       (866 )

Provision for excess and obsolete inventory     260       150       718       140  

Change in fair value of derivative liabilities     (31 )     (189 )     (126 )     (314 )

Change in fair value of contingent earnout liability     161       (808 )     (1,134 )     7  

Amortization (accretion) of (discounts) premiums on available-for-sale securities     —       (670 )     —       (1,304 )

Stock-based compensation expense     3,461       4,356       6,706       6,046  

Long-lived asset impairment     —       4,015  
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Other     (2 )     —       6       —  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities                        

Accounts receivable     2,339       3,708       2,051       3,017  

Inventory     2,533       (2,998 )     3,312       (3,429 )

Prepaid expenses     (584 )     511       688       1,862  

Other current assets     272       (28 )     69       35  

Other assets     20       85       (7 )     (212 )

Accounts payable and accrued expenses     18,676       (2,117 )     14,585       (4,235 )

Other current liabilities     (22 )     —       (190 )     (352 )

Deferred revenue     226       788       (655 )     330  

Other long term liabilities     (185 )     —       (477 )     (368 )

Other non-current lease liabilities     (1,854 )     (1,218 )     (3,696 )     (3,742 )

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities     (7,416 )     (15,542 )     (21,922 )     (30,700 )

Investing Activities:                        

Purchases of property and equipment     (1,323 )     (1,646 )     (1,491 )     (2,157 )

Purchases of available-for-sale securities     —       (18,950 )     —       (18,950 )

Proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities     —       2,500       —       13,500  

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities     (1,323 )     (18,096 )     (1,491 )     (7,607 )

Financing Activities:                        

Payment of acquisition-related contingent liabilities     (582 )     —  

Acquisition holdback payment     —       (250 )

Proceeds from exercise of common stock options     —       180       —       181  

Taxes paid related to net share settlement of equity awards     (181 )     (118 )     (340 )     (146 )

Net cash provided by (used in) provided by financing activities     (181 )     62       (922 )     (215 )

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash     (10 )     8       (7 )     (62 )

Net change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash     (8,930 )     (33,568 )     (24,342 )     (38,584 )

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash                        

Beginning of year     118,284       124,242       118,284       125,672  

End of period   $ 109,354     $ 90,674     $ 93,942     $ 87,088  

                        

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information                        

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 107,924     $ 90,674     $ 73,390     $ 85,658  

Restricted cash     19,122       —  

Restricted cash in other non-current assets     1,430       1,430       1,430       1,430  

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows   $ 109,354     $ 92,104     $ 93,942     $ 87,088  

Non cash investing activities            

Non cash operating activities            

Common stock issued in connection with acquisition earnout achievement   $ 750     $ —  

Non cash investing and financing activities            

Purchase of property and equipment in accounts payable and accrued expenses   $ 280     $ 899     $ 56     $ 133  

Common stock disbursed to settle acquisition holdback     —       250  

                        

                    

 

See notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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MARKFORGED HOLDING CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

Note 1. Organization, Nature of the Business, and Risks and Uncertainties

Organization and Nature of Business

Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references to the “Company” and “Markforged” refer to the consolidated operations of Markforged Holding 

Corporation and its subsidiaries. References to “AONE” refer to the company prior to the consummation of the Merger and references to “Legacy Markforged” refer to 

MarkForged, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries prior to the consummation of the Merger.

Legacy Markforged was founded in 2013 to transform the manufacturing industry with high strength, cost effective parts using additive manufacturing. Markforged 

produces and sells 3D printers, materials, software, and other related services worldwide to customers who can build parts strong enough for the factory floor with significantly 

reduced lead time and cost. The printers print in plastic, nylon, metal, and the parts can be reinforced with carbon fiber for industry leading strength at an affordable price point.

On February 23, 2021, one, a Cayman Islands exempted company (“AONE”), entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Caspian 

Merger Sub Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of AONE (“Merger Sub”), and Legacy Markforged, pursuant to which (i) AONE would deregister as a Cayman Islands company and 

domesticate as a corporation in the State of Delaware and would be renamed “Markforged Holding Corporation” (the “Domestication”) and (ii) Merger Sub would merge with and 

into Legacy Markforged with Legacy Markforged surviving as a wholly owned subsidiary of Markforged Holding Corporation (the “Merger”). AONE's shareholders approved the 

transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement on July 13, 2021, and the Domestication and the Merger were completed on July 14, 2021 (the "Closing").

Cash proceeds of the merger were funded through a combination of AONE’s $132.5 million of cash held in trust (after redemptions of $64.2 million) and an aggregate of 

$210.0 million in fully committed common stock transactions at $10.00 per share. Immediately prior to the Closing, Legacy Markforged repurchased shares of common stock 

from certain of its stockholders, for a total value of $45.0 million, referred to as the “Employee Transactions”. Total net proceeds upon Closing, net of the Employee Transactions 

and transaction costs paid at Closing of $27.1 million, were $288.8 million.

Risks and Uncertainties Liquidity

We continue to monitor, analyze, and respond to evolving developments regarding supply chain disruptions and the economic downturn. The Company is unable to 

predict the ultimate impact that these factors will have on the business, future results of operations, financial position or cash flows. The potential risks to the Company including 

certain accounting estimates around its supply chain, accounts receivable, inventory and related reserves, and intangible assets, were assessed and had no material impact as 

of and for the three months ended March 31, 2024. There may be changes to those estimates in future periods, and actual results could differ from those estimates.

The Company has funded its operations to date primarily through the sale of convertible preferred stock, the proceeds from the Merger, including the sale of common 

stock, and the sale of its products. Management believes that existing cash will be sufficient to fund operating and capital expenditure requirements through at least one year 

after the date these condensed consolidated financial statements are issued. The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis 

which assumes that the Company will continue as a going concern and contemplates the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in the normal 

course of business.

Currently we generate negative operating cash flows and may continue to do so as we focus on pursuing commercialization and product development. During the six 

months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 we generated net negative cash flows from operations of $21.9 million and $30.7 million, respectively. Our future capital requirements 

will depend on many factors, including our revenue growth rate, the timing and the amount of cash received from customers, the timing and extent of spending to support 

development efforts, expenses associated with our international expansion, the introduction of platform enhancements, the continuing market adoption of The Digital Forge 

platform, and the outcome of litigation. We may be required to seek additional equity or debt financing. In the event that we require additional financing, we may not be able to 

raise such financing on terms acceptable to us or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital or generate cash flows necessary to expand our operations and invest in 

continued innovation, we may not be able to compete successfully, which would harm our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

We have enacted, and intend to continue to enact, cost savings measures to preserve capital. In November 2023, we announced a cost restructuring initiative that 

included an approximately 10% workforce reduction and other operational savings measures expected to deliver operating costs savings of approximately $9 - $12 million in 

2024. Further, in August 2024, we announced an approximately $25 million cost reduction initiative that is expected to reduce the Company’s operating expenses to a yearly run 

rate of approximately $70 million. We expect that most of these cost reduction initiatives will be completed in the second half of fiscal year 2024. We are currently evaluating 

other potential initiatives we may undertake to reduce our operating expenses and manage our cash flows. These initiatives could include rationalizing our product portfolio, 

workforce adjustments based on changes to the business, improving our supply chain and logistics, and improving our inventory management. These initiatives may not be 

successful, and they
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6

may not generate the cost savings we expect. Certain future events, such as a global recession, a material supply chain disruption or other events outside our control, may 

occur and could negatively impact our operating results and cash position and may require us to use our existing capital resources more quickly than we currently anticipate. 

These events may cause us to undertake additional cost savings measures or seek additional sources of financing.

Risks and Uncertainties

We continue to monitor, analyze, and respond to evolving developments regarding supply chain disruptions and the economic downturn. The Company is unable to 

predict the ultimate impact that these factors will have on the business, future results of operations, financial position or cash flows. The potential risks to the Company including 

certain accounting estimates around its supply chain, accounts receivable, inventory and related reserves, and intangible assets, were assessed and had no material impact as 

of and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024. There may be changes to those estimates in future periods, and actual results could differ from those estimates.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. The Company’s fiscal year end is 

December 31 and, unless otherwise stated, all years and dates refer to the fiscal year.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 

the United States of America (“US GAAP”) and pursuant to the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), the instructions to 

Form 10-Q and the provisions of Regulation S-X

6

pertaining to interim financial statements. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with US GAAP have 

been condensed or omitted pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC. The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the Company’s accounts and 

those of its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. In the opinion of the Company’s management, the 

financial information for the interim periods presented reflects all adjustments, which are of a normal and recurring nature, necessary for a fair statement of the Company’s 

financial position, results of operations, and cash flows. The results reported in these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements are not necessarily indicative of 

results that may be expected for the entire year. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and 

notes thereto included in the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed with the SEC on March 15, 2024.

Reporting Currency

The Company’s reporting currency is the U.S. Dollar, while the functional currencies of its foreign subsidiaries are the currencies of the primary economic environment in 

which each of them operate.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions 

that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 

revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Management’s significant estimates include allowance for doubtful accounts, reserve for excess and obsolete inventory, fair 

value of contingent earnout liability, fair value of earnout share awards, fair value of the private placement warrant liability, assumptions in revenue recognition, and valuation of 

intangibles and goodwill. The Company evaluates its estimates based on historical experience, current conditions, and various other assumptions that it believes are reasonable 

under the circumstances.

7
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments including money market funds, treasury securities, and commercial paper with original maturities of 90 days or less 

to be cash equivalents.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash represents cash and cash equivalents that are restricted to withdrawal or use as of the reporting date. Restricted

As of June 30, 2024 the Company has accrued $17.5 million in connection with the Continuous Composites case discussed further in Note 15 to our unaudited 

condensed consolidated financial statements. The Company has investments in the amount of $19.1 million on its balance sheet as restricted cash as of March 31, 2024 June 

30, 2024 for the purpose of funding a surety bond in connection with this liability.

Noncurrent restricted cash as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 of $1.4 million relates to deposits to secure letters of credit. credit totaling $1.4 million. The 

deposits are related to contracts that have a remaining term greater than twelve months, and thus this cash is included in other noncurrent assets.

    Three Months Ended June 30,     Six Months Ended June 30,  

(in thousands)   2024     2023     2024     2023  

Restricted cash equivalents, beginning of period   $ —     $ —     $ —     $ —  

Surety bond collateral     19,075       —       19,075       —  

Interest received     46       —       46       —  

Balance at end of period   $ 19,121     $ —     $ 19,121     $ —  

                         

Restricted cash in non-current assets, beginning of period     1,430       1,430       1,430       1,430  

Balance at end of period   $ 1,430     $ 1,430     $ 1,430     $ 1,430  

Short-term Investments

The Company has invested its excess cash in fixed income instruments denominated and payable in U.S. dollars including U.S. treasury securities, commercial paper, 

corporate bonds and asset-backed securities in accordance with the Company’s investment policy that primarily seeks to maintain adequate liquidity and preserve capital. 

Investments in marketable securities are recorded at fair value, and unrealized gains and losses are reported within accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as a 

separate component of stockholders’ equity until realized or until a determination is made that an other-than-temporary decline in market value has occurred. We consider 

impairments to be other than temporary if they are related to deterioration in credit risk or if it is likely we will sell the securities before the recovery of their cost basis. When 

such reductions occur, the cost of the investment is adjusted to fair value through recording a loss on investments in the consolidated statements of operations. Realized gains 

and losses and declines in the value of securities attributable to actual or expected losses are included in other income (expense), net in the consolidated statements of 

operations. All investments in marketable securities mature within one year.

The Company did not hold any short term investments as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 or December 31, 2023. Cash equivalents are invested in the following:

7

   March 31, 2024     June 30, 2024  

(in thousands)   Amortized Cost     Unrealized Gains     Unrealized Losses     Fair Value     Amortized Cost     Unrealized Gains     Unrealized Losses     Fair Value  

Money market funds   $ 104,622     $ —     $ —     $ 104,622     $ 69,328     $ —     $ —     $ 69,328  

Total cash equivalents   $ 104,622     $ —     $ —     $ 104,622     $ 69,328     $ —     $ —     $ 69,328  

                                                

   December 31, 2023     December 31, 2023  

(in thousands)   Amortized Cost     Unrealized Gains     Unrealized Losses     Fair Value     Amortized Cost     Unrealized Gains     Unrealized Losses     Fair Value  
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Money market funds   $ 110,775     $ —     $ —     $ 110,775     $ 110,775     $ —     $ —     $ 110,775  

Total cash equivalents   $ 110,775       —       —     $ 110,775     $ 110,775       —       —     $ 110,775  

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. Credit losses are estimated for accounts receivable considered to be 

uncollectible based on management’s assessment of collectability, which considers specific customers’ abilities to meet their financial obligations, the length of time receivables 

are past due, and historical collection experience. If circumstances related to specific customers change, or economic conditions deteriorate such that past collection experience 

is no longer relevant, the Company’s estimate of the recoverability of accounts receivable could be further reduced from the levels provided for in the unaudited consolidated 

financial statements.

8

The following presents the changes in the balance of the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts:

   Three Months Ended March 31,     Three Months Ended June 30,     Six Months Ended June 30,  

(in thousands)   2024     2023     2024     2023     2024     2023  

Balance at beginning of period   $ 360     $ 1,559     $ 271     $ 786     $ 360     $ 1,559  

Provision adjustment     161       (523 )     167       (343 )     328       (866 )

Write – offs     (250 )     (250 )     —       (260 )     (250 )     (510 )

Balance at end of period   $ 271     $ 786     $ 438     $ 183     $ 438     $ 183  

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company is required to provide information according to the fair value hierarchy based on the observability of the inputs used in the valuation techniques. The fair 

value hierarchy ranks the quality and reliability of the information used to determine fair values. Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value will be classified and disclosed 

in one of the following three categories:

 

  Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

  Level 2 Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets 

that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or 

liabilities

  Level 3 Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities

 
8

The following table presents information about the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and December 

31, 2023 and indicates the fair value hierarchy of the valuation:

   Fair Value Measurements     Fair Value Measurements  

   March 31, 2024     June 30, 2024  

   Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total     Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total  

Assets:                                                

Cash equivalents:                                                

Money market funds included in cash and cash equivalents   $ 104,622       —       —     $ 104,622     $ 69,328       —       —     $ 69,328  

Total cash and cash equivalents   $ 104,622     $ —     $ —     $ 104,622  

Money market funds included in restricted cash     19,122       —       —       19,122  

Total assets   $ 104,622     $ —     $ —     $ 104,622     $ 88,450     $ —     $ —     $ 88,450  

Liabilities:                                                
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Contingent earnout liability   $ —     $ —     $ 1,540     $ 1,540     $ —     $ —     $ 245     $ 245  

Private placement warrant liability     —       —       158       158       —       —       63       63  

Teton acquisition contingent earnout liability     —       —       1,500       1,500  

Total liabilities   $ —     $ —     $ 3,198     $ 3,198     $ —     $ —     $ 308     $ 308  

                                                

   December 31, 2023     December 31, 2023  

   Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total     Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total  

Assets:                                                

Cash equivalents:                                                

Money market funds included in cash and cash equivalents   $ 110,775       —       —     $ 110,775     $ 110,775       —       —     $ 110,775  

Total cash and cash equivalents   $ 110,775     $ —     $ —     $ 110,775     $ 110,775     $ —     $ —     $ 110,775  

Total assets   $ 110,775     $ —     $ —     $ 110,775     $ 110,775     $ —     $ —     $ 110,775  

Liabilities:                                                

Contingent earnout liability   $ —     $ —     $ 1,379     $ 1,379     $ —     $ —     $ 1,379     $ 1,379  

Private placement warrant liability     —       —       189       189       —       —       189       189  

Teton acquisition contingent earnout liability     —       —       1,500       1,500       —       —       1,500       1,500  

Total liabilities   $ —     $ —     $ 3,068     $ 3,068     $ —     $ —     $ 3,068     $ 3,068  

 
The Company remeasures its Private Placement Warrants (as defined below) at fair value at each reporting period using Level 3 inputs via the Binomial Lattice Model. 

The valuation of the earnout shares is based on a Monte Carlo simulation. The significant assumptions used in preparing the above models are disclosed in Note 12 Stock 

Warrants and Note 11 Earnout. The Teton Software Simulation ("Teton") contingent earnout is was related to development and business milestone metrics estimated using a 

scenario-based approach discussed in Note 2, Contingent Earnout Liability. The Teton development milestone was met and settled in 2022. The Teton

9

business milestone was met as in the first quarter of March 31, 2024 2024 and will be settled in the second quarter of 2024. There were no transfers between levels during the 

periods presented.

(in thousands)  

Contingent 

Earnout Liability    

Private Placement 

Warrant Liability    

Teton Acquisition 

Contingent Earnout 

Liability     Total    

Contingent 

Earnout 

Liability    

Private Placement 

Warrant Liability    

Teton Acquisition 

Contingent Earnout 

Liability     Total  

Fair Value as of December 

31, 2022

 

$ 2,415     $ 661  

 

$ 602     $ 3,678  

 

$ 2,415     $ 661  

 

$ 602     $ 3,678  

Change in fair value     (808 )     (189 )     —       (997 )     7       (314 )     —       (307 )

Fair Value as of March 31, 

2023

 
$ 1,607     $ 472  

 
$ 602     $ 2,681  

Fair Value as of June 30, 

2023

 
$ 2,422     $ 347  

 
$ 602     $ 3,371  

                                                

Fair Value as of December 

31, 2023

 

$ 1,379     $ 189  

 

$ 1,500     $ 3,068  

 

$ 1,379     $ 189  

 

$ 1,500     $ 3,068  

Change in fair value     161       (31 )     —       130       (1,134 )     (126 )     —       (1,260 )

Fair Value as of March 31, 

2024

 
$ 1,540     $ 158  

 
$ 1,500     $ 3,198  

Settlement of liability acquired 

as part of acquisitions

 

  —       —  

 

  (1,500 )     (1,500 )

Fair Value as of June 30, 

2024

 
$ 245     $ 63  

 
$ —     $ 308  
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Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of accounts receivable. The Company does not require 

collateral from customers for amounts owed. As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, June 30, 2024 

9 one

 customer represented 

2023 10% of the accounts receivable balance. As of December 31, 2023 no one customer represented greater than 10% of the accounts receivable balance. No one customer 

represented 10% of total revenue for the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023. Historically, the Company has not experienced any significant 

credit loss related to any individual customer.

Additionally, we have cash and cash equivalents held on deposit at two primary financial institutions.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates whether events or circumstances have occurred that indicate that the estimated remaining useful life of its long-lived assets may warrant 

reassessment or that the carrying value of these assets may not be recoverable. When a triggering event is identified, management assesses the recoverability of the asset 

group, which is the lowest level where identifiable cash flows are largely independent, by comparing the expected undiscounted cash flows of the asset group to the carrying 

value. When the carrying value is not recoverable and an impairment is determined to exist, the asset group is written down to fair value.

The Company determined the litigation judgment discussed in Note 15 is a triggering event. event as of March 31, 2024. The undiscounted cash flows of the asset 

groups were determined to exceed carrying value, as such there was not any impairment to long-lived assets as of March 31, 2024.

The Company exited certain leased facilities during fiscal year 2023 and is in the process of seeking subleases for those properties. The Company recorded a non-

cash, pre-tax and after-tax impairment charge of $4.0 million during the three months ended June 30, 2023 related to the operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) asset recorded for 

our former headquarters at 480 Pleasant Street, Watertown, MA 02472 (“480 Pleasant Street”) within the general and administrative expense caption of the unaudited 

condensed consolidated statements of operations. The impairment was determined by comparing the fair value of the impacted ROU asset to the carrying value of the asset as 

of the impairment measurement date, as required under ASC Topic 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, using Level 2 inputs. The fair value of the ROU asset was based on 

the estimated sublease income for certain facilities taking into consideration the time period it will take to obtain a sublessor, the applicable discount rate and the sublease rate.

Sales and Marketing

Advertising costs, a component of sales and marketing expenses, were $0.6 million and $1.1 million during the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, 

compared to $0.5 million and $0.6 1.1 million during for the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, June 30, 2023, respectively.

Warranty Reserves

Substantially all of the Company’s hardware products are covered by a standard assurance warranty of one year. In the event of a failure of a product covered by this 

warranty, the Company may repair or replace the product, at its option. The Company’s warranty reserve reflects estimated material and labor costs for potential or actual 

product issues for which the Company expects to incur an

10

obligation. The Company periodically assesses the appropriateness of the warranty reserve and adjusts the amount as necessary. If the data used to calculate the 

appropriateness of the warranty reserve are not indicative of future requirements, additional or reduced warranty reserves may be necessary.

Warranty reserves are included within accrued expenses on the unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheets. The following table presents changes in the 

balance of the Company’s warranty reserve:

   Three Months Ended March 31,     Three Months Ended June 30,     Six Months Ended June 30,  

(in thousands)   2024     2023     2024     2023     2024     2023  
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Balance at beginning of period   $ 886     $ 620     $ 999     $ 484     $ 886     $ 620  

Additions to warranty reserve     398       173       33       358       431       531  

Claims fulfilled     (285 )     (309 )     (225 )     (286 )     (510 )     (595 )

Balance at end of period   $ 999     $ 484     $ 807     $ 556     $ 807     $ 556  

 
Warranty reserve is recorded through cost of revenue in the unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations.

Segment Information

The Company determines its chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) based on the person responsible for making resource allocation decisions. Our operating 

segment is the component of the business for which the CODM regularly reviews discrete financial information.

Common Stock Warrant Liabilities

The Company assumed 5,374,984 publicly-traded warrants (“Public Warrants”) and 3,150,000 private placement warrants originally issued by AONE (“Private 

Placement Warrants” and, together with the Public Warrants, the “Common Stock Warrants”) upon the Merger, all of which were issued in connection with AONE’s initial public 

offering and subsequent overallotment and entitle the holder to purchase one share of the Common Stock at an exercise price of $11.50 per share. The Common Stock 

Warrants became exercisable the later of 30 days after the Company completed the Merger or 12 months from the closing of AONE’s initial public offering, but can be 

terminated on the earlier of 5 years after the Merger, liquidation of the Company, or the Redemption Date as determined by the Company. During the three and six months 

ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023, no Public Warrants or Private Placement

10

Warrants were exercised. The Public Warrants are publicly traded and are exercisable for cash unless certain conditions occur which would permit a cashless exercise, such as 

the failure to have an effective registration statement related to the shares issuable upon exercise or redemption by the Company under certain conditions. The Private 

Placement Warrants are not redeemable for cash so long as they are held by the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees but may be redeemable for common stock if 

certain other conditions are met. If the Private Placement Warrants are held by someone other than the initial purchasers or their permitted transferees, the Private Placement 

Warrants are redeemable by the Company and exercisable by such holders on the same basis as the Public Warrants.

The Company evaluated the Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants and concluded that the Private Placement Warrants do not meet the criteria to be 

classified within stockholders’ equity. The agreement governing the Common Stock Warrants includes a provision that, if applied, could result in a different settlement value for 

the Private Placement Warrants depending on their holder. Because the holder of an instrument is not an input into the pricing of a fixed-for-fixed option on the Company’s 

ordinary shares, the Private Placement Warrants are not considered to be “indexed to the Company’s own stock.” As the Private Placement Warrants meet the definition of a 

derivative, the Company recorded these warrants as liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet at fair value, with subsequent changes in their respective fair values 

recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of operations at each reporting date as part of change in fair value of derivative liabilities, as described in Note 12. The 

provisions referenced above are not applicable to the Public Warrants which do not have differing settlement provisions based on the warrant holder. The Public Warrants are 

not precluded from being considered indexed to the Company’s stock and were recognized at fair value in stockholders’ equity on the closing of the Merger.

Contingent Earnout Liability

In connection with the Reverse Recapitalization and pursuant to the Merger Agreement, A-Star, the sponsor of AONE (the "Sponsor") surrendered 2,610,000 shares 

("Sponsor Earnout Shares") and eligible Markforged equity holders were entitled to receive as additional merger consideration 14,666,667 shares of the Company’s Common 

Stock ("Markforged Earnout Shares") upon the Company achieving certain Earnout Triggering Events (as described in the Merger Agreement and Note 11). The contingent 

obligations to issue Markforged Earnout Shares in respect of Markforged common stock and release from lock-up Sponsor Earnout

11
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Shares, are accounted for as liability classified instruments in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 815-40, as the Earnout Triggering Events that determine 

the number of Sponsor and Markforged Earnout Shares required to be released or issued, as the case may be, include events that are not solely indexed to the fair value of 

common stock of Markforged. The liability was recognized at the reverse recapitalization date and is subsequently remeasured at each reporting date with changes in fair value 

recorded in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.

Markforged Earnout Shares issuable to employees with vested equity awards and Earnout RSUs (as described in the Merger Agreement) issuable to employees with 

unvested equity awards are considered a separate unit of account from the Markforged Earnout Shares issuable in respect of Markforged common stock and are accounted for 

as equity classified stock compensation. The Earnout Shares issuable to employees with vested equity awards are fully vested upon issuance, thus there is no requisite service 

period and the value of these shares is recognized as a one-time stock compensation expense for the grant date fair value. Earnout RSUs are contingent upon an employee 

completing a service vesting condition, and as such, reflect a transaction in which the Company acquires employee services by offering to issue its shares, the amount of which 

is based in part on the Company’s share price. Expense related to Earnout RSUs is recognized using graded vesting over the requisite service period for the Earnout RSUs.

The estimated fair values of the Sponsor Earnout Shares, Markforged Earnout Shares, and Earnout RSUs were determined by using a Monte Carlo simulation valuation 

model using a distribution of potential outcomes on a monthly basis over the five-year Earnout Period as defined in Note 11. The preliminary estimated fair values of Sponsor 

Earnout Shares, Markforged Earnout Shares, and Earnout RSUs were determined using the most reliable information available, including the current Company Common Stock 

price, expected volatility, risk-free rate, expected term and dividend rate.

The contingent earnout liability is categorized as a Level 3 fair value measurement (see Fair Value of Financial Instruments accounting policy as described above) 

because the Company estimated projections during the Earnout Period utilizing unobservable inputs. Contingent earnout payments involve certain assumptions requiring 

significant judgment and actual results can differ from assumed and estimated amounts.

Teton Software Simulation Contingent Earnout

Contingent consideration represents potential future payments that the Company may be required to pay in the event negotiated milestones are met in connection with 

a business acquisition. Contingent consideration is recorded as a liability at the date of acquisition at fair value. The fair value of contingent consideration related to the 

development milestone and business milestone metrics is estimated using a scenario-based approach, which is a special case of the income approach that uses several 

possible future

11

scenarios. Under this approach, the value of the milestone payment is calculated as the probability-weighted payment across all scenarios. Significant increases or decreases in 

any of the probabilities of success or changes in expected timelines for achievement of any of the milestones could result in a significantly higher or lower fair value of the 

contingent consideration liability. The development milestone related to product technical milestones was achieved and settled in 2022. The business related contingent 

consideration, which is based on stated sales or usage metrics, was determined to be highly probable as met in the first quarter of December 31, 2023 2024 and determined to 

be met as settled in the second quarter of March 31, 2024. 2024.

Leases

The Company accounts for leases in accordance with ASC Topic 842, Leases (“ASC 842”). In accordance with ASC 842, the Company determines whether an 

arrangement is or contains a lease at inception. A contract is or contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 

exchange for consideration. The Company classifies leases at the lease commencement date, when control of the underlying asset is transferred from the lessor to the lessee, 

as operating or finance leases and records a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and a lease liability on the consolidated balance sheet for all leases with an initial lease term of greater 

than 12 months. The Company has elected to not recognize leases with a lease term of 12 months or less on the balance sheet and will recognize lease payments for such 

short-term leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Company enters into contracts that contain both lease and non-lease components. Non-lease components may include maintenance, utilities, and other operating 

costs. For leases of real estate, the Company combines the lease and associated non-lease components in its lease arrangements as a single lease component. Variable costs, 

such as utilities or maintenance costs, are not included in the measurement of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but rather are expensed when the event determining the 

amount of variable consideration to be paid occurs.

Finance and operating lease assets and liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value of the lease payments over the lease 

term using the discount rate implicit in the lease if readily determinable. If the rate implicit is not
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readily determinable, the Company utilizes its incremental borrowing rate based upon the available information at the lease commencement date. ROU assets are further 

adjusted for initial direct costs, prepaid rent, or incentives received. Operating lease payments are expensed using the straight-line method as an operating expense over the 

lease term. The Company’s lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option. Finance 

lease assets are amortized to depreciation expense using the straight-line method over the shorter of the useful life of the related asset or the lease term. Finance lease 

payments are bifurcated into (i) a portion that is recorded as interest expense and (ii) a portion that reduces the finance liability associated with the lease. The Company did not 

have any finance leases during the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023.

Business Combinations

The Company allocates the purchase price of acquired companies to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair 

values. The Company generally values the identifiable intangible assets acquired using a discounted cash flow model. The significant estimates used in valuing certain of the 

intangible assets, include, but are not limited to future expected cash flows of the asset, discount rates to determine the present value of the future cash flows and expected 

technology life cycles. Intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful life; the period over which the Company anticipates generating economic benefit from the 

asset. Fair value adjustments subsequent to the acquisition date, that are not measurement period adjustments, are recognized in earnings.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of identifiable intangible assets acquired, specifically, developed technology, customer relationships, and trade names. The Company 

evaluates definite-lived intangible assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable 

through future operations. If indicators of impairment are present, the Company then compares the estimated undiscounted cash flows that the specific asset is expected to 

generate to its carrying value. If such assets are impaired, the impairment recognized is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair 

value.

Capitalized Software

The Company capitalizes qualifying internal-use software development costs, primarily related to its cloud platform. The costs consist of personnel costs that are 

incurred during the application development stage. Capitalization of costs begins when two criteria

12

are met: (1) the preliminary project stage is completed, and (2) it is probable that the software will be completed and used for its intended function. Capitalization ceases when 

the software is substantially complete and ready for its intended use, including the completion of all significant testing. Costs related to preliminary project activities and post-

implementation operating activities are expensed as incurred. The capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset, which is 

typically 3 years.

Foreign Currency Translation

The assets and liabilities of our subsidiary, Digital Metal AB (“Digital Metal”), are translated from its functional currency (Swedish Krona) to U.S. dollars at the exchange 

rate in effect at the end of the quarter, and the consolidated statements of operations are translated at the average exchange rate each month.

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the approximate rate of exchange at the transaction date. All such differences are recorded in Other expense, net in 

the consolidated statements of operations. Assets and liabilities resulting from these transactions are translated at the rate of exchange in effect at the balance sheet date. 

Differences are recorded in other comprehensive income (loss).

Comprehensive Income (Loss)
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The Company follows the requirements of ASC 220, Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income, for the reporting and presentation of comprehensive 

income (loss) and its components. The guidance requires unrealized gains or losses on the Company's foreign currency translation adjustments to be included in other 

comprehensive income (loss). Realized gains and losses and declines in the value of investment securities attributable to actual or expected losses are included in other income 

(expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

13

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740) Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which prescribes standard categories for the 

components of the effective tax rate reconciliation and requires disclosure of additional information for reconciling items meeting certain quantitative thresholds, requires 

disclosure of disaggregated income taxes paid, and modifies certain other income tax-related disclosures. ASU 2023-09 is effective for annual periods beginning after 

December 15, 2024 and allows for adoption on a prospective basis, with a retrospective option. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of the adoption of ASU 

2023-09 on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280) Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which requires disclosure of 

incremental segment information on an interim and annual basis. ASU 2023-07 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within 

annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, and requires retrospective adoption to all prior periods presented in the consolidated financial statements. The Company is 

currently evaluating the potential impact of the adoption of ASU 2023-07 on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

Note 3. Acquisitions

Teton Simulation Software (“Teton”)

On April 4, 2022, the Company acquired Teton Simulation Software (“Teton”) through a statutory merger in exchange for total consideration of $6.6 million, payable in a 

combination of cash and equity shares. Teton is a software company whose SmartSlice™ technology automates validation and optimizes part performance for additive 

manufacturing application. The Company integrated Teton's technology with its printing software solution, Eiger™, as a subscription add-on that offers manufacturing customers 

a streamlined workflow spanning part design, testing, optimization, validation and printing at the point of need, all on a single, cloud-based platform.

A portion of the acquisition consideration is contingent on achievement by Teton of certain business and development milestones, with a fair value of $1.6 million as of 

the date of acquisition. The Company will pay up to $1.5 million of business related contingent consideration based on stated sales or usage metrics, which had a fair value of 

$0.6 million as of the date of acquisition. The fair value of this milestone was determined to be $1.5 million as of December 31, 2023 and the milestone was determined to have 

been met as of March 31, 2024. The milestone was settled during the second quarter of 2024 by $0.75 million of cash and 1,086,136 shares. The development earnout related 

to product technical milestones, which had a fair value of $1.0 million as of the date of acquisition. This milestone was met and $0.75 million of cash and 312,489 shares were 

disbursed in 2022. Of

13

the acquisition date cash and equity consideration indicated below, $0.25 million of the cash consideration and $0.25 million of the equity consideration was “held-back” and 

settled in the second quarter of 2023.

Digital Metal AB (“Digital Metal”)

On August 31, 2022 (the “Closing Date”), pursuant to a Sale and Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) by and between Markforged and Höganäs 

Aktiebolag, a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Sweden (the “Seller”), the Company completed its acquisition of all of the outstanding share capital of 

Digital Metal AB, a limited liability company incorporated under the laws of Sweden (“Digital Metal”). At the closing, the Company issued 4,100,000 shares of common stock of 

the Company, and paid approximately $33.5 million in cash. The cash payment was comprised of $32.0 million related to the purchase price and $1.5 million to settle certain 

intercompany balances between the Seller and Digital Metal. The acquisition of Digital Metal, the creator of a precise and reliable binder jetting solution, extends Markforged's 

capabilities into high-throughput production of metal additive parts.
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Note 4. Revenue

Contract Balances

For the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, the Company recognized $2.6 3.0 million and 6.5 million from the deferred revenue account 

balances as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. , respectively. For the three and six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023, the Company recognized $2.3 2.5 

million and $4.3 million from the deferred revenue account balance as of March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022. respectively.

Deferred revenue is expected to be recognized when the Company provides hardware maintenance services or contractual performance obligations for which the 

customer has already provided payment with $8.2 5.8 million expected to be recognized in the remainder of 2024, $4.4 5.3 million expected to be recognized in 2025, $1.9 2.3 

million expected to be recognized in 2026, and $0.6 0.8 million thereafter.

14

Disaggregation of Revenue

The following table disaggregates the Company’s revenue based on the nature of the products and services:

 
   Three Months Ended March 31,     Three Months Ended June 30,     Six Months Ended June 30,  

(in thousands)   2024     2023     2024     2023     2024     2023  

Hardware   $ 11,274     $ 15,195     $ 12,650     $ 16,506     $ 23,924     $ 31,701  

Consumables     6,404       6,455       5,914       6,482       12,318       12,937  

Services     2,869       2,440       3,124       2,461       5,993       4,901  

Total Revenue   $ 20,547     $ 24,090     $ 21,688     $ 25,449     $ 42,235     $ 49,539  

 

Note 5. Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment consist of the following:

 

(in thousands)  

March 31,


2024    

December 31,


2023    

June 30,


2024    

December 31,


2023  

Machinery and equipment   $ 12,084     $ 11,249     $ 11,908     $ 11,249  

Leasehold improvements     12,478       12,613       12,535       12,613  

Computer equipment     3,490       3,481       3,512       3,481  

Furniture and fixtures     447       438       447       438  

Computer software     260       242       260       242  

Construction in process     355       523       286       523  

Property and equipment, gross     29,114       28,546       28,948       28,546  

Less: Accumulated depreciation     (11,221 )     (10,833 )     (12,003 )     (10,833 )

Property and equipment, net   $ 17,893     $ 17,713     $ 16,945     $ 17,713  

 
Depreciation For the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, depreciation expense for property and equipment was $1.0 1.1 million and $0.8 2.1 million, respectively, 

compared to $1.2 million and $2.0 million, respectively, for the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

14
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June 30, 2023.

Note 6. Inventory

Inventory consists of the following:

 

(in thousands)  

March 31,


2024    

December 31,


2023    

June 30,


2024    

December 31,


2023  

Raw material   $ 3,571     $ 4,324     $ 3,416     $ 4,324  

Work in process     536       555       543       555  

Finished goods     19,685       21,894       18,598       21,894  

Total inventory   $ 23,792     $ 26,773     $ 22,557     $ 26,773  

 
The Company maintained reserves for obsolete and excess inventory of $2.1 2.5 million and $1.8 million as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, 

respectively. As of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, obsolete and excess inventory related to finished goods is was $1.5 1.9 million and $0.6 million is was related to raw materials. 

As of December 31, 2023, the obsolete and excess inventory reserve related to finished

15

goods is was $1.3 million and $0.5 million is was related to raw materials. The reserve for obsolete and excess inventories is was recorded within cost of revenue in the 

condensed consolidated statements of operations.

Note 7. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The following tables summarizes the Company’s intangible assets, all of which are related to the acquisitions of Teton Simulation Software in April 2022 and Digital 

Metal AB in August 2022 (in thousands):

The Company recorded a full goodwill impairment charge of $29.5 million in the condensed consolidated statements of operations during the three months ended 

September 30, 2023. This impairment was driven by the decline in the Company’s actual and forecasted operating results, as well as a decline in market capitalization. 

 

   March 31, 2024     December 31, 2023     June 30, 2024     December 31, 2023  

   Estimated 

Useful 

Life

  Gross 

Carrying 

Value    

Accumulated 

Amortization    

Net Book 

Value  

  Gross 

Carrying 

Value    

Accumulated 

Amortization    

Net Book 

Value  

  Estimated 

Useful 

Life

  Gross 

Carrying 

Value    

Accumulated 

Amortization    

Net Book 

Value  

  Gross 

Carrying 

Value    

Accumulated 

Amortization    

Net Book 

Value  

Acquired 

technology

  7 - 

20 years

 

$ 16,800     $ (1,324 )

 

$ 15,476  

 

$ 16,800     $ (970 )

 

$ 15,830  

  7 - 

20 years

 

$ 16,800     $ (1,674 )

 

$ 15,126  

 

$ 16,800     $ (970 )

 

$ 15,830  

Customer 

relationships

  9 years  

  560       (99 )

 

  461  

 

  560       (83 )

 

  477  

  9 years  

  560       (114 )

 

  446  

 

  560       (83 )

 

  477  

Trade 

names

  1 year  

  90       (90 )

 

  —  

 

  90       (90 )

 

  —  

  1 year  

  90       (90 )

 

  —  

 

  90       (90 )

 

  —  

Foreign 

currency 

translation

     

  (14 )     1  

 

  (13 )

 

  848       (27 )

 

  821  

     

  29       (5 )

 

  24  

 

  848       (27 )

 

  821  

Intangible 

Assets, net   $ 17,436     $ (1,512 )   $ 15,924     $ 18,298     $ (1,170 )   $ 17,128     $ 17,479     $ (1,883 )   $ 15,596     $ 18,298     $ (1,170 )   $ 17,128  

 

The Company recognized the following amortization expense to cost of revenue and operating expense during the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 

2024 and 2023:
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   Three Months Ended March 31,     Three Months Ended June 30,     Six Months Ended June 30,  

   2024     2023     2024     2023     2024     2023  

Cost of revenue   $ 357     $ 228     $ 351     $ 218     $ 708     $ 446  

Operating expenses     21       49       20       36       41       85  

Total   $ 378     $ 277     $ 371     $ 254     $ 749     $ 531  

Revenue is the basis for the economic pattern used to determine the amortization schedule of developed technology and customer relationships. Trade name intangible 

amortization is based on the term in which we anticipate continued use of the asset. The estimated future amortization expense for amortizable assets to be recognized is was 

as follows as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 (in thousands): 

 

15

2024   $ 1,103  

2024 (remaining six months)   $ 736  

2025     1,989       1,993  

2026     2,184       2,189  

2027     1,938       1,943  

2028     1,571       1,575  

Thereafter     7,139       7,160  

Total   $ 15,924     $ 15,596  

 

 

16

Note 8. Accrued Expenses

The following table summarizes the Company’s components of accrued expenses:

 

(in thousands)  

March 31,


2024    

December 31,


2023    

June 30,


2024    

December 31,


2023  

Warranty reserve     999     $ 886       807     $ 886  

Compensation, benefits, and expenses     5,402       4,213       3,015       4,213  

Professional services     4,239       2,540       5,414       2,540  

Marketing and advertising     64       325       70       325  

Accrued taxes     279       252       246       252  

Accrued freight and duties     694       594       684       594  

Purchase commitment     314       700       466       700  

Other     460       330       574       330  

Total accrued expense   $ 12,451     $ 9,840     $ 11,276     $ 9,840  

 

Note 9. Common Stock and Stockholders’ Equity
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Common Stock Reserved for Future Issuance

The Company has reserved the following shares of common stock for future issuance:

 

  

March 31,


2024    

December 31,


2023    

June 30,


2024    

December 31,


2023  

Common stock options outstanding and unvested RSU     24,474,480       26,199,449  

Shares available for issuance under the 2021 plan     37,858,686       27,028,491  

Common stock options outstanding and unvested RSUs     24,195,692       26,199,449  

Shares available for issuance under the 2021 Plan     36,078,548       27,028,491  

Common stock warrants outstanding     8,525,000       8,525,000       8,525,000       8,525,000  

Shares available for issuance as Earnout RSU     1,400,000       1,400,000  

Shares available for issuance as Earnout RSUs     1,400,000       1,400,000  

Employee stock purchase plan     10,491,352       8,505,539       10,491,352       8,505,539  

Total shares of authorized common stock reserved


   for future issuance     82,749,518       71,658,479       80,690,592       71,658,479  

 

Note 10. Equity Based Awards

On July 13, 2021, the Company’s stockholders approved the Markforged Holding Corporation 2021 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (“2021 Plan”) and the Markforged 

Holding Corporation 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“2021 ESPP”). As of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, 37,858,686 36,078,548 and 10,491,352 shares of common 

stock were available for issuance under the 2021 Plan and 2021 ESPP, respectively.

Under the 2021 Plan, the Company can grant stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), unrestricted stock awards, 

cash-based awards, and dividend equivalent rights. The 2021 Plan provides that an additional number of shares of common stock will automatically be added to the shares of 

common stock authorized for issuance under the 2021 Plan on January 1 of each year. The number of shares of common stock added each year will be equal to (i) 5% of the 

number of shares of common stock issued and outstanding on the immediately preceding December 31 or (ii) such lesser amount as determined by the Company’s Board of 

Directors.

16

The 2021 ESPP allows eligible employees to authorize payroll deductions between 1% and 15% of the base salary or wages, up to $25,000 annually, to be applied 

toward the purchase of shares of the Company’s common stock occurring at offering periods determined by the Company. At each offering period, the eligible employee will 

have the option to acquire common stock at a discount of up to 15% of the lesser of the Company’s common stock on (i) the first trading day of the offering period or (ii) the last 

day of the offering period. The offering periods under the 2021 ESPP are not to exceed 27 months between periods. On January 1 of each subsequent year under the plan, the 

number of shares available for issuance under the plan will be increased by the lesser of (i) 4,700,000 shares of common stock, (ii) one percent of the number of shares of 

common stock issued and outstanding as of December 31 of the immediately preceding year, or (iii) number of shares of common stock determined by the Company. During the 

three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023 the Company did not recognize stock compensation expense related to the 2021 ESPP as there were no 

grants under the 2021 ESPP.

17

Legacy Markforged's 2013 Stock Plan (the “2013 Plan”) was terminated at the Closing and no further awards will be granted thereunder. The 2013 Plan was terminated 

at Closing and all outstanding awards became outstanding under the 2021 Plan. Option activity under the plan for the year to date period ending March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 

is as follows: 
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Number of


Shares    

Weighted-


Average


Exercise


Price


(Per


Share)    

Weighted-


Average


Remaining


Contractual


Life


(in years)    

Number of


Shares    

Weighted-


Average


Exercise


Price


(Per


Share)    

Weighted-


Average


Remaining


Contractual


Life


(in years)  

Outstanding at December 31, 2023     10,888,451     $ 2.07       6.13       10,888,451     $ 2.07       6.13  

Granted     —       —             —       —        

Exercised     —       —             —       —        

Forfeited     (131,876 )     1.81             (208,491 )     1.94        

Outstanding at March 31, 2024     10,756,575     $ 2.07     5.89  

Options exercisable at March 31, 2024     10,117,051     $ 2.07       5.84  

Outstanding at June 30, 2024     10,679,960     $ 2.07     5.63  

Options exercisable at June 30, 2024     10,308,889     $ 2.07       5.61  

 
The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options outstanding at March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 was $23.9 6.0 thousand. As of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, the Company 

had 10,582,029 10,509,311 options vested and expected to vest.

Additional information regarding the exercise of stock options is as follows:

 
   Three Months Ended March 31,   Six months ended June 30,  

(in thousands, except weighted average)   2024     2023   2024     2023  

Intrinsic value of options exercised     —     493   $ —     $ 493  

 
In the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company did not grant any options to purchase shares of Common Stock.

 

Restricted Stock Units

During the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, the Company awarded RSUs to newly hired employees and continuing employees. The fair value per 

share of these awards was determined based on the fair market value of our stock on the date of the grant and is being recognized as stock-based compensation expense over 

the requisite service period. The following table summarizes the RSU activity for the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024:

 

  

Number of


Shares    

Weighted-


Average


Grant Date Fair Value


(Per


Share)    

Number of


Shares    

Weighted-


Average


Grant Date Fair Value


(Per


Share)  

Outstanding at December 31, 2023     15,310,998     $ 2.12       15,310,998     $ 2.12  

Granted     99,800       0.66       2,496,011       0.46  

Vested     (989,304 )     2.72       (3,250,310 )     2.22  

Forfeited     (703,589 )     1.92       (1,040,967 )     2.33  

Unvested at March 31, 2024     13,717,905     $ 2.08  

Unvested at June 30, 2024     13,515,732     $ 1.78  
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Stock-Based Compensation Expense
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Total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense for the RSUs outstanding was $23.2 19.9 million at March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, which is expected to be 

recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.3 years. Total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense for the options outstanding was $0.7 0.4 million at March 31, 

2024 June 30, 2024, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 0.6 0.3 years.

 

   Three Months Ended March 31,     Three Months Ended June 30,     Six Months Ended June 30,  

(in thousands)   2024     2023     2024     2023     2024     2023  

Stock options   $ 299     $ 738     $ 296     $ 716     $ 595     $ 1,454  

Restricted stock units     3,199       3,406       2,951       1,222       6,150       4,629  

Stock-based compensation expense for restricted stock units and options   $ 3,498     $ 4,144     $ 3,247     $ 1,938     $ 6,745     $ 6,083  

18

During the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, the Company recognized de minimis stock-based compensation expense related to the 

Markforged Earnout. The Company recognized income in the current year due to the netting of the reversal of the impact of grading vesting for key employee departures against 

the current period expense. The unrecognized compensation expense related to the Markforged Earnout is was $0.7 0.4 million and will would be recognized over a remaining 

period of no more than 1.25 1.0 years, year, dependent on when vesting conditions are met.

The stock-based compensation expense for stock-based awards and earnout shares were recognized in the following captions within the condensed consolidated 

statements of operations for the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023:

 
   Three Months Ended March 31,     Three Months Ended June 30,     Six Months Ended June 30,  

(in thousands)   2024     2023     2024     2023     2024     2023  

Cost of revenue   $ 49     $ 73     $ 35     $ 89     $ 84     $ 162  

Sales and marketing     405       475       387       499       792       975  

Research and development     1,100       1,147       1,009       1,160       2,110       2,329  

General and administrative     1,907       2,661       1,814       (58 )     3,720       2,580  

Total stock-based compensation expense   $ 3,461     $ 4,356     $ 3,245     $ 1,690     $ 6,706     $ 6,046  

 

Note 11. Earnout

During the five year period after the Closing (“Earnout Period”), Eligible Markforged Equityholders are entitled to receive up to 14,666,667 Markforged Earnout Shares 

upon the occurrence of certain triggering events (the “Earnout”). During the Earnout Period, the Sponsor’s 2,610,000 surrendered shares of common stock will be released from 

lock-up upon certain triggering events.

On the date when the volume-weighted average trading sale price (“VWAP”) of one share of the Common Stock quoted on the NYSE is greater than or equal to $12.50 

for any twenty trading days within any thirty consecutive trading day period within the Earnout Period (“Triggering Event I”), the Eligible Markforged Equityholders will receive 

8,000,000 Markforged Earnout Shares distributed on a pro-rata basis and 50% of the Sponsor’s surrendered shares will be released from lock-up to the Sponsor.

On the date when the VWAP of one share of the Company’s common stock quoted on the NYSE is greater than or equal to $15.00 for any twenty trading days within 

any thirty consecutive trading day period within the Earnout Period (“Triggering Event II” and together with Triggering Event I, each a "Triggering Event"), the Eligible Markforged 

Equityholders will receive the remaining 6,666,667 Markforged Earnout Shares distributed on a pro-rata basis and the remaining 50% of the Sponsor’s surrendered shares will 

be released from lock-up to the Sponsor.

As discussed in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, there are two units of account within the Markforged Earnout Shares depending on whether the 

Eligible Markforged Equityholder is entitled to receive Markforged Earnout Shares with respect to a Legacy Markforged equity award, whether vested or unvested, or with 

respect to Legacy Markforged common stock. Earnout Shares issuable with respect to an unvested Legacy Markforged equity award as Earnout RSUs are subject to forfeiture if 

the holder does not complete the required service period. From the Closing through the date of a forfeiture of an unvested Legacy Markforged equity award, forfeited Earnout 

Shares are distributed to the remaining Eligible Markforged Equityholders on a pro-rata basis. The forfeited Earnout Shares are fungible between the two units of account. The 

following table summarizes the number of Earnout Shares allocated to each unit of account as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024:

 

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

28/93
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   Triggering Event I Earnout Shares     Triggering Event II Earnout Shares     Triggering Event I Earnout Shares     Triggering Event II Earnout Shares  

Derivative liability     7,325,304       6,104,419       7,326,381       6,105,318  

Stock compensation     674,696       562,248       673,619       561,349  

Total Earnout Shares     8,000,000       6,666,667       8,000,000       6,666,667  

 
As of the Closing, the estimated value of the Markforged Earnout Shares and surrendered Sponsor shares was $8.04 per share issuable upon Triggering Event I and 

$7.66 per share issuable upon Triggering Event II. The estimated value of the Markforged Earnout Shares and surrendered Sponsor shares as of March 31, 2024 is June 30, 

2024 was $0.11 0.02 per share issuable upon Triggering Event I and $0.08 0.01 per share issuable upon Triggering Event II. The valuation of the Markforged Earnout Shares 

and surrendered Sponsor shares is was

19

based on a Monte Carlo simulation valuation model using a distribution of potential outcomes on a monthly basis over the Earnout period using the most reliable information 

available. The following table describes the assumptions used in the valuation:

 
   March 31,     December 31,     June 30,     December 31,     June 30,  

   2024     2023     2024     2023     2023  

Current stock price   $ 0.84     $ 0.82     $ 0.41     $ 0.82     $ 1.21  

Expected volatility     90.00 %     85.00 %     95.00 %     85.00 %     70.00 %

Risk-free interest rate     4.49 %     4.07 %     4.65 %     4.07 %     4.43 %

Dividend rate     — %     — %     — %     — %     — %

Expected term (years)     2.29       2.54       2.04       2.54       3.04  

 
Neither of the Earnout Triggering Events have occurred as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and therefore no earnout shares were distributed.

Note 12. Stock Warrants

Private Placement Warrants and Public Warrants

The Private Placement Warrants were initially recognized as a liability on July 14, 2021 at a fair value of $5.7 million. The Private Placement Warrants were remeasured 

to a fair value of $0.2 0.1 million as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024. The Company recorded a de minimis gain and gains of $0.2 0.1 million gain for the three months ended 

March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The Company recorded gains of $0.1 million and $0.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, 

respectively. The changes in fair value are were included in change in fair value of derivative liabilities on the unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations.

The Company benchmarks the change in fair value of the Private Placement Warrants against the market price of the publicly traded warrants at each quarter end, the 

closing price of which was $0.05 0.02/warrant as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and $0.15 0.10/warrant as of March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023.

The Public Warrants were recognized in stockholder’s equity at a fair value of $9.7 million on July 14, 2021.

Note 13. Income Taxes

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the Company’s unaudited 

condensed consolidated financial statements and tax returns. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon the differences between the consolidated financial 

statements carrying amounts and the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities and for loss and credit carryforwards, using enacted tax rates expected to be in effect in the 

years in which the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that these assets may not be 
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realized. The Company recognized a tax benefit of $0.2 million and $0.4 million during the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, respectively, and a de 

minimis tax expense in benefit of $0.4 million during the three and six months ended March 31, 2023. June 30, 2023, respectively.

The Company provides reserves for potential payments of taxes to various tax authorities related to uncertain tax positions. Amounts recognized are based on a 

determination of whether a tax benefit taken by the Company in its tax filings or positions is “more likely than not” to be sustained on audit. The amount recognized is equal to 

the largest amount that is more than 50% likely to be sustained. Interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions are recorded as a component of income tax 

expense. As of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company’s uncertain tax positions are not material and would not impact the effective tax rate if 

recognized as a result of the valuation allowance maintained against the Company’s net deferred tax assets.

The Company has evaluated the positive and negative evidence bearing upon the realizability of its deferred tax assets, which are primarily comprised of net operating 

loss carryforwards and capitalized research and development costs at December 31, 2023.

19

Since its inception, the Company has not recorded any income tax benefits for the net losses incurred or for the research and development tax credits earned in each year and 

interim period, as the Company believes, based upon the weight of available evidence, that it is more likely than not that all of its net operating loss carryforwards and tax credit 

carryforwards will not be realized. Management has determined that it is more likely than not that the Company will not recognize the benefits of federal and state deferred tax 

assets and, as a result, a full valuation allowance has been established at December 31, 2023. There is no material adjustment to the valuation allowance at March 31, 

2024 June 30, 2024.

20

On August 16, 2022, the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 ("IRA") was signed into law, with tax provisions primarily focused on implementing a 15% minimum tax on 

global adjusted financial statement income and a 1% excise tax on share repurchases. The IRA became effective on January 1, 2023. We do The IRA has not expect the IRA 

will have a material impact on materially impacted our income tax expense. expense (benefit) since becoming effective.

On October 2021, more than 135 countries and jurisdictions agreed to participate in a "two-pillar" international tax approach developed by the Organisation for 

Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), which includes establishing a global minimum corporate tax rate of 15%. As of June 30, 2024, the Company does not expect 

Pillar Two taxes to have a significant impact on its 2024 financial statements.

Note 14. Leases

Rent expense under the Company’s operating lease agreements was $1.7 million and $1.6 2.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 

2023. Rent expense under the Company’s operating lease agreements was $3.4 million and $4.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023. There were not any 

financing, variable, or short term leases during the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023. The Company exited certain leased facilities during fiscal 

year 2023 and is in the process of seeking subleases for those properties. Future minimum lease payments under these agreements are were as follows as of March 31, 

2024 June 30, 2024: 

 
(in thousands)   Amount     Amount  

 2024   $ 5,019  

 2024 (remaining six months)   $ 3,173  

 2025     7,649       7,649  

 2026     7,777       7,777  

 2027     7,958       7,958  

 2028     7,385       7,385  

After 2029     16,441       16,441  
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Total future lease payments   $ 52,229     $ 50,383  

  Less: interest     (10,266 )     (9,602 )

 Present value of lease liabilities   $ 41,963     $ 40,781  

 

  

Three Months 

Ended


March 31, 2024  

Three Months 

Ended


March 31, 2023    

Six Months Ended June 30, 

2024  

Six Months Ended June 30, 

2023  

 Supplemental cash flow information:                    

 Cash payments for operating leases included in cash flows used in operating 

activities     1,854   1,218     $ 3,696   $ 3,742  

 

   March 31, 2024   March 31, 2023     June 30, 2024   June 30, 2023  

 Other lease information                    

 Weighted-average remaining lease term - Operating leases   6.8 years   7.7 years     6.6 years   7.5 years  

 Weighted-average discount rate - Operating leases     6.4 %   6.4 %     6.5 %   6.4 %

 

Note 15. Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, the Company may face legal has been and is involved in claims or actions in that arise during the normal ordinary course of business. At each 

reporting date, the Company evaluates whether a potential loss amount or a potential range of loss is probable and reasonably estimable under the provisions of the 

authoritative guidance that address accounting for contingencies. The Company expenses the costs related to its legal proceedings as incurred. Although the results of litigation 

and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not currently believe that the outcome of any of these legal matters will have a material adverse effect on our results of 

operation or financial condition, other than as discussed below regarding the matter involving Continuous Composites Inc. (“Continuous Composites”), which we previously 

disclosed. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can be costly and time consuming, as it can divert management’s attention from important business matters and initiatives, 

negatively impacting our overall operations.

In July 2021, Continuous Composites, Inc. (“Continuous Composites”), a company based out of in Idaho, brought a claim in the United States District Court for the 

District of Delaware against the Company regarding patent infringement. On April 11, 2024, the jury returned a verdict against the Company in the amount of $17.3 million. The 

jury found one of the two patent claims Continuous Composites asserted at trial against the Company to be invalid and not infringed. However, the jury found that the Company 

had infringed the other patent claim and awarded monetary damages. The Company disagrees with this verdict and intends to seek has sought to overturn the verdict in post-

trial motions with the District Court. The Company is exploring all available options, including seeking to overturn the verdict and any resulting judgment through the appeals 

process.

20 21

 

As of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, monetary damages resulting from the Continuous Composites verdict is are accrued within the litigation judgment caption on the 

condensed consolidated statement of operations, and litigation judgment payable caption on the condensed consolidated balance sheet. While sheet together with estimated 

and accrued interest of $0.2 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024. As of June 30, 2024, the Company cannot predict what additional action Continuous 

Composites may take, has restricted cash in the amount of $19.1 million as a result of funding a surety bond in connection with the verdict, which amount reflects the original 

judgment of $17.3 million in monetary damages plus $1.8 million of interest to cover the prejudgment period and duration of the appeal process. Continuous Composites has 

stated it may seek future also asserted through post-trial motions claims for additional royalty payments for sales of certain products manufactured and/or sold in the United 

States after December 31, 2023. Any further legal actions could materially impact In accordance with ASC Topic 450, the Company’s business, financial condition, results of 

operations and cash flows. At this time, we cannot estimate a Company estimated the loss contingency related to the royalty payment claims to be in the range of loss $0 to $2.7 

million for the six months ended June 30, 2024, and the Company believed that no amount within this range was a better estimate than any additional costs other amount. In 

accordance with ASC Topic 450, the Company recorded no accrual during the reporting period because the low end of the range is estimated to be $0. Because of the 

uncertainties related to Continuous Composite royalties that exceed the current estimated liability. outcome of post-trial claims and proceedings, accruals are based on our best 

estimates based on information available at the time of the assessment. On a periodic basis, as additional information becomes available, or based on specific events such as 
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the outcome of post-trial claims and proceedings, or the settlement of claims (and offers of settlement), we may reassess the potential liability related to this matter and may 

revise these estimates, which could result in a material adverse adjustment to our operating results.

Note 16. Net (Loss) Profit Per Share

The Company computes basic net (loss) profit per share using net (loss) profit attributable to the Company’s common stockholders and the weighted-average number of 

common shares outstanding during each period. Diluted earnings per share include shares issuable upon exercise of outstanding stock options and stock-based awards where 

the conversion of such instruments would be dilutive. 

 
   Three Months Ended March 31,     Three Months Ended June 30,     Six Months Ended June 30,  

(in thousands, except per share amounts)   2024     2023     2024     2023     2024     2023  

Numerator:                                  

Net loss   $ (35,946 )   $ (19,019 )   $ (14,398 )   $ (18,988 )   $ (50,344 )   $ (38,007 )

Net loss attributable to common stockholders - Basic & Diluted     (35,946 )     (19,019 )     (14,398 )     (18,988 )     (50,344 )     (38,007 )

Denominator:                                    

Weighted average shares outstanding - Basic     199,290,500       195,369,245       201,252,969       196,372,157       200,273,880       195,873,471  

Add: Weighted average unvested options outstanding     —       —       —       —       —       —  

Add: Dilutive effect of restricted units issued     —       —       —       —       —       —  

Weighted average shares outstanding - Diluted     199,290,500       195,369,245       201,252,969       196,372,157       200,273,880       195,873,471  

Net loss per common share:                                    

Basic   $ (0.18 )   $ (0.10 )   $ (0.07 )   $ (0.10 )   $ (0.25 )   $ (0.19 )

Diluted     (0.18 )     (0.10 )     (0.07 )     (0.10 )     (0.25 )     (0.19 )

 
For the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company was in a net loss position, thus the effect of potentially dilutive securities, 

including non-vested stock options and warrants, was excluded from the denominator for the calculation of diluted net loss per share because the inclusion of such securities 

would be antidilutive. The following dilutive securities are excluded from the denominator: 

 

  

Three Months Ended


March 31,    

Three Months Ended


June 30,    

Six Months Ended


June 30,  

   2024     2023     2024     2023     2024     2023  

Unvested RSUs     13,717,905       10,393,221       13,515,732       10,222,990       13,616,819       10,308,106  

Unvested or unexercised option awards     10,756,575       11,246,810       10,679,960       11,180,550       10,718,268       11,213,680  

Warrants     8,524,984       8,524,984       8,524,984       8,524,984       8,524,984       8,524,984  

Contingently issuable earnout shares     14,666,667       14,666,667       14,666,667       14,666,667       14,666,667       14,666,667  

Total     47,666,131       44,831,682       47,387,343       44,595,191       47,526,738       44,713,437  

 

Note 17. Segment Information

In the operation of the business, the Chief Executive Officer, who is the Company’s chief operating decision maker, reviews the business as one segment. The 

Company currently sells its product in the Americas, Europe, Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”), and

22

Asia Pacific (“APAC”) markets. The Company measures revenue based on the physical location of where the customer who is receiving the promised goods or service is 

located. Disaggregated revenue data for those markets is as follows: 

 
 

 

Three Months Ended


March 31,  
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(in thousands)   2024     2023  

Americas   $ 10,095     $ 10,458  

EMEA     6,335       8,492  

APAC     4,117       5,140  

Total   $ 20,547     $ 24,090  

21

 

 

Three Months Ended


June 30,    

Six Months Ended


June 30,  

(in thousands)   2024     2023     2024     2023  

Americas   $ 9,688     $ 11,982     $ 19,783     $ 22,440  

EMEA     6,785       7,618       13,120       16,110  

APAC     5,215       5,849       9,332       10,989  

Total   $ 21,688     $ 25,449     $ 42,235     $ 49,539  

 
The Company’s long-lived assets, inclusive of right-of-use assets, are substantially located in the United States, where the Company’s primary operations are located.

22 Note 18. Subsequent Events

Lease Termination and Modification

On July 26, 2024, our wholly-owned subsidiary, MarkForged, Inc., entered into a Lease Termination Agreement (the “Termination Agreement”), with GRE Riverworks, 

LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Landlord”), in connection with the termination of the Office Lease, dated July 29, 2020, by and between MarkForged, Inc., as 

tenant, and the Landlord (the “Lease Agreement”). Pursuant to the Termination Agreement, we paid the Landlord a termination fee of $2.75 million on August 1, 2024. Pursuant 

to the Termination Agreement, the Landlord holds a Letter of Credit in the amount of $0.6 million per the terms and conditions of the Lease Agreement and will initiate the return 

of the Letter of Credit to us by September 30, 2024.

2024 Cost Reduction Initiative

On August 8, 2024, we announced an approximately $25 million cost reduction initiative that is expected to reduce the Company’s operating expenses to a yearly run 

rate of approximately $70 million. We expect that most of these cost reduction initiatives will be completed in the second half of fiscal year 2024.

23

 
Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references in this section to “Markforged,” “Company,” “we,” “us,” “our” and other similar terms refer to 

Markforged Holding Corporation and its subsidiaries after giving effect to the Merger. The following discussion and analysis summarizes the significant factors affecting the 

consolidated operating results, financial condition, liquidity and cash flows of our company as of and for the periods presented below. The following discussion and analysis 

should be read in conjunction with our unaudited consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The 

discussion contains forward-looking statements that are based on the beliefs of management, as well as assumptions made by, and information currently available to, our 

management. Actual results could differ materially from those discussed in or implied by forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those discussed 

below and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, particularly in the sections entitled “Risk Factors” and “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking 

Statements.”

Business Overview
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Our platform, The Digital Forge, is an intuitive additive manufacturing platform powering engineers, designers and manufacturing professionals globally. The Digital 

Forge combines precise and reliable 3D printers and metal and composite proprietary materials seamlessly with its cloud-based learning software offering to empower 

manufacturers to create more resilient and agile supply chains. Founded in 2013 by two MIT-educated engineers, Markforged is based in greater Boston, Massachusetts, where 

we have our own in-house manufacturing facility and where we design all of our industrial 3D printers, software and metal and composite proprietary materials.

Since our inception, we have incurred significant operating losses. Our ability to generate revenue sufficient to achieve profitability will depend on the successful further 

development and commercialization of our products. We generated revenue of $20.5 million $42.2 million and $24.1 million $49.5 million for the three six months ended March 

31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and incurred net losses of $35.9 million $50.3 million and $19.0 million $38.0 million, respectively, for those same periods. Net 

loss for the three six months ended March 31, 2024 is June 30, 2024 was inclusive of a $17.3 million $17.5 million accrual related to the Continuous Composites verdict. case. As 

of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, we had an accumulated deficit of $240.6 million $255.0 million and cash and cash equivalents of $107.9 million $73.4 million. We expect to 

continue to incur operating losses as we focus on growing commercial sales of our products in both the United States and international markets, scaling our manufacturing 

operations, continuing research and development efforts to develop new products and further enhance our existing products.

Merger agreement

On February 23, 2021, one, a Cayman Islands exempted company (“AONE”), entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Caspian 

Merger Sub Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of AONE (“Merger Sub”), and MarkForged, Inc. (“Legacy Markforged”), pursuant to which (i) AONE would deregister as a Cayman 

Islands company and domesticate as a corporation in the State of Delaware and would be renamed “Markforged Holding Corporation” (the “Domestication”) and (ii) Merger Sub 

would merge with and into Legacy Markforged with Legacy Markforged surviving as a wholly owned subsidiary of Markforged Holding Corporation (the “Merger”). AONE's 

shareholders approved the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement on July 13, 2021, and the Domestication and the Merger were completed on July 14, 2021.

Cash proceeds of the Merger were funded through a combination of AONE’s $132.5 million of cash held in trust (after redemptions of $64.2 million) and an aggregate of 

$210.0 million in fully committed common stock transactions at $10.00 per share. Upon closing of the Merger (the “Closing”), Legacy Markforged repurchased shares of 

common stock from certain of its stockholders, for a total value of $45.0 million of cash on hand (the “Employee Transactions”). Total net proceeds upon the Closing, net of the 

Employee Transactions and transaction costs paid at the Closing of $27.1 million, were $288.8 million.

Recent Developments

Impact of Macroeconomic Trends

Recent negative macroeconomic factors, such as inflation, high interest rates, and limited credit availability have and could further cause economic uncertainty and 

volatility, which could harm our business. For more information on operations and risks related to macroeconomic disruptions, please see the section of this Quarterly Report on 

Form 10-Q titled “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Business and Industry”.

Lease Termination and Modification

23 24

 

On July 26, 2024, our wholly-owned subsidiary, MarkForged, Inc., entered into a Lease Termination Agreement (the “Termination Agreement”), with GRE Riverworks, 

LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Landlord”), in connection with the termination of the Office Lease, dated July 29, 2020, by and between MarkForged, Inc., as 

tenant, and the Landlord (the “Lease Agreement”). Pursuant to the Termination Agreement, we paid the Landlord a termination fee of $2.75 million on August 1, 2024. Pursuant 

to the Termination Agreement, the Landlord holds a Letter of Credit in the amount of $0.6 million per the terms and conditions of the Lease Agreement and will initiate the return 

of the Letter of Credit to us by September 30, 2024.

2024 Cost Reduction Initiative

On August 8, 2024, we announced an approximately $25 million cost reduction initiative that is expected to reduce the Company’s operating expenses to a yearly run 

rate of approximately $70 million. We expect that most of these cost reduction initiatives will be completed in the second half of fiscal year 2024.

Key Factors Affecting Operating Results

We believe that our financial performance has been and in the foreseeable future will continue to be primarily driven by the factors discussed below. While each of these 

factors presents significant opportunities for our business, they also pose important challenges that we must successfully address in order to sustain our growth and improve our 

results of operations.
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Hardware sales

Our financial performance has largely been driven by, and in the future will continue to be impacted by, the rate of sales of our hardware. Management focuses on 

hardware sales as an indicator of current business success and a leading indicator of likely future recurring revenue from consumables and subscriptions. We expect our 

hardware sales to continue to grow as we increase penetration in our existing markets and expand into new markets.

Recurring revenue

We regularly assess trends relating to recurring revenue which includes consumables, services, and subscriptions. The consumables revenue stream includes metals, 

continuous fiber, and chopped fiber materials used by customers as print media. Our services revenue is made up of revenue generated from hardware maintenance contracts 

(referred to as success plans), software, and additive manufacturing training and education (which we also refer to as “Subscription Plans,” which we have sold as one package 

since the beginning of the second quarter of 2023). Our service revenue is generally realized over a period of one to three years. Recurring revenue was 45% 42% and 

37% 35% of total revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Our recurring revenue as a percentage of total revenue may vary 

based upon new product placements in the period as well as consumption trends impacted by macroeconomic factors, customer behavior, and the useful life of our hardware. 

As our cumulative historical hardware sales increase, recurring revenue on an absolute basis is expected to increase and over time should be an increasingly important 

contributor to our total revenue.

Go to market

We believe that we are in a strong position within the industry with our accessible solutions that offer users design flexibility and industrial strength parts. Accordingly, we 

continue to invest in marketing, sales, and operations necessary to scale our business and continue to gain market share and open new market opportunities. We have proven 

an ability to design, manufacture, and distribute products through channels that provide a high value to customers at gross margins higher than many of our competitors. In 

addition to our go to market strategy, our integrated platform of hardware, software and consumables has been core to our success and we will continue to drive value through 

research and development as we introduce smarter and more adaptive technology that is expected to improve our integrated platform and, ultimately, the value provided by our 

3D printers. We believe these investments are critical to achieve long-term scalability, but expect the near term impacts will be a muting of our short term profitability.

Seasonality

Historically, the sales of our 3D printers have been subject to seasonality and we have seen higher hardware sales in the third and fourth quarters. We believe this trend 

is likely driven by available funds in federal capital budgets at the end of the third quarter and commercial budgets at year end which they direct towards the evolution of their 

manufacturing processes through investments in additive manufacturing.

25

Components of Results of Operations

Revenue

The majority of our revenue results from the sale of hardware, including our additive manufacturing products, and related consumables. We deliver products and 

services primarily through our value-added reseller ("VAR") network, who purchase and resell our products to end users. Hardware and consumables revenue is recognized 

upon transfer of control to the customer, which is typically the VAR, and generally takes place at the point of shipment. We also generate a portion of our revenue from hardware 

maintenance services and our premium software subscriptions. Revenue related to subscriptions is recognized ratably over the term of the subscription. Our VARs may provide 

installation services, as needed depending on the product.

Cost of revenue

Our cost of revenue consists of the cost of product, software subscriptions, maintenance services, personnel costs, third party logistics, freight, warranty fulfillment 

costs, and overhead.

24
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Cost of products includes the manufacturing cost of our additive manufacturing products and consumables. We primarily utilize third party manufacturers for the 

production of our additive manufacturing hardware, and we utilize our own manufacturing facilities and personnel for the production of our consumables. The costs of revenue 

for internally manufactured products include the cost of raw materials, labor conversion costs, and overhead related to our manufacturing operations, including depreciation and 

amortization. Overhead costs include shipping, storage, and labor. Cost of services includes personnel-related costs associated with our customer success teams’ provision of 

remote and on-site support services to our customers and the costs of replacement parts, as well as software costs. Our cost of revenue also includes indirect costs of providing 

our products and services to customers which consist primarily of reserves for excess and obsolete inventory and stock-based compensation.

We expect our cost of revenue to increase in absolute dollars in future periods as we expect our revenues to continue to grow.

Gross profit and gross margin

Our gross profit is calculated based on the difference between our revenues and cost of revenue. Gross margin is the percentage obtained by dividing gross profit by 

our revenue. Our gross profit and gross margin are, or may be, influenced by a number of factors, including:

• Market conditions and competition that may impact our pricing;

• Product mix changes between our printer product lines and consumables trends;

• The impact of global supply chain disruptions on the cost to both procure materials and ship materials and finished goods;

• Growth in the number of customers utilizing our additive manufacturing products and changes in customer utilization rates, which affects sales of our consumable 
materials and may result in excess or obsolete inventories;

• Our cost structure for manufacturing operations, including the extent to which we utilize contract manufacturers compared to in-house manufacturing, the ability to 
achieve economies of scale in our purchase volumes, and any impacts to changes in our manufacturing on our product warranty obligations; and

• Our ability to directly monetize the capabilities of our software solutions in the future.

We expect our gross margins to fluctuate over time, depending on the factors described above.

Research and development

Our research and development expenses represent costs incurred to support activities that advance the development of innovative additive manufacturing technology, 

new printer products, development of proprietary printing materials, as well as activities that enhance the functionality of our offerings. Our research and development expenses 

consist primarily of employee-related personnel expenses, prototypes, facilities costs, and engineering services. We believe our research and development department is 

staffed at a level that enables us to innovate and develop products beyond 2024.

Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs for our sales and marketing departments, costs related to sales commissions, trade shows, 

advertising, facilities costs, and other demand generation services.

26

General and administrative

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel-related costs for our executive leadership and finance, human resources and IT departments. We 

believe our general and administrative costs have stabilized as we have completed our investments required to operate as a public company.

In July 2021, Continuous Composites filed a patent-infringement case against us in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware. On April 11, 2024, the 

jury returned a verdict against us in the amount of $17.3 million. The jury found one of the two patent claims Continuous Composites asserted at trial against us to be invalid and 

no infringement was found. However, the jury found that we had infringed the other patent claim and awarded monetary damages. While we cannot predict what additional 

action Continuous Composites may take, it is possible that they may seek additional relief through post-trial motions We have estimated and accrued interest of $0.2 million due 

for royalty payments on future revenue, which could materially impact our business the three and operations. six months ended June 30, 2024 in connection with this matter. We 

disagree with this verdict and intend to seek have sought to overturn the verdict in post-trial motions with the District Court. We are exploring all available options, including 

seeking to overturn the verdict and any resulting judgment through the appeals process.

25 Continuous Composites has also asserted through post-trial motions claims for additional royalty payments for sales of certain products manufactured and/or sold in 

the United States after December 31, 2023. In accordance with ASC Topic 450, the Company estimated the loss contingency related to the royalty payment claims to be in the 
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range of $0 to $2.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024, and the Company believed that no amount within this range was a better estimate than any other amount. In 

accordance with ASC Topic 450, the Company recorded no accrual during the reporting period because the low end of the range is estimated to be $0. Because of the 

uncertainties related to the outcome of post-trial claims and proceedings, accruals are based on our best estimates based on information available at the time of the 

assessment. On a periodic basis, as additional information becomes available, or based on specific events such as the outcome of post-trial claims and proceedings, or the 

settlement of claims (and offers of settlement), we may reassess the potential liability related to this matter and may revise these estimates, which could result in a material 

adverse adjustment to our operating results.

In the event that Continuous Composite’s post-trial royalty payment claims are successful and the District Court awards royalties for sales after December 31, 2023, we 

expect the remedy to be a fixed-fee assessment of royalty payments for each machine sold or manufactured in the United States that includes our carbon fiber reinforcement 

technology. In the near term, we expect royalty payments, if awarded, to result in a 5 to 7 percentage point reduction in our gross margin. These estimates are based on 

information available to the Company at the time of assessment, including revenue and sales projections, and are subject to adjustment as additional information becomes 

available or specific events occur. In addition, to offset the costs associated with the payment of royalties, if any, we may have to increase the prices of our products, which 

could result in reputational damage and customer attrition.

We are also exploring measures to help mitigate the impact of an ongoing royalty payment obligation, if it were awarded by the District Court, such as shifting more of 

our manufacturing operations to sites outside of the United States. However, there can be no guarantee that these efforts will sufficiently offset costs associated with the 

payment of royalties, if any are awarded, nor is there any guarantee that we will be able to implement these measurers within the necessary timeframe. Any mitigating 

measures carry risks of their own, including but not limited to, increased employee attrition and difficulty in hiring key personnel, reputational harm, changes to our product 

design or manufacturing process, or additional litigation and related costs. These results could have a materially adverse effect on our financial results, cash flows and ongoing 

business operations.

Change in fair value of derivative liabilities

Change in fair value of derivative liabilities primarily includes the change in fair value of the contingent earnout liabilities and private placement warrant liability. All were 

accounted for as liabilities as of the date of the Merger, or acquisition, and remeasured to fair value at the end of the reporting period.

Other expense, net

Other expense includes other non-operating expenses.

Interest income

Interest income includes interest earned on deposits and short-term investments.
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Income taxes

We have recorded an immaterial income tax expense (benefit) each year since our inception. We have not realized material income tax benefits from the net operating 

losses or from the generated research and development tax credits as based upon the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that all of our net deferred tax 

assets will not be realized. We have recorded a valuation allowance against our net deferred tax assets at each balance sheet date.

The enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “TCJA”) in December 2017 significantly affected U.S. tax law by changing how the United States imposes tax on 

multinational corporations. For tax years beginning after December 31, 2021, the TCJA requires research and development costs to be capitalized and amortized over five or 

fifteen years, depending on if the costs are U.S. or foreign, respectively. As of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, we have capitalized research and 

development costs net of amortization, which are maintained with a valuation allowance.

Results of Operations
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The results of operations presented below should be reviewed in conjunction with the condensed consolidated financial statements and notes included elsewhere in this 

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The following tables set forth our results of operations for the periods presented.

Comparison of the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023

 
    Three Months Ended March 31,              

(dollars in thousands)   2024     2023     $ Change     % Change  

Revenue   $ 20,547     $ 24,090       (3,543 )     (15 )%

Cost of revenue     10,414       12,508       (2,094 )     (17 )%

Gross profit     10,133       11,582       (1,449 )     (13 )%

Operating expenses                        

Sales and marketing     7,844       10,576       (2,732 )     (26 )%

Research and development     9,935       10,380       (445 )     (4 )%

General and administrative     12,165       12,128       37       0 %

Litigation judgment     17,300       —       17,300       100 %

Total operating expense     47,244       33,084       14,160        

Loss from operations     (37,111 )     (21,502 )     (15,609 )      

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities     31       189       (158 )     (84 )%

Change in fair value of contingent earnout liability     (161 )     808       (969 )     (120 )%

Other expense, net     (135 )     (204 )     69       (34 )%

Interest expense     (154 )     —       (154 )     (100 )%

Interest income     1,400       1,691       (291 )     (17 )%

Loss before income taxes     (36,130 )     (19,018 )     (17,112 )      

Income tax (benefit) expense     (184 )     1       (185 )   NM  

Net loss   $ (35,946 )   $ (19,019 )   $ (16,927 )      

________________
NM — Not meaningful
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    Three Months Ended June 30,              

(dollars in thousands)   2024     2023     $ Change     % Change  

Revenue   $ 21,688     $ 25,449       (3,761 )     (15 )%

Cost of revenue     10,810       13,476       (2,666 )     (20 )%

Gross profit     10,878       11,973       (1,095 )     (9 )%

Operating expenses                        

Sales and marketing     8,526       9,666       (1,140 )     (12 )%

Research and development     9,060       10,286       (1,226 )     (12 )%

General and administrative     10,334       12,120       (1,786 )     (15 )%

Total operating expense     27,920       32,072       (4,152 )      

Loss from operations     (17,042 )     (20,099 )     3,057        

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities     95       125       (30 )     (24 )%

Change in fair value of contingent earnout liability     1,295       (817 )     2,112       (259 )%

Other expense, net     (84 )     (16 )     (68 )     425 %

Interest expense     (170 )     (116 )     (54 )     47 %

Interest income     1,230       1,577       (347 )     (22 )%

Loss before income taxes     (14,676 )     (19,346 )     4,670        
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Income tax (benefit) expense     (278 )     (358 )     80       (22 )%

Net loss   $ (14,398 )   $ (18,988 )   $ 4,590        

 

Revenue, cost of revenue, and gross margin

We earn revenue from the sale of hardware, consumables, and services contracts. The hardware revenue stream includes 3D metal printers, metal binder jetting 

printers, 3D composite printers, and sintering furnaces. The consumables revenue stream includes metals, continuous fiber, and chopped fiber materials used by customers as 

print media. The services revenue stream primarily consists of hardware maintenance services and software subscriptions.

The following table sets forth the changes in the components of gross margin for the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023.

   Three Months Ended March 31,               Three Months Ended June 30,            

(dollars in thousands)   2024     2023     $ Change     % Change     2024     2023     $ Change     % Change  

Revenue   $ 20,547     $ 24,090     $ (3,543 )     (15 )%   $ 21,688     $ 25,449     $ (3,761 )     (15 )%

Cost of revenue     10,414       12,508       (2,094 )     (17 )%     10,810       13,476       (2,666 )     (20 )%

Gross profit     10,133       11,582       (1,449 )     (13 )%     10,878       11,973       (1,095 )     (9 )%

Gross margin     49 %     48 %     —       1 %     50 %     47 %     —       3 %
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Comparison of revenue

The following table disaggregates the Company’s revenue based on the nature of the products and services:

   Three Months Ended March 31,               Three Months Ended June 30,            

(in thousands)   2024     2023     $ Change     % Change     2024     2023     $ Change     % Change  

Hardware   $ 11,274     $ 15,195     $ (3,921 )     (26 )%   $ 12,650     $ 16,506     $ (3,856 )     (23 )%

Consumables     6,404       6,455       (51 )     (1 )%     5,914       6,482       (568 )     (9 )%

Services     2,869       2,440       429       18 %     3,124       2,461       663       27 %

Total Revenue   $ 20,547     $ 24,090     $ (3,543 )     (15 )%   $ 21,688     $ 25,449     $ (3,761 )     (15 )%

 
Consolidated revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 was $20.5 million $21.7 million compared with revenue of $24.1 million $25.4 million for 

the three months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023, representing a decrease of 15%, as system revenue continues to be impacted by a challenging macroeconomic 

environment.

Hardware revenue decreased 26% 23% during the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 

2023 as system revenue continues to be impacted by a challenging macroeconomic environment. Consumable revenue decreased 9% as a result of lower volumes due to the 

aforementioned macroeconomic challenges. Services revenue increased approximately 18% 27% for the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 compared to the 

three months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023. The increase in services revenue was driven by the recurring nature of our services business and the launch of our 

subscription offering offerings on April 1, 2023, as well as $0.4 million of non-recurring service revenue recorded in the three months ended June 30, 2024.

Cost of revenue and gross profit

Consolidated cost of revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 was $10.4 million $10.8 million compared with cost of revenue of $12.5 

million $13.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023 representing a decrease of 17% 20%. Gross profit decreased $1.4 million $1.1 million, from $11.6 

million $12.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023 to $10.1 million $10.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024. Gross 

profit margin for the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 was 49% 50% while the gross profit margin for the three months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023 

was 48% 47%. The increase in consolidated gross margin is primarily due to continued operational efficiencies and a shift in our product mix.

Operating expenses

The following table sets forth the components of operating expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023.
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   Three Months Ended March 31,                 Three Months Ended June 30,              

   2024     2023     Change     2024     2023     Change  

(dollars in thousands)   Amount    

%


Revenue     Amount    

%


Revenue     $     %     Amount    

%


Revenue     Amount    

%


Revenue     $     %  

Operating expenses                                                                        

Sales and marketing   $ 7,844       38 %   $ 10,576       44 %   $ (2,732 )     (26 )%   $ 8,526       39 %   $ 9,666       38 %   $ (1,140 )     (12 )%

Research and development     9,935       48 %     10,380       43 %     (445 )     (4 )%     9,060       42 %     10,286       40 %     (1,226 )     (12 )%

General and administrative     12,165       59 %     12,128       50 %     37       0 %     10,334       48 %     12,120       48 %     (1,786 )     (15 )%

Litigation judgment     17,300       84 %     —       0 %     17,300       100 %

Total operating expenses   $ 47,244       230 %   $ 33,084       137 %   $ 14,160       43 %   $ 27,920       129 %   $ 32,072       126 %   $ (4,152 )     (13 )%

 
Sales and marketing expense decreased by 26% 12%, or $2.7 million $1.1 million, for the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, as compared to the three 

months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023. Headcount and contractor related costs decreased by $1.3 million $0.8 million primarily due to the restructuring in the fourth 

quarter of 2023. Events and travel costs decreased $0.7 million $0.2 million due to strategic cost management efforts.

Research and development expenses decreased by 4% 12%, or $0.4 million $1.2 million, for the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, as compared to the 

three months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023. The decrease in research and development expense is was primarily due to a decrease in headcount related expense of 

$0.3 million $0.9 million due to the restructuring in the fourth quarter of 2023. Prototype research and development decreased $0.2 million due to the phase of development of 

projects.

General and administrative expenses remained consistent decreased by 15%, or $1.8 million, for the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, as compared 

to the three months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023. Notable changes period over period include increases included the decrease in impairment of long-lived assets of 

$4.0 million related to legal fees the change in the fair value of $0.5 million and rent expense the lease asset of $0.2 million. These increases were offset by a our former 

headquarters, 480 Pleasant Street, during the three months ended June 30, 2023, as well as decrease in headcount and contractor cost of $1.2 million due to the restructuring 

in the fourth quarter of 2023. These decreases were partially offset by a $1.9 million increase to stock-based compensation due to the
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reversal of the graded vesting impact of forfeitures for the departure of key employees in 2023, and an increase in legal expenses of $1.6 million.

Change in fair value of derivative liabilities and contingent earnout liability, other (expense) income, net, interest expense, and interest income

The following table sets forth the change in fair value of derivative liabilities for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023.

    Three Months Ended June 30,              

(dollars in thousands)   2024     2023     $ Change     % Change  

Change in fair value of derivative liabilities   $ 95     $ 125     $ (30 )     (24 )%

Change in fair value of contingent earnout liability     1,295       (817 )     2,112       (259 )%

Other expense, net     (84 )     (16 )     (68 )     425 %

Interest expense     (170 )     (116 )     (54 )     47 %

Interest income     1,230       1,577       (347 )     (22 )%

The change in the fair value of the derivative and contingent earnout liability in the three month period ended June 30, 2024 compared to June 30, 2023 was primarily 

driven by the change in the price of our warrants and common stock, respectively, during each period.
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The change in interest income was directly correlated to the interest rates during each period, slightly offset by the decrease in the cash equivalent balance.

Provision for income taxes

We recorded a $0.3 million and $0.4 million benefit for income taxes for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Comparison of the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

________________
    Six Months Ended June 30,              

(dollars in thousands)   2024     2023     $ Change     % Change  

Revenue   $ 42,235     $ 49,539       (7,304 )     (15 )%

Cost of revenue     21,224       25,984       (4,760 )     (18 )%

Gross profit     21,011       23,555       (2,544 )     (11 )%

Operating expenses                        

Sales and marketing     16,370       20,242       (3,872 )     (19 )%

Research and development     18,995       20,666       (1,671 )     (8 )%

General and administrative     22,499       24,248       (1,749 )     (7 )%

Litigation judgment     17,300       —       17,300       100 %

Total operating expense     75,164       65,156       10,008        

Loss from operations     (54,153 )     (41,601 )     (12,552 )      

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities     126       314       (188 )     (60 )%

Change in fair value of contingent earnout liability     1,134       (7 )     1,141     NM  

Other expense, net     (219 )     (222 )     3       (1 )%

Interest expense     (324 )     (116 )     (208 )     179 %

Interest income     2,630       3,268       (638 )     (20 )%

Loss before income taxes     (50,806 )     (38,364 )     (12,442 )      

Income tax (benefit) expense     (462 )     (357 )     (105 )     29 %

Net loss   $ (50,344 )   $ (38,007 )   $ (12,337 )      

NM — Not meaningful
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Revenue, cost of revenue, and gross margin

We earn revenue from the sale of hardware, consumables, and services contracts. The hardware revenue stream includes 3D metal printers, metal binder jetting 

printers, 3D composite printers, and sintering furnaces. The consumables revenue stream includes metals, continuous fiber, and chopped fiber materials used by customers as 

print media. The services revenue stream primarily consists of hardware maintenance services and software subscriptions.

The following table sets forth the changes in the components of gross margin for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

    Six Months Ended June 30,              

(dollars in thousands)   2024     2023     $ Change     % Change  

Revenue   $ 42,235     $ 49,539     $ (7,304 )     (15 )%

Cost of revenue     21,224       25,984       (4,760 )     (18 )%

Gross profit     21,011       23,555       (2,544 )     (11 )%

Gross margin     50 %     48 %     —       (2 )%

Comparison of revenue

The following table disaggregates the Company’s revenue based on the nature of the products and services:

    Six Months Ended June 30,              

(in thousands)   2024     2023     $ Change     % Change  
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Hardware   $ 23,924     $ 31,701     $ (7,777 )     (25 )%

Consumables     12,318       12,937       (619 )     (5 )%

Services     5,993       4,901       1,092       22 %

Total Revenue   $ 42,235     $ 49,539     $ (7,304 )     (15 )%

Consolidated revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2024 was $42.2 million compared with revenue of $49.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023, 

representing a decrease of 15%, as system revenue continues to be impacted by a challenging macroeconomic environment.

Hardware revenue decreased 25% during the six months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2023. Overall unit sales decreased, driven 

by a shift in sales to industrial and production-level printers. Consumables revenue decreased approximately 5% for the six months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the six 

months ended June 30, 2023. Consumable revenue decreased as a result of lower volumes due to the aforementioned macroeconomic challenges. Services revenue increased 

approximately 22%, or $1.1 million, for the six months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the six months ended June 30, 2023. The increase in services revenue was driven by 

the recurring nature of our services business and the launch of subscription offerings on April 1, 2023, as well as $0.4 million of non-recurring service revenue recorded in the 

three months ended June 30, 2024.

Cost of revenue and gross profit

Consolidated cost of revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2024 was $21.2 million compared to $26.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023, 

representing a decrease of 18%. Gross profit for the six months ended June 30, 2024 decreased 11% from $23.6 million during the six months ended June 30, 2023 to $21.0 

million. Gross profit margin for the six months ended June 30, 2024 was 50% while the gross profit margin for the six months ended June 30, 2023 was 48%. The increase in 

consolidated gross margin is primarily due to continued operational efficiencies and a shift in our product mix.

Operating expenses

The following table sets forth the components of operating expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023.
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    Six Months Ended June 30,              

    2024     2023     Change  

(dollars in thousands)   Amount    

%


Revenue     Amount    

%


Revenue     $     %  

Operating expenses                                    

Sales and marketing   $ 16,370       39 %   $ 20,242       41 %   $ (3,872 )     (19 )%

Research and development     18,995       45 %     20,666       42 %     (1,671 )     (8 )%

General and administrative     22,499       53 %     24,248       49 %     (1,749 )     (7 )%

Litigation judgment     17,300       41 %     —       0 %     17,300       100 %

Total operating expenses   $ 75,164       178 %   $ 65,156       132 %   $ 10,008       15 %

Sales and marketing expense decreased 19%, or $3.9 million, during the six months ended June 30, 2024 as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2023. 

Headcount and contractor related costs of $0.7 million decreased by $2.1 million primarily due to the restructuring in the fourth quarter of 2023. Events and travel costs 

decreased $0.8 million due to strategic cost management efforts.

As Research and development expenses decreased 8%, or $1.7 million, during the six months ended June 30, 2024 as compared to the six months ended June 30, 

2023. The decrease in research and development expense was primarily due to a decrease in headcount related expense of March 31, 2024 $1.4 million due to the 

restructuring in the fourth quarter of 2023. Prototype research and development decreased $0.2 million due to the phase of development of projects.

General and administrative expenses decreased 7%, or $1.7 million, during the six months ended June 30, 2024, as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2023. 

Notable changes period over period included the decrease in impairment of long-lived assets of $4.0 million related to the change in the fair value of the lease asset of our 

former headquarters, 480 Pleasant Street, during the three months ended June 30, 2023, as well as decrease in headcount of $1.4 million due to the restructuring in the fourth 

quarter of 2023. These decreases were offset by the $1.1 million increase to stock-based compensation due to the reversal of the graded vesting impact of forfeitures for the 

departure of key employees in 2023, and an increase in legal expenses of $2.1 million.
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During the six-months ended June 30, 2024, we accrued $17.3 million to account for the verdict against us in the Continuous Composites case discussed further in Note 

15 to our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

Change in fair value of derivative liabilities and contingent earnout liability, other (expense) income, net, interest expense, and interest income

The following table sets forth the change in fair value of derivative liabilities for the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023.

   Three Months Ended March 31,                 Six Months Ended June 30,              

(dollars in thousands)   2024     2023     $ Change     % Change     2024     2023     $ Change     % Change  

Change in fair value of derivative liabilities   $ 31     $ 189     $ (158 )     (84 )%   $ 126     $ 314     $ (188 )     (60 )%

Change in fair value of contingent earnout liability     (161 )     808       (969 )     (120 )%     1,134       (7 )     1,141     NM  

Other expense, net     (135 )     (204 )     69       (34 )%     (219 )     (222 )     3       (1 )%

Interest expense     (154 )     —       (154 )     (100 )%     (324 )     (116 )     (208 )     179 %

Interest income     1,400       1,691       (291 )     (17 )%     2,630       3,268       (638 )     (20 )%

The change in the fair value of the derivative and contingent earnout liability in the three month period six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 compared to 

March 31, 2023 six months ended June 30, 2023 was primarily driven by the change in the price fair value of our warrants the Teton development milestone earnout 

achievement and common stock price, respectively, during each period.

The change in interest income is was directly correlated to the interest rates during each period, slightly offset by the decrease in the cash balance in short-term 

investment accounts.

Provision for income taxes

We recorded a $0.2 million $0.5 million and $0.4 million benefit and de minimis expense for income taxes for the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 

and 2023, respectively.

Non-GAAP Net Profit (Loss)

In addition to our financial results determined in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), we believe that the below non-GAAP net profit 

(loss) financial measure, that excludes one-time charges and certain non-cash items, is useful in evaluating the performance of our business. We define non-GAAP net profit 

(loss) as net profit (loss) less stock-based
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compensation expense, net change in fair value of derivative liabilities and contingent earnout liabilities, and certain non-recurring expenses.

We monitor non-GAAP net profit (loss) as a measure of our overall business performance, which enables us to analyze our past and future performance without the 

effects of non-cash items and/or one-time charges. While we believe that non-GAAP net profit (loss) is useful in evaluating our business, non-GAAP net profit (loss) is a non-

GAAP financial measure that has limitations as an analytical tool. Non-GAAP net profit (loss) can be useful in evaluating our performance by eliminating the effect of financing 

and non-cash expenses such as stock-based compensation, however, we may incur such expenses in the future which could impact future results. We also believe that the 

presentation of the non-GAAP financial measures in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q provides an additional tool for investors to use in comparing our core business and 

results of operations over multiple periods with other companies in our industry, many of which present similar non-GAAP financial measures to investors.

In addition, other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate non-GAAP metrics differently or not at all, which reduces the usefulness of this 

measure as a tool for comparison.

We recommend that you review the reconciliation of non-GAAP net profit (loss) to net income (loss), the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure, and that 

you not rely on any single financial measure to evaluate our business.

Non-GAAP Net Profit (Loss)
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Three Months Ended


March 31,  

Three Months Ended


June 30,  

Six Months Ended


June 30,  

(dollars in thousands) 2024     2023   2024     2023   2024     2023  

Net loss $ (35,946 )   $ (19,019 ) $ (14,398 )   $ (18,988 ) $ (50,344 )   $ (38,007 )

Stock compensation expense   3,461       4,356     3,245       1,690     6,706       6,046  

Change in fair value of derivative liabilities     (31 )     (189 )     (95 )     (125 )     (126 )     (314 )

Change in fair value of contingent earnout liability     161       (808 )     (1,295 )     817       (1,134 )     7  

Amortization     378       277       371       254       749       531  

Litigation judgment     17,300       —       —       —       17,300       —  

Non-recurring costs1     2,446       2,081       1,395       3,812       3,841       5,893  

Non-GAAP net loss $ (12,231 )   $ (13,302 ) $ (10,777 )   $ (12,540 ) $ (23,008 )   $ (25,844 )

1Non-recurring costs incurred during the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023 relate to litigation expense. litigation.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically funded our operations primarily through the sale of convertible preferred stock, the proceeds from the Merger and reverse recapitalization including 

the sale of common stock, and the sale of our products. Since inception we have focused on growth, which has required ongoing investment to support scaling of our business, 

research and development efforts, and day to day operations. We had cash and cash equivalents of $107.9 million $73.4 million as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024. We 

incurred net losses of $35.9 million $50.3 million and $19.0 million $38.0 million for the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Currently we generate negative operating cash flows as we pursue further business growth. We believe our cash and cash equivalents and short term investments of 

$107.9 million $73.4 million as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 is more than sufficient to meet the working capital and capital expenditure needs for the next 12 months 

following the filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Our estimates are based on the beliefs and assumptions currently available to us, and we could require additional 

financing or exhaust our available capital resources sooner than we expect.

Currently we generate negative operating cash flows and may continue to do so as we focus on pursuing commercialization and product development. During the six 

months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 we generated net negative cash flows from operations of $21.9 million and $30.7 million, respectively. Our future capital requirements 

will depend on many factors, including our revenue growth rate, the timing and the amount of cash received from customers, the expansion of sales and marketing activities, the 

timing and extent of spending to support development efforts, expenses associated with our international expansion, the introduction of platform enhancements, the continuing 

market adoption of The Digital Forge platform, and the outcome of litigation. In the future, we may enter into arrangements to acquire or invest in complementary businesses, 

products, and technologies. We may be required to seek additional equity or debt financing. In the event that we require additional financing, we may not be able to raise such 

financing on terms acceptable to us or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital or generate cash flows necessary to expand our operations and invest in continued 

innovation, we may not be able to compete successfully, which would harm our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Cash flows As of June 30, 2024, the Company has restricted cash in the amount of $19.1 million as a result of funding a surety bond to secure liabilities associated with 

the Continuous Composites case, which amount reflects the original judgment of $17.3 million in monetary damages plus $1.8 million of interest to cover the prejudgment period 

and duration of the appeal process. We expect these
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funds to remain in restricted cash as we continue to explore and pursue all available options with respect to the Continuous Composites matter, including seeking to overturn the 

verdict through the appeals process. For more information on the Continuous Composites litigation, please reference Part II, Item 1 – “Legal Proceedings” included in this 

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

We have enacted, and intend to continue to enact, cost savings measures to preserve capital. In November 2023, we announced a cost restructuring initiative that 

included an approximately 10% workforce reduction and other operational savings measures expected to deliver operating costs savings of approximately $9 - $12 million in 

2024. Further, in August 2024, we announced an approximately $25 million cost reduction initiative that is expected to reduce the Company’s operating expenses to a yearly run 

rate of approximately $70 million. We expect that most of these cost reduction initiatives will be completed in the second half of fiscal year 2024. We are currently evaluating 

other potential initiatives we may undertake to reduce our operating expenses and manage our cash flows. These initiatives could include rationalizing our product portfolio, 

workforce adjustments based on changes to the business, improving our supply chain and logistics, and improving our inventory management. These initiatives may not be 
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successful, and they may not generate the cost savings we expect. Certain future events, such as a global recession, a material supply chain disruption or other events outside 

our control, may occur and could negatively impact our operating results and cash position and may require us to use our existing capital resources more quickly than we 

currently anticipate. These events may cause us to undertake additional cost savings measures or seek additional sources of financing.

Cash flows

For the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023

The following table sets forth a summary of Markforged’s cash flows for the periods indicated:

   Three Months Ended March 31,     Change     Six Months Ended June 30,     Change  

(dollars in thousands)   2024     2023     $     %     2024     2023     $     %  

Net cash used in operating activities   $ (7,416 )   $ (15,542 )   $ 8,126       52 %   $ (21,922 )   $ (30,700 )   $ 8,778       29 %

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities     (1,323 )     (18,096 )     16,773       93 %     (1,491 )     (7,607 )     6,116       80 %

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities     (181 )     62       (243 )     (392 )%     (922 )     (215 )     (707 )     329 %

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash     (10 )     8       (18 )     (225 )%     (7 )     (62 )     55       (89 )%

Net change in cash and cash equivalents   $ (8,930 )   $ (33,568 )   $ 24,638       73 %   $ (24,342 )   $ (38,584 )   $ 14,242       37 %

 

Cash flow from operations

Net cash used in operating activities for the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023 was $7.4 million $21.9 million and $15.5 million $30.7 

million, respectively. Operating cash flows and changes in working capital for comparative periods were as follows:

 

   Three Months Ended March 31,     Six Months Ended June 30,  

(dollars in thousands)   2024     2023     2024     2023  

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital   $ (28,837 )   $ (14,273 )   $ (37,602 )   $ (23,606 )

Changes in working capital     21,421       (1,269 )     15,680       (7,094 )

 

Net cash used in operating activities decreased by $8.1 million $8.8 million for the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 compared to the three six 

months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023. The decrease in operating cash flow changes is a direct result of the tightening of working capital controls.

Cash flow from investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities for the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023 was $1.3 million $1.5 million and $18.1 million $7.6 million, 

respectively. During the first quarter half of 2023 we had short-term investment maturities which resulted in net proceeds from investments of $16.5 million $5.5 million.

Cash flow from financing activities

Net cash provided by (used in) used in financing activities decreased $0.2 million increased $0.7 million during the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 

2024 compared to the three six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023. The change in financing activities was primarily driven by no options being exercised the payment 

of the Teton acquisition business earnout which resulted in 2024, and thus no proceeds were received, compared to $0.2 million $0.6 million of proceeds from option exercises 

during the three financing cash outflow in the first six months ended March 31, 2023. of 2024.
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Critical accounting policies and estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on the historical consolidated and condensed financial statements included 

elsewhere herein. We prepared these financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 

reporting periods. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. We routinely 

evaluate these estimates, utilizing historical experience, consultation with experts and other methods we consider reasonable in the particular circumstances. Our results may 

differ from these estimates, and any effects on our business, financial position or results of operations resulting from revisions to these estimates are recorded in the period in 
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which the facts that give rise to the revision become known. Changes in these estimates could materially affect our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. See 

the "Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates" section in "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and Note 2, "Significant 

Accounting Policies" in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included within our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed with the 

SEC on March 15, 2024.




Recent accounting pronouncements

30

Refer to Note 2 of our condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the recent accounting 

pronouncements that we have adopted and have not yet adopted.

JOBS Act Accounting Election

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act. The JOBS Act permits companies with 

emerging growth company status to delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until those standards apply to private companies. We intend to use this extended 

transition period to enable us to comply with new or revised accounting standards that have different effective dates for public and private companies until the earlier of the date 

we (1) are no longer an emerging growth company or (2) affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act. Accordingly, our 

financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with the new or revised accounting standards as of public company effective dates.

We intend to rely on the other exemptions and reduced reporting requirements provided by the JOBS Act.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and are not required to provide the information otherwise required under this item. 

As of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, we had $107.9 million $92.5 million of cash and cash equivalents.

We have not engaged in any hedging activities since our inception and we do not expect to engage in any hedging activities with respect to the market risk to which we 

are exposed.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we evaluated the 

effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 

15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Based upon that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and 

procedures were not effective as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 because of the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting described below.

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the issuer in the reports that it files or submits under the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the Securities and 

Exchange Commission ("SEC"), and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the principal executive officer and principal financial 

officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
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Material Weaknesses in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 

control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or 
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detected on a timely basis. The identified material weaknesses are as follows:

We did not design and maintain an effective control environment commensurate with our financial reporting requirements. Specifically, we lacked a sufficient 

complement of resources with (i) an appropriate level of accounting knowledge, experience and training to appropriately analyze, record and disclose accounting matters timely 

and accurately, and (ii) an appropriate level of knowledge and experience to establish effective processes and controls. Additionally, the lack of a sufficient number of 

professionals resulted in an inability to consistently establish appropriate authorities and responsibilities in pursuit of our financial reporting objectives, as demonstrated by, 

among other things, insufficient segregation of duties in our finance and accounting functions. This material weakness contributed to the following additional material 

weaknesses:

We did not design and maintain effective controls related to the period-end financial reporting process, including designing and maintaining formal accounting policies, 

procedures and controls to achieve complete, accurate and timely financial accounting, reporting and disclosures. Additionally, we did not design and maintain controls over the 

preparation and review of account reconciliations and journal entries, including maintaining appropriate segregation of duties.

31

We did not design and maintain effective controls related to the identification of and accounting for certain non-routine, unusual or complex transactions, including the 

proper application of U.S. GAAP of such transactions. Specifically, we did not design and maintain controls to timely identify and account for share repurchase transactions, 

warrant instruments, and performance based stock awards.

These material weaknesses resulted in audit adjustments to the following financial statement line items in the historical Markforged financial statements: operating 

expense, other expense, interest expense, other assets, other liabilities, additional paid in capital, treasury stock, retained earnings, note receivable—equity, and series D 

preferred stock. These adjustments were recorded prior to the issuance of the consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. 

Additionally, the material weakness related to the accounting for performance based stock awards resulted in audit adjustments to additional paid in capital and stock based 

compensation expense for the quarters ended June 30, 2021, September 30, 2021, December 31, 2021, and December 31, 2022. The material weakness related to accounting 

for warrant instruments resulted in the restatement of the previously issued financial statements of AONE, the entity we merged with as part of the Merger related to warrant 

liabilities and equity. Additionally, these material weaknesses could result in a misstatement of substantially all of our accounts or disclosures that would result in a material 

misstatement to the annual or interim consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected.

We did not design and maintain effective controls over information technology (“IT”) general controls for information systems that are relevant to the preparation of our 

financial statements. Specifically, we did not design and maintain (i) program change management controls for financial systems to ensure that information technology program 

and data changes affecting financial IT applications and underlying accounting records are identified, tested, authorized and implemented appropriately; (ii) user access controls 

to ensure appropriate segregation of duties and that adequately restrict user and privileged access to financial applications, programs, and data to appropriate Company 

personnel; (iii) computer operations controls to ensure that critical batch jobs are monitored, privileges are appropriately granted, and data backups are authorized and 

monitored; and (iv) testing and approval controls for program development to ensure that new software development is aligned with business and IT requirements. These IT 

deficiencies did not result in any misstatements to the financial statements, however, the deficiencies, when aggregated, could impact our ability to maintain effective 

segregation of duties, as well as the effectiveness of IT-dependent controls (such as automated controls that address the risk of material misstatement to one or more 

assertions, along with the IT controls and underlying data that support the effectiveness of system-generated data and reports) that could result in misstatements potentially 

impacting all financial statement accounts and disclosures that would result in a material misstatement to the annual or interim financial statements that would not be prevented 

or detected. Accordingly, management has determined these deficiencies in the aggregate constitute a material weakness.

Remediation of Material Weaknesses

Management has been actively engaged in remediation efforts to address the material weaknesses during 2021 through 2023 and these efforts have continued into 

fiscal year 2024. Our remediation efforts include the following measures:

We have hired additional accounting and IT personnel to bolster our reporting, technical accounting and IT capabilities. Additionally, we continue to design and 

implement controls to formalize roles and review responsibilities to align with our team’s skills and experience and we continue to design and implement controls over 

segregation of duties.
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We continue to design and implement controls related to the period-end financial reporting process, including formal accounting policies, procedures and controls to 

achieve complete, accurate and timely financial accounting, reporting and disclosures. Additionally, we continue to design and implement controls over the preparation and 

review of account reconciliations and journal entries.

We continue to design and implement controls to timely identify and account for non-routine, unusual or complex transactions and other technical accounting and 

financial reporting matters, including controls over the preparation and review of accounting memoranda addressing these matters.

We continue to design and implement IT general controls, including controls over program change management, the review and update of user access rights and 

privileges, controls over batch jobs and data backups, and program development approvals and testing.

We have engaged third-party specialists to assist with testing the operating effectiveness of controls over financial reporting to gain assurance that such controls are 

present and operating as designed, as well as to help review and update existing documentation of our internal controls for compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32

The material weaknesses will not be considered remediated until management completes the design and implementation of the measures described above and the 

controls operate for a sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls are effective.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 covered by this Quarterly 

Report on Form 10-Q that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

From time to time we have been and are involved in claims that arise during the ordinary course of business. Although the results of litigation and claims cannot be 

predicted with certainty, we do not currently believe that the outcome of any of these legal matters will have a material adverse effect on our results of operation or financial 

condition, other than as discussed below regarding the matter involving Continuous Composites Inc. (“Continuous Composites”), which we previously disclosed. Regardless of 

the outcome, litigation can be costly and time consuming, as it can divert management’s attention from important business matters and initiatives, negatively impacting our 

overall operations.

In July 2021, Continuous Composites filed Inc. (“Continuous Composites”), a patent-infringement case against us company based in Idaho, brought a claim in the United 

States District Court for the District of Delaware. Delaware against the Company regarding patent infringement. On April 11, 2024, the jury returned a verdict against us the 

Company in the amount of $17.3 million. The jury found one of the two patent claims Continuous Composites asserted at trial against us the Company to be invalid and no 

infringement was found. not infringed. However, the jury found that we the Company had infringed the other patent claim and awarded monetary damages. While we cannot 

predict what additional action Continuous Composites may take, it is possible that they may seek additional relief through post-trial motions for royalty payments on future 

revenue, which could materially impact our business and operations. We disagree The Company disagrees with this verdict and intend to seek has sought to overturn the verdict 

in post-trial motions with the District Court. We are The Company is exploring all available options, including seeking to overturn the verdict and any resulting judgment through 

the appeals process.

As of June 30, 2024, monetary damages resulting from the Continuous Composites verdict are accrued within the litigation payable caption on the condensed 

consolidated balance sheet together with estimated and accrued interest of $0.2 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024. As of June 30, 2024, the Company 

has restricted cash in the amount of $19.1 million as a result of funding a surety bond in connection with the verdict, which amount reflects the original judgment of $17.3 million 

in monetary damages plus $1.8 million of interest to cover the prejudgment period and duration of the appeal process. Continuous Composites has also asserted through post-
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trial motions claims for additional royalty payments for sales of certain products manufactured and/or sold in the United States after December 31, 2023. In accordance with 

ASC Topic 450, the Company estimated the loss contingency related to the royalty payment claims to be in the range of $0 to $2.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 

2024, and the Company believed that no amount within this range was a better estimate than any other amount. In accordance with ASC Topic 450, the Company recorded no 

accrual during the reporting period because the low end of the range is estimated to be $0. Because of the uncertainties related to the outcome of post-trial claims and 

proceedings, accruals are based on our best estimates based on information available at the time of the assessment. On a periodic basis, as additional information becomes 

available, or based on specific events such as the outcome of post-trial claims and proceedings, or the settlement of claims (and offers of settlement), we may reassess the 

potential liability related to this matter and may revise these estimates, which could result in a material adverse adjustment to our operating results.

In the event that Continuous Composite’s post-trial royalty payment claims are successful and the District Court awards royalties for sales after December 31, 2023, we 

expect the remedy to be a fixed-fee assessment of royalty payments for each machine sold or manufactured in the United States that includes our carbon fiber reinforcement 

technology. In the near term, we expect royalty payments, if awarded, to result in a 5 to 7 percentage point reduction in our gross margin. These estimates are based on 

information available to the Company at the time of assessment, including revenue and sales projections, and are subject to adjustment as additional information becomes 

available or specific events occur. In addition, to offset the costs associated with the payment of royalties, if any, we may have to increase the prices of our products, which 

could result in reputational damage and customer attrition.

We are also exploring measures to help mitigate the impact of an ongoing royalty payment obligation, if it were awarded by the District Court, such as shifting more of 

our manufacturing operations to sites outside of the United States. However, there can be no guarantee that these efforts will sufficiently offset costs associated with the 

payment of royalties, if any are awarded, nor is there any guarantee that we will be able to implement these measurers within the necessary timeframe. Any mitigating 

measures carry risks of their own, including but not limited to, increased employee attrition and difficulty in hiring key personnel, reputational harm, changes to our product 

design or manufacturing process, or additional litigation and related costs. These results could have a materially adverse effect on our financial results, cash flows and ongoing 

business operations.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

A description of the risks and uncertainties associated with our business and industry is set forth below. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties 

described below, together with all of the other information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including our unaudited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto 

and the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” section of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q before deciding whether to 

purchase shares of our common stock. If any of the following risks are realized, our business, financial condition, operating results and prospects could be materially and 

adversely affected. In that event, the price of our common stock could decline, perhaps significantly. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we 

currently deem immaterial also may impair our business operation.

38

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We are, and have been in the recent past, subject to business and intellectual property litigation.

The additive manufacturing industry has been, and may continue to be, litigious, particularly with respect to intellectual property claims. We have been in the recent past 

involved in litigation, and we could be involved in additional litigation in the future.

In particular, in July 2021, Continuous Composites filed a patent-infringement case against us in the United States District Court of Delaware. On April 11, 2024, the jury 

returned a verdict against us in the amount of $17.3 million. The jury found one of the two patent claims Continuous Composites asserted at trial against us to be invalid and no 

infringement was found. However, the jury found that we had infringed the other patent claim and awarded monetary damages. As discussed elsewhere in this Quarterly Report 

on Form 10-Q, we disagree with this verdict and have sought to overturn the verdict in post-trial motions with the District Court and are exploring all available options, including 

seeking to overturn the verdict and any resulting judgment through the appeals process, but cannot predict the outcome of any such efforts.

Continuous Composites has also asserted through post-trial motions claims for additional royalty payments for sales of certain products manufactured and/or sold in the 

United States after December 31, 2023. In accordance with ASC Topic 450, the Company estimated the loss contingency related to the royalty payment claims to be in the 

range of $0 to $2.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024, and the Company believed that no amount within this range was a better estimate than any other amount. In 

accordance with ASC Topic 450, the Company recorded no accrual during the reporting period because the low end of the range is estimated to be $0. Because of the 

uncertainties related to the outcome of post-trial claims and proceedings, accruals are based on our best estimates based on information available at the time of the 

assessment. On a periodic basis, as additional information becomes available, or based on specific events such as the outcome of post-trial claims and proceedings, or the 

settlement of claims (and offers of settlement), we may reassess the potential liability related to this matter and may revise these estimates, which could result in a material 

adverse adjustment to our operating results.
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In the event that Continuous Composite’s post-trial royalty payment claims are successful and the District Court awards royalties for sales after December 31, 2023, we 

expect the remedy to be a fixed-fee assessment of royalty payments for each machine sold or manufactured in the United States that includes our carbon fiber reinforcement 

technology. In the near term, we expect royalty payments, if awarded, to result in a 5 to 7 percentage point reduction in our gross margin. These estimates are based on 

information available to the Company at the time of assessment, including revenue and sales projections, and are subject to adjustment as additional information becomes 

available or specific events occur. In addition, to offset the costs associated with the payment of royalties, if any, we may have to increase the prices of our products, which 

could result in reputational damage and customer attrition.

We are also exploring measures to help mitigate the impact of an ongoing royalty payment obligation, if it were awarded by the District Court, such as shifting more of 

our manufacturing operations to sites outside of the United States. However, there can be no guarantee that these efforts will sufficiently offset costs associated with the 

payment of royalties, if any are awarded, nor is there any guarantee that we will be able to implement these measurers within the necessary timeframe. Any mitigating 

measures carry risks of their own, including but not limited to, increased employee attrition and difficulty in hiring key personnel, reputational harm, changes to our product 

design or manufacturing process, or additional litigation and related costs. These results could have a materially adverse effect on our financial results, cash flows and ongoing 

business operations.

In order to protect our intellectual property rights in the Continuous Composites litigation described above, or in any other similar claims in the future, we have spent and 

may continue to be required to spend significant resources to monitor, protect, and defend these rights, and we may or may not be able to detect infringement by our customers 

or third parties. Litigation has been and may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights and to protect our trade secrets. Such litigation, regardless of 

merit, can be costly, time consuming, and distracting to management and key technical personnel, and can result in the impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual 

property. Furthermore, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims, and countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of 

our intellectual property rights. Our inability to protect our proprietary technology against unauthorized copying or use, as well as any costly litigation or diversion of our 

management’s attention and resources, could delay further sales or the implementation of our platform, impair the functionality of our platform, delay introductions of new 

features, integrations, and capabilities, result in our substituting inferior or more costly technologies into our platform, or injure our reputation. In addition, we may be required to 

license or pay royalties on additional technology from third parties to develop and market new features, integrations, and capabilities, and we cannot be certain that we could 

license that technology on commercially reasonable terms or at all, and our inability to license this technology could harm our ability to compete.

As part of any settlement or other compromise to avoid complex, protracted litigation, we may agree not to pursue future claims against a third party, including related to 

alleged infringement of our intellectual property rights. Part of any settlement or other compromise with another party may resolve a potentially costly dispute but may also have 

future repercussions on our ability to defend and protect our intellectual property rights, which in turn could adversely affect our business. Moreover, our potential liabilities are 

subject to change over time due to new developments, changes in settlement strategy or the impact of evidentiary requirements. Regardless of the outcome, litigation has 

resulted in the past, and may result in the future, in significant legal expenses
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and require significant attention and resources of management. As a result, any present or future litigation that may be brought against us by any third party could result in 

reputational harm, losses, damages and expenses that may have a significant adverse effect on our financial condition.

Risks Related to Our Operating History

We have a history of net losses and may not be able to achieve profitability for any period in the future or sustain cash flow from operating activities.

We had a history of operating losses since inception in 2013 through 2023 and funded our cash flow deficits primarily through the issuance of capital stock. As of March 

31, 2024 June 30, 2024, we had an accumulated deficit of $240.6 million $255.0 million, including current year net loss of $35.9 million $50.3 million. We expect to continue to 

incur operating losses and negative cash flow as we continue to invest significantly in research and development efforts sales and marketing and other aspects of our business.

We cannot make any assurances that these investments will result in increased revenue or growth in our business. Furthermore, we may encounter unforeseen issues 

that require us to incur additional costs. costs, including costs related to the Continuous Composites case. Any such increased expenditures make it harder for us to achieve and 

maintain future profitability. Revenue growth and growth in our customer base may not be sustainable, and we may not achieve sufficient revenue to achieve or maintain 

profitability. While we have a revenue history, we expect to bring new additive manufacturing products to market that we anticipate will generate a substantial portion of our 

future revenue, and it is difficult for us to predict our future operating results. We may incur significant losses in the future for a number of reasons, including due to the other 

risks described in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications and delays and other unknown events. As a 

result, our losses may exceed forecasts, we may incur significant losses for the foreseeable future, and we may not achieve profitability when expected, or at all, and even if we 

do, we may not be able to maintain or increase profitability. Accordingly, if we are not able to achieve or maintain profitability and we incur significant losses in the future, the 

market price of our common stock may decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment.
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We have a relatively limited operating history and have experienced rapid growth, which makes evaluating our current business and future prospects difficult and 

may increase the risk of your investment.

Our ability to forecast our future operating results is subject to a number of uncertainties, including our ability to plan for and model future growth. We have encountered, 

and will continue to encounter, risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing
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companies in rapidly evolving industries, as we continue to grow our business. If our assumptions regarding these uncertainties, which we use to plan our business, are 

incorrect or change in reaction to changes in our markets, or if we do not address these risks successfully, our operating and financial results could differ materially from our 

expectations, our business could suffer and the trading price of our stock may decline. We intend to derive a substantial portion of our revenues from sales of new and existing 

hardware products, which sales are non-recurring and subject to significant risk and fluctuation.

It is difficult to predict our future revenues and appropriately budget for our expenses, and we have limited insight into trends that may emerge and affect our business. If 

actual results differ from our estimates or we adjust our estimates in future periods, our operating results and financial position could be materially affected.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantly from period-to-period and may fall below expectations in any particular period, which could adversely affect the 

market price of our common stock.

Our quarterly and annual results of operations may fluctuate significantly from period-to-period. Accordingly, the results of any one quarter or year should not be relied 

upon as an indication of future performance. If our revenue or operating results fall below the expectations of investors or any securities analysts that follow our company in any 

period, the price of our common stock would likely decline. Each of the risks described in this section, as well as other factors, may affect our operating results. For example, 

factors that may cause our operating results to fluctuate include:

• the degree of market acceptance of our products;

• our ability to compete with competitors and new entrants into our markets;

• changes in our pricing policies or those of our competitors, including our response to price competition;

• the effectiveness of our securing new orders and fulfilling existing orders;

• the impact of supply chain disruptions on our customers, suppliers, manufacturers and operations;

• the mix of products that we sell during any period;
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• the timing of our sales and deliveries of our products to customers;

• changes in the amount that we spend to develop and manufacture new products or technologies;

• timing of expenditures to develop and bring to market new or enhanced products and the generation of revenue from those products;

• changes in the amounts that we and our VARs spend to promote our products;

• changes in the cost of satisfying our warranty obligations and servicing our products, including with respect to our obligations related to our “success plan” offering

• litigation-related expenses and/or liabilities;

• unforeseen liabilities or difficulties in integrating our acquisitions or newly acquired businesses;

• disruptions to our internal and third-party manufacturing facilities and processes;

• disruptions to our information technology systems or our third-party contract manufacturers;

• disruptions to our global supply and distribution chains;

• third party claims of intellectual property rights infringement, including the Continuous Composites case;

• the geographic distribution of our sales, and any related effects of foreign exchange rate fluctuations for sales and expenses that are not in U.S. dollars;

• general economic and industry conditions that affect our costs and/or customer demand, such as increases inflation and interest rates, general economic slowdow
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potential for recession; and

• changes in accounting rules and tax laws.

In addition, sales of our products are subject to the adoption and capital expenditure cycles of our customers' customers’ sales cycle, and seasonality among our 

customers may cause our revenues and operating results to fluctuate from period to period. Accordingly, we typically experience increased sales during the fourth quarter and, 

to a lesser extent, the third quarter of our fiscal year relative to the first and second quarters. Additionally, for our more complex solutions, which may require additional facilities 

investment and installation support, potential customers may spend a substantial amount of time performing internal assessments prior to making a purchase decision. This 

may cause us to devote significant effort in advance of a potential sale without any guarantee of receiving any
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related revenues. As a result, revenues and operating results for future periods are difficult to predict with any significant degree of certainty, which could lead to adverse effects 

on our inventory levels and overall financial condition. Accordingly, you should not rely on quarter-over-quarter and year-over-year comparisons of our results as an indicator of 

our future performance.

 

Global economic, political and social conditions and uncertainties in the markets that we serve may adversely impact our business.

Our performance depends on the financial health and strength of our customers, which in turn is dependent on the economic conditions of the markets in which we and 

our customers operate. Declines in the global economy, difficulties in the financial services sector and credit markets, continuing geopolitical uncertainties, global health crises, 

including COVID-19, and other macroeconomic factors all affect the spending behavior of potential customers. Economic uncertainty in Europe, the United States, India, Japan, 

China and other countries may cause customers and potential customers to further delay or reduce technology purchases. For example, since the first quarter of 2022, we have 

experienced reduced demand from European markets, which may be partially attributable to regional energy cost increases and uncertainty.

We also face risks from financial difficulties or other uncertainties experienced by our suppliers, distributors or other third parties on which we rely. If third parties are 

unable to supply us with required materials or components or otherwise assist us in operating our business, our business could be harmed.

Adverse developments affecting the financial services industry or other third parties, such as a liquidity crisis, increased levels of defaults or non-performance by 

financial institutions or transactional counterparties or the perception that any of these events could occur, could adversely affect our current and projected 

business operations and our financial condition and results of operations.

Adverse developments that affect financial institutions, transactional counterparties or other third parties, or concerns or rumors about any events of these kinds or other 

similar risks, have in the past and may in the future lead to market-wide liquidity problems. Although we regularly assess and adjust our banking and other financial services 

relationships as we believe necessary or appropriate, our access to our deposits, investments, funding sources, credit and other arrangements in amounts adequate to maintain 

our projected business operations could be significantly impaired by factors outside of our control. These factors could include, among others,
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events such as liquidity constraints or failures, the inability of third parties to meet their obligations under various types of financial arrangements, general disruptions or 

instability in the financial services industry or financial markets, or concerns or negative expectations about the prospects for companies in the financial services industry. These 

factors could involve financial institutions or financial services industry companies with which we have financial or business relationships, but could also include factors involving 

financial markets or the financial services industry generally.

For example, on March 10, 2023, Silicon Valley Bank (“SVB”) was closed by the California Department of Financial Protection and Innovation, which appointed the 

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) as receiver. Similarly, on March 12, 2023, Signature Bank and Silvergate Capital Corp. were each swept into receivership. 

Although a statement by the Department of the Treasury, the Federal Reserve and the FDIC stated all depositors of SVB would have access to all of their money after only one 

business day of closure, including funds held in uninsured deposit accounts, borrowers under credit agreements, letters of credit and certain other financial instruments with 

SVB, Signature Bank or any other financial institution that is placed into receivership by the FDIC may be unable to access undrawn amounts thereunder. As of the date of this 

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our exposure to SVB, Signature and Silvergate is immaterial, however, we regularly maintain cash balances at third-party financial institutions in 

excess of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insurance limit. If any of the financial institutions with which we do business were to be placed into receivership, we may 
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be unable to access our capital or adequately fund our business for a prolonged period of time, or at all. In addition, if any of our customers, suppliers or other parties with whom 

we conduct business are unable to access funds pursuant to their arrangements with such a financial institution, their ability to pay their obligations to us or to enter into new 

commercial arrangements requiring additional payments to us could be adversely affected. For example, any company with which we do business that is a counterparty to SVB, 

may be experiencing direct impacts from the closure of SVB that may in the future impact us and our business indirectly. A customer may fail to make payments when due, 

default under their agreements with us, become insolvent or declare bankruptcy, or a supplier may determine that it will no longer deal with us as a customer. Any customer or 

supplier bankruptcy or insolvency, or the failure of any customer to make payments when due, or the loss of any significant supplier relationships, could result in material losses 

to us and may have material adverse impacts on our business.

In addition, uncertainty remains over liquidity concerns in the broader financial services industry, and there may be additional impacts to our business and our industry 

that we cannot predict at this time. Inflation and rapid increases in interest rates have led to a decline in the trading value of previously issued government securities with 

interest rates below current market interest rates. Although the U.S. Department of Treasury, FDIC and Federal Reserve Board have announced a program to provide up to $25 

billion of loans to financial institutions secured by certain of such government securities held by financial institutions to mitigate the risk of potential losses on the sale of such 

instruments, widespread demands for customer withdrawals or other liquidity needs of financial institutions for immediate liquidity may exceed the capacity of such program. 

There is no guarantee that the U.S. Department of
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Treasury, FDIC and Federal Reserve Board will provide access to uninsured funds in the future in the event of the closure of other banks or financial institutions, or that they 

would do so in a timely fashion.

The results of events or concerns that involve one or more of these factors could include a variety of material and adverse impacts on our current and projected 

business operations and our financial condition and results of operations. These could include, but may not be limited to, the following:

• Delayed access to deposits or other financial assets or the uninsured loss of deposits or other financial assets;

• Loss of access to certain working capital sources and/or the inability to refund, roll over or extend the maturity of, or enter into new credit facilities or other working 
capital resources;

• Potential or actual breach of contractual obligations that require us to maintain letters or credit or other credit support arrangements; or

• Termination of cash management arrangements and/or delays in accessing or actual loss of funds subject to cash management arrangements.

In addition, widespread investor concerns regarding the U.S. or international financial systems could result in less favorable commercial financing terms, including 

higher interest rates or costs and tighter financial and operating covenants, or systemic limitations on access to credit and liquidity sources, thereby making it more difficult for 

us to acquire financing on acceptable terms or at all. Any decline in available funding or access to our cash and liquidity resources could, among other risks, adversely impact 

our ability to meet our operating expenses, financial obligations or fulfill our other obligations, result in breaches of our financial and/or contractual obligations or result in 

violations of federal or state wage and hour laws. Any of these impacts, or any other impacts resulting from the factors described above or other related or similar factors not 

described above, could have material adverse impacts on our liquidity and our current and/or projected business operations and financial condition and results of operations.
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Risks Related to the Additive Manufacturing Industry

The additive manufacturing industry in which we operate is characterized by rapid technological change, requiring continual innovation and development of new 

products and innovations to meet constantly evolving customer demands.

Our revenues are derived from the sale of 3D printers, related materials, software, and services. The additive manufacturing market is subject to rapid innovation and 

technological change and our customers’ needs are rapidly evolving. While we intend to invest substantial resources to remain on the forefront of technological development, 

continuing advances in additive manufacturing technology, changes in customer requirements and preferences and the emergence of new standards, regulations and 

certifications could adversely affect adoption of our products. Our ability to compete in the additive manufacturing market depends, in large part, on our success in developing 
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and introducing new 3D printers and technology, in improving our existing products and technology and qualifying new materials which our systems can support. We believe that 

we must continuously enhance and expand the functionality and features of our products and technologies in order to remain competitive. However, we may not be able to:

• predict future customer demand;

• develop cost effective new products and technologies that address the increasingly complex needs of prospective customers;

• enhance our existing products and technologies;

• respond to technological advances and emerging industry standards and certifications on a cost-effective and timely basis;

• adequately protect our intellectual property as we develop new products and technologies;

• identify the appropriate technology or product to which to devote our resources; or

• ensure the availability of cash resources to fund research and development.

Even if we successfully introduce new additive manufacturing products and technologies and enhance our existing products and technologies, it is possible that these 

will eventually supplant our existing products or that our competitors will develop new products and technologies that will replace our own. As a result, any of our products may 

be rendered obsolete or uneconomical by our or our competitors’ technological advances, leading to a loss in market share, decline in revenue and adverse effects to our 

business and prospects.
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We face intense and growing competition in the additive manufacturing industry. Our inability to compete effectively with our competitors could affect our ability to 

achieve our anticipated market penetration and achieve or sustain profitability.

The additive manufacturing industry in which we operate is highly competitive. We compete for customers with a wide variety of producers of additive manufacturing 

equipment that creates 3D objects and end-use parts, as well as with providers of materials and services for this equipment. Some of our existing and potential competitors are 

researching, designing, developing and marketing other types of products and services that may render our existing or future products obsolete, uneconomical or less 

competitive. Existing and potential competitors may also have substantially greater financial, technical, marketing and sales, manufacturing, distribution and other resources 

than us, including name recognition, as well as experience and expertise in intellectual property rights and operating within certain international markets or industry verticals, 

any of which may enable them to compete effectively against us. Moreover, many of our competitors have more extensive customer and partner relationships than we do, and 

may therefore be in a better position to identify and respond to market developments or changes in customer demands, including successfully developing technologies that 

outperform our technologies. Potential customers may also prefer to purchase from their existing suppliers rather than a new supplier regardless of product performance or 

features. For example, a number of companies that have substantial resources have announced that they are beginning production of 3D printers, which will further enhance the 

competition we face.

In addition, independent suppliers offer non-original supplies (including imitation, refill and remanufactured alternatives), which are often available for lower prices but 

which can also offer lower print quality and reliability compared to our supplies. If our customers utilize these non-original supplies with our printers, it could adversely impact our 

operating results and may have a negative impact on our brand.

Future competition may arise from the development of allied or related techniques for equipment, materials, software and services that are not encompassed by our 

patents, from the issuance of patents to other companies that may inhibit our ability to develop certain products and from improvements to existing technologies.

We intend to continue to follow a strategy of continuing product development, VAR and distribution network expansion to enhance our competitive position to the extent 

practicable. But we cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain our current
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position or continue to compete successfully against current and future sources of competition. If we do not keep pace with technological change and introduce new products 

and technologies, demand for our products may decline, and our operating results may suffer.
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Declines in the prices of our products and services, or in our volume of sales, together with our relatively inflexible cost structure, may adversely affect our 

financial results.

Our business is subject to price competition. Such price competition may adversely affect our results of operation, especially during periods of decreased demand. 

Decreased demand also adversely impacts the volume of our sales. If our business is not able to offset price reductions resulting from these pressures, or decreased volume of 

sales due to contractions in the market, by improved operating efficiencies and reduced expenditures, then our operating results will be adversely affected.

Although we generally do not have long-term supply agreements, certain of our operating costs are fixed and cannot readily be reduced, which has an impact on our 

operating results. To the extent the demand for our products slows, or the additive manufacturing market contracts, we may be faced with excess manufacturing capacity and 

related costs that cannot readily be reduced, which will adversely impact our financial condition and results of operations. Conversely, because we generally do not have long-

term supply agreements, we have recently experienced and expect to continue to be subject to the risk of significant cost increases and parts shortages by our suppliers, or 

decisions by our suppliers to cease selling certain parts and materials to us.

Increased consolidation among our customers, suppliers and competitors in the additive manufacturing industry may have an adverse effect on our business and 

results of operations.

Increased consolidation in the additive manufacturing industry among our customers, suppliers and competitors may adversely affect our business and results of 

operations. Customer consolidation could lead to changes in buying patterns, slowdowns in spending, and impact our distribution channels. Moreover, the significant purchasing 

power of these large companies can increase pricing and competitive pressures for us, including the potential for decreases in our average selling prices. If one of our 

customers is acquired by another company that does not rely on us to provide it with products or relies on another provider of similar products, we may lose that customer’s 

business. Any of the foregoing results will adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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In addition, supplier consolidation may lead to increased prices of materials for our products, deployment delays and/or a disruption in output. In addition, such 

consolidation may exacerbate the risks relating to our dependence on a small number of suppliers for certain materials that are required to manufacture our products.

We may experience significant delays in the design, production and launch of our additive manufacturing solutions and enhancements to existing products, and we 

may be unable to successfully commercialize products on our planned timelines.

We have several additive manufacturing solutions and enhancements to existing products that are still under development. There are often delays in the design, testing, 

manufacture and commercial release of new products, and any delay in the launch of our products could materially damage our brand, business, growth prospects, financial 

condition and operating results. For example, we experienced production challenges meeting demand for our FX20 printer, including issues procuring materials and production 

constraints, which limited revenue during 2022, and initial production costs exceeded targets negatively impacting our gross margin. Even if we successfully complete the 

design, testing and manufacture for one or all of our products or enhancements under development, we may fail to develop a commercially successful product on the timeline 

we expect for a number of reasons, including:

• misalignment between the products and customer needs;

• length of sales cycles;

• insufficient product innovation;

• product quality and performance issues;

• insufficient resources or qualified personnel to develop the product;

• failure of the product to perform in accordance with the customer’s expectations and industry standards;

• inability to procure parts of adequate quality needed to build the product on commercially acceptable terms, or at all;

• insufficient labor or process stability to build the product to required specifications;

• ineffective distribution, sales and marketing;
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• delay in obtaining, or failure to obtain, any required regulatory approvals;

• the impact of future health epidemics on production, distribution and demand for our products;

• increased production costs, including due to general inflationary pressures on the supplies we procure, and unexpected delays; or

• release of competitive products.

Our success in the market for the new products we develop will depend in part on our ability to prove our new products’ capabilities in a timely manner. Until 

demonstration, our customers may not believe that our products and/or technology have the capabilities they were designed to have or that we believe they have. Furthermore, 

even if we do successfully demonstrate our products’ capabilities, potential customers may be more comfortable doing business with a competitor, including another larger and 

more established company, may take longer than expected to make the decision to order our products, or may not have the budget or decision-making authority to purchase the 

product. Significant revenue from new product investments may not be achieved for a number of years, if at all. If the timing of our launch of new products and/or of our 

customers’ acceptance of such products is different than our assumptions, our revenue and results of operations may be adversely affected.

Changes in our product mix may impact our gross margins and financial performance.

Our financial performance may be affected by the mix of products and services we sell during a given period. We expect to continue to offer products at a variety of 

price points. Sales of certain of our products have, or are expected to have, higher gross margin contributions than others. If our product mix shifts too far into lower gross 

margin products, or we are unable to maintain or increase gross margins, and we are not able to sufficiently reduce the engineering, production and other costs associated with 

those products or substantially increase the sales of our higher gross margin products, our profitability could be reduced. Additionally, the introduction of new products or 

services may further heighten quarterly fluctuations in gross profit and gross profit margins due to manufacturing ramp-up and start-up costs. Relatedly, if our product mix shifts 

such that our production rates decrease, our product costs and margins may be negatively impacted. We may experience significant quarterly fluctuations in gross profit 

margins or operating income or loss due to the impact of the mix of products, channels or geographic areas in which we sell our products from period to period.
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Risks Related to Our Business Operations

Our failure to meet our customers’ price expectations would adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Demand for our product lines is sensitive to price. We believe our competitive pricing has been an important factor in our results to date. Therefore, changes in our 

pricing strategies can have a significant impact on our business and ability to generate revenue. Many factors, including our production and personnel costs, our competitors’ 

pricing and marketing strategies, general inflationary pressures, our customers’ budgets, the value our products bring to our customers and our desire to hit revenue goals can 

significantly impact our pricing strategies. If we fail to meet our customers’ price expectations in any given period, demand for our products and product lines could be negatively 

impacted and our business, results of operations and brand could suffer.

Our revenue model is evolving and we may introduce new revenue models or avenues that may not be accepted by our customers and as such will not materialize.

We depend on our network of VARs and other distribution partners and if we fail to maintain successful relationships, or if they fail to perform, our ability to market, 

sell and distribute our products will be limited, and our business, financial position and results of operations will be harmed.

We rely heavily on our global network of VARs and other distribution partners to sell our products and to provide installation and support services to customers in their 

respective geographic regions. These VARs and other distribution partners may not be as effective in selling our products or installing and supporting our customers as we 

expect. Moreover, a VAR or other distribution partner may misrepresent the capabilities of our products without our knowledge either intentionally or unintentionally due to the 

inherent complexity of our products. Further, our VARs and other distribution partners can terminate their contracts with us at any time, and if our contracts with a significant 

number of VARs and other distribution partners, or with the most effective VARs and other distribution partners, were to terminate or if they would otherwise fail or refuse to sell 

certain of our products, we may not be able to find replacements that are as qualified or as successful in a timely manner, if at all.
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Recruiting and retaining qualified VARs and other distribution partners and training them in our technologies requires significant time and resources. These VARs and 

other distribution partners may also market, sell and support other technologies in unrelated markets and may devote more resources to the marketing, sales and support of 

such products.

In addition, if our VARs and other distribution partners do not perform as anticipated, or if we are unable to secure qualified and successful VARs and other distribution 

partners, our sales will suffer, which would have an adverse effect on our revenues and operating results. Because we also depend upon our VARs and other distribution 

partners to provide installation and support services for products, if our VAR or distribution partner relationships were terminated or limited to certain products, we may face 

disruption in providing support for our customers, which would adversely affect our brand, reputation and our results of operations. Any failure to offer high-quality technical 

support services may adversely affect our relationships with our customers and adversely affect our financial results and brand.

Further, we require that our VARs and other distribution partners adhere to all local laws and regulations, but it is possible that a VAR or other distribution partner could 

violate such laws or regulations, which could adversely impact our business, reputation and financial results and brand. Our indirect sales and distribution model could subject 

us to lawsuits, potential liability and brand and reputational harm if, for example, any of our VARs and other distribution partners misrepresent the functionality of our products or 

services to customers or violate laws or our corporate policies.

Additionally, a default by one or more VARs or other distribution partners with whom we have a significant receivables balance could have an adverse financial impact 

on our financial results. As of March 31, 2024 no June 30, 2024 one customer represented greater than 10% of the accounts receivable balance. In the event that this customer 

or any of our large customers do not continue to purchase our products or purchase fewer of our products, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be 

adversely affected. We have reviewed our policies that govern credit and collections and will continue to monitor them in light of current payment status and economic 

conditions. In addition, we try to reduce the credit exposures of our accounts receivable by instituting credit limits and additional checks. However, there can be no assurance 

that our efforts to identify potential credit risks will be successful. Our inability to timely identify VARs and other distribution partners that are credit risks could result in defaults at 

a time when such VARs and other distribution partners have high accounts receivable balances with us. Any such default would result in a significant charge against our 

earnings and adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.
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If our suppliers become unavailable or inadequate, our customer relationships, results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected.

As a result of supply chain disruptions and the rise of inflation, we have experienced increasing costs and supply shortages. For example, we recently experienced 

longer lead times and capacity constraints in connection with the raw resources required to manufacture our printing material and we are also facing increased prices in 

connection with the procurement of the electronic components and custom metal fabricated parts for our printers, including our FX20 printer. We acquire certain of our materials, 

which are critical to the ongoing operation and future growth of our business, from several third parties. Generally, our third-party contract manufacturers contract directly with 

component suppliers with our guidance. We rely on our contract manufacturers to manage their supply chains. If one of our contract manufacturers has supply chain 

disruptions, or our relationship with our contract manufacturer terminates, we could experience delays. We also source some materials directly from suppliers. While most 

manufacturing equipment and materials for our products are available from multiple suppliers, certain of those items are only available from limited sources. Should any of these 

suppliers become unavailable or inadequate, or impose terms unacceptable to us, such as increased pricing terms, we could be required to spend a significant amount of time 

and expense to develop alternate sources of supply, and we may not be successful in doing so on terms acceptable to us, or at all. As a result, the loss of a limited source 

supplier could adversely affect our brand and relationship with our customers as well as our results of operations and financial condition.

In the case of certain materials, we have specified a certain grade of a product to be used in our manufacturing process. While there are several potential suppliers of 

most of these component materials that we use, we currently choose to use only one or a limited number of suppliers for several of these components and materials. For those 

materials, we could be impacted by any changes our suppliers make to such materials, which could include specification changes, lead time or cancellation of the material. If 

there is not an alternate product available, replacement thereof would require significant engineering and manufacturing efforts by us to qualify a replacement. Additionally, if a 

supplier of such materials decided to terminate their relationship with us, we may face delays in our production as we seek out a replacement supplier. Our reliance on a single 

or limited number of vendors involves a number of risks, including:

• potential shortages and cost increases of some key components;

• product performance shortfalls, if traceable to particular product components, since the supplier of the faulty component cannot readily be replaced;
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• discontinuation of a product or certain materials on which we rely;

• potential insolvency of these vendors;

• vendors may discontinue producing a particular product component, or discontinue selling us particular components; and

• reduced control over delivery schedules, manufacturing capabilities, quality and costs.

In addition, we evaluate new suppliers pursuant to our internal procedures. This process involves evaluations of varying durations, which may cause production delays if 

we were required to qualify a new supplier unexpectedly. We generally assemble our systems and parts based on our internal forecasts and the availability of raw materials, 

assemblies, components and finished goods that are supplied to us by third parties, which are subject to various lead times. If certain suppliers were to decide to discontinue 

production of an assembly, component or raw material that we use, the unanticipated change in the availability of supplies, or unanticipated supply limitations, could cause 

delays in, or loss of, sales, increased production or related costs and consequently reduced margins, and damage to our reputation. If we were unable to find a suitable supplier 

for a particular component, material or compound, we could be required to modify our existing products or the end-parts that we offer to accommodate substitute components, 

material or compounds. While we monitor risk internally related to our sourcing (particularly concerning raw materials), there is no guarantee that will sufficiently protect us if we 

suddenly lose access to supplies unexpectedly.

Any shortage of a particular component, material or compound could materially and adversely affect our ability to manufacture our products and could lead to increased 

costs to acquire such resources which could adversely affect our business and financial condition. We have in the past experienced and may in the future experience materials 

shortages and price fluctuations of certain key components, materials and compounds, and the predictability of the availability and pricing of these components, materials and 

compounds may be limited. Shortages of components, materials or compounds or pricing fluctuations could be material in the future. In the event of a components, materials or 

compounds shortage, supply interruption or material pricing change from suppliers of these components, materials or compounds, we may not be able to develop alternate 

sources in a timely manner or at all in the case of sole or limited sources. Developing alternate sources of supply for these components, materials or compounds may be time-

consuming, difficult, and costly and we may not be able to source these components, materials or compounds on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all, which may 

undermine our ability to meet our requirements or to fill customer orders in a timely manner. Any interruption or delay in the supply of any of these components, materials or 

compounds, or the inability to obtain these components, materials or compounds from alternate sources at acceptable prices and within a reasonable amount of time, would 

adversely affect our ability to
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meet our scheduled product deliveries to our customers. This could adversely affect our relationships with our customers and VARs and could cause delays in shipment of our 

products and adversely affect our operating results. In addition, increased component, material or compound costs could result in lower gross margins. Even where we are able 

to pass increased costs along to our customers, there may be a lapse of time before we are able to do so such that we must absorb the increased cost. If we are unable to buy 

these components, materials or compounds in quantities sufficient to meet our requirements on a timely basis, we will not be able to deliver products to our customers, which 

may result in such customers using competitive products instead of ours.

We have experienced minor delays on the inbound supply chain at our partners and our own facilities. Additional delays on both inbound and outbound logistics have 

also created challenges. We have been able to identify alternative solutions such that none of the issues has had a material impact on our ability to fulfill demand. If disruptions 

to global businesses continue or worsen, our business could face greater supply chain delays and difficulty shipping or receiving products and materials, which could have a 

material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

While we believe that, if necessary, we can obtain all the components necessary for our spare parts and materials from other manufacturers, we will need to guide any 

new manufacturers through evaluation processes of varying durations. Our spare parts and raw materials used in our materials production are subject to various lead times. Any 

unanticipated change in the sources of our supplies, or unanticipated supply limitations, could increase production or related costs and consequently reduce margins.

If our forecasts exceed actual orders, we may hold inventories of slow-moving or unusable parts, which could have an adverse effect on our cash flow, profitability, and 

results of operations. Inversely, we may lose orders if our forecast is low and we are unable to meet demand.

Our business model is predicated, in part, on developing or expanding recurring revenues through the sale of our hardware, consumables, and services. If that 

recurring stream of revenues does not develop as expected, or if our business model changes as the industry evolves, our operating results may be adversely 

affected.
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Our business model is dependent, in part, on our ability to develop, maintain and increase sales of our hardware, consumables, and services as they generate recurring 

revenues. Existing and future customers of our systems may not purchase our consumables and services at the same rate at which customers currently purchase those 

offerings. If our current and future customers purchase a lower
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volume of our consumables and services, resulting overall in lower purchases of consumables and services on average than with our current installed customer base, our 

recurring revenue stream relative to our total revenues would be reduced and our operating results would be adversely affected.

We rely on a limited number of third-party logistics providers for distribution of our products, and their failure to distribute our products effectively and in a cost 

effective manner would adversely affect our sales.

We rely on a limited number of third-party logistics providers for shipping our products. Each third-party logistics provider stores our products in a limited number of 

warehouses where they prepare and ship our products based on digital instructions. The use of a limited number of third-party logistics providers increases the risk that a fire or 

damage from another type of disaster at any of the warehouses may result in a disruption of our commercialization efforts. Additionally, because we use a limited number of 

third-party logistics providers, if there is a disruption in the distribution channels of such third-party logistics providers, including but not limited to any disruption caused by global 

shipping capacity, labor shortages, or if these providers continue to increase their rates, our business and financial condition could be adversely impacted.

If our third-party logistics providers do not fulfill their contractual obligations to us, or refuse or fail to adequately distribute our products, such as by shipping our products 

to the incorrect recipient, or the agreements are terminated without adequate notice, shipments of our products, and associated revenues, would be adversely affected. In 

addition, we expect that it may take a significant amount of time if we were required to change our third-party logistics providers and would require significant efforts to provide 

the systems support required for a new provider to effectively support our operations.

If demand for our products does not grow as expected, or if market adoption of additive manufacturing does not continue to develop, or develops more slowly than 

expected, our revenues may stagnate or decline, and our business may be adversely affected.

We believe that the industrial manufacturing market, which today is dominated by conventional manufacturing processes that do not involve additive manufacturing 

technology, is undergoing a shift towards additive manufacturing for end-use production as well as factory line support. We may not be able to develop effective strategies to 

raise awareness among potential customers of the benefits of additive manufacturing technologies or our products may not address the specific needs or provide the level of 

functionality required by potential customers to encourage the continuation of this shift towards additive manufacturing. We must anticipate,
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sometimes several years in advance, the direction that the additive market is taking. We may not correctly anticipate the direction, which may lead us to invest in the wrong 

products, which may adversely affect our results of operation and financial condition. If additive manufacturing technology does not continue to gain broader market acceptance 

as an alternative to conventional manufacturing processes, or if the marketplace adopts additive manufacturing technologies that differ from our technologies, we may not be 

able to increase or sustain the level of sales of our products, and our operating results would be adversely affected as a result.

Defects in new products or in enhancements to our existing products that give rise to product returns or warranty or other claims could result in material expenses, 

diversion of management time and attention and damage to our reputation.

Our additive manufacturing solutions are complex and may contain undetected defects or errors when first introduced or as enhancements are released that, despite 

testing, are not discovered until after a machine has been used. We may not know which products are affected by defects. These defects could be systemic and could affect all 

of the products we shipped prior to discovery thereof. It may not be economically feasible to identify, replace or repair all affected products. In the event that the defect is severe 

enough or impacts customer safety, a product recall may be required. This could result in delayed market acceptance of those products or claims from VARs, customers or 

others, which may result in litigation, increased customer warranty, support and repair or replacement costs, damage to our reputation and business, or significant costs and 

diversion of support, management and engineering personnel to correct the defect or error. We may from time to time become subject to warranty or product liability claims 

related to product quality issues that may require us to take remedial action and could, regardless of merit, lead us to incur significant expenses, result in diversion of 

management time and attention, damage to our business and reputation and brand, and cause us to fail to retain existing customers or fail to attract new customers.
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We attempt to include provisions in our agreements with customers that are designed to manage our exposure to potential liability for damages arising from defects or 

errors in our products. However, it is possible that these provisions may not be effective as a result of unfavorable judicial decisions or laws enacted in the future.

We may be unable to consistently manufacture our products to the necessary specifications or in quantities necessary to meet demand at an acceptable cost or at 

an acceptable performance level.
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Our products are integrated solutions with many different components that work together. As such, a quality defect in a single component can compromise the 

performance of the entire solution. As we continue to grow and introduce new products, and as our products incorporate increasingly sophisticated technology, such as our 

FX20 system, which is the largest and most complex printer we have ever developed, it will be increasingly difficult to ensure our products are produced in the necessary 

quantities without sacrificing quality. There is no assurance that we or our third-party manufacturers and any component suppliers will be able to continue to manufacture our 

products so that they consistently achieve the product specifications and quality that our customers expect. Relatedly, certain of our components are sourced by a single 

supplier and, if the supply were to become disrupted as a result of insufficient quality, service delays or any other factor, our manufacturing efforts could be adversely affected. 

Any future design issues, unforeseen manufacturing problems, such as contamination of our or such third-party facilities, equipment malfunctions, aging components, 

component obsolescence, business continuity issues, quality issues with components and materials sourced from third party suppliers, or failures to strictly follow procedures or 

meet specifications, may have a material adverse effect on our brand, business, financial condition and operating results. Furthermore, we or our third-party manufacturers may 

not be able to increase manufacturing to meet anticipated demand or may experience downtime.

In order to meet our customers’ needs, we attempt to forecast demand for our products and components used for the manufacture of our products. If we fail to 

accurately forecast this demand, we could incur additional costs or experience manufacturing delays and may experience lost sales or significant inventory carrying costs.

The risk of manufacturing defects or quality control issues is generally higher for new products, whether produced by us or a third-party manufacturer, products that are 

transitioned from one manufacturer to another, particularly if manufacturing is transitioned or initiated with a manufacturer we have not worked with in the past, and products that 

are transferred from one manufacturing facility to another. We cannot assure investors that we and our third-party manufacturers will be able to launch new products on time, 

transition manufacturing of existing products to new manufacturers, transition our manufacturing capabilities to a new location or transition manufacturing of any additional 

materials in-house without manufacturing defects. An inability to manufacture products and components that consistently meet specifications, in necessary quantities and at 

commercially acceptable costs will have a negative impact and may have a material adverse effect on our brand, business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our commercial contracts generally contain product warranties and limitations on liability and we carry liability insurance in amounts that we believe are adequate for 

our risk exposure and commensurate with industry norms. However, commercial terms and our insurance coverage may not be adequate or available to protect our company in 

all circumstances, and we might not be able to maintain adequate insurance coverage for our business in the future at an acceptable cost. Any liability claim against us that is 

not
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covered by adequate insurance could adversely affect our consolidated results of operations and financial condition. Finally, any liability claim against us may cause harm to our 

brand, reputation and adversely impact our business.

We are dependent on the continued services and performance of our senior management and other key employees, as well as on our ability to successfully hire, 

train, manage and retain qualified personnel.

Our future performance depends on the continued services and contributions of our executive team and other key employees to execute on our business plan and to 

identify and pursue new opportunities and product innovations. Such persons may resign at any time and the loss of their services could delay or prevent the successful 

implementation of our strategy, commercialization of new applications for our systems or other products, or could otherwise adversely affect our ability to manage our company 

effectively and carry out our business plan. There is no assurance that if any senior executive or other key employee leaves in the future, we will be able to rapidly replace him 

or her and transition smoothly towards his or her successor, without any adverse impact on our operations.
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Our ability to successfully pursue our growth strategy will also depend on our ability to attract, motivate and retain existing and new personnel. We experience intense 

competition for qualified senior management and other key personnel (including scientific, technical, manufacturing, engineering, financial and sales personnel) in the additive 

manufacturing industry, especially in the greater Boston area. In addition, we have experienced increased competition and shortages for skilled labor, particularly for the key 

roles noted above. These risks to attracting and retaining the necessary talent may be exacerbated by recent labor constraints and inflationary pressures on employee wages 

and benefits. Our personnel are generally employed on an at-will basis, which means that they could terminate their employment with us at any time. There can be no 

assurance that we will be able to retain our current key personnel or attract new persons to join our organization in the future. Some of our competitors for these employees 

have greater resources and more experience, making it difficult for us to compete successfully for key personnel. If our stock does not perform as well as other companies' our 

equity incentive programs may have reduced retentive value. These pressures could result in increased costs in order to provide competitive compensation packages to attract 

and retain key personnel. Moreover, new employees may not be as productive as we expect since we may face challenges in adequately integrating them into our workforce 

and culture. If we cannot attract and retain sufficiently qualified technical employees for our research product development activities, as well as experienced sales and marketing 

personnel, we may be unable to develop and commercialize new products and enhancements to existing products.
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As manufacturing becomes a larger part of our operations, we will become exposed to the accompanying risks and liabilities.

In-house and outsourced manufacturing has been and continues to be a significant part of our business. As a result, we expect to continue to be subject to various risks 

associated with the manufacturing and supply of products, including the following:

• If we fail to supply products in accordance with contractual terms, including terms related to time of delivery and performance specifications, we may be required to
repair or replace defective products and may become liable for direct, special, consequential and other damages, even if manufacturing or delivery was outsourced

• Raw materials used in the manufacturing process, labor and other key inputs may become scarce, obsolete and expensive, causing our costs to exceed cost proje
and associated revenues;

• Manufacturing processes typically involve large machinery, fuels and chemicals, any or all of which may lead to accidents involving bodily harm, destruction of faci
and environmental contamination and associated liabilities;

• As our manufacturing operations expand, we expect that a significant portion of our manufacturing will be done in regions outside the United States, either by third
contractors or in a plant owned by us. Any manufacturing done in such locations presents risks associated with quality control, currency exchange rates, foreign la
and customs, timing and loss risks associated with international transportation and potential adverse changes in the political, legal and social environment in the h
country, including the outbreak of war or sustained armed conflict in such host country or its geographic region;

• We have made, and may be required to make, representations as to our right to supply and/or license intellectual property and to our compliance with laws. Such 
representations are usually supported by indemnification provisions requiring us to defend our customers and otherwise make them whole if we license or supply 
products that infringe on third-party technologies or violate government regulations;

• As our manufacturing operations scale, so will our dependence on skilled labor at both in-house and third-party manufacturing facilities. If we are unable to obtain 
maintain skilled labor resources, we may be unable to meet customer production demands; and
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• With scaling production volume, demand for our products may make up a significant percentage of global volume in select categories or commodities. Such 
commodities could be subject to large pricing swings due to the global political, legal and social environment and could cause our costs to exceed productions and
associated revenues.

Any failure to adequately manage risks associated with the manufacture and supply of materials and products could adversely affect profits from that segment of our 

business and/or lead to significant liabilities, which would harm our brand, business, operations and financial condition.

Under applicable employment laws, we may not be able to enforce covenants not to compete and therefore may be unable to prevent our competitors from 

benefiting from the expertise of some of our former employees.

We generally enter into non-competition agreements with our employees. These agreements prohibit our employees from competing directly with us or working for our 

competitors or clients for a limited period after they cease working for us. On April 23, 2024 the U.S. Federal Trade Commission published a final rule that prohibits post-

employment non-compete clauses in agreements between employers and their employees except for existing agreements with senior executives who are paid over a threshold 
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salary amount and are involved in policy decisions for the company. Unless one of the legal challenges to the FTC’s rule-making authority is successful, the rule will become 

effective 120 days after final publication, and it will thwart our ability to enforce employment-based non-competition agreements except for existing agreement with senior 

executives. Even if the rule is invalidated by the courts, we may be unable to enforce these agreements under the laws of the jurisdictions in which our employees work and it 

may be difficult for us to restrict our competitors from benefiting from the expertise that our former employees or consultants developed while working for us.

We expect to continue to experience rapid growth and organizational change. If we fail to manage our growth effectively, we may be unable to execute our business 

plan, maintain high levels of service and customer satisfaction or attract new employees and customers.

We expect to continue to experience growth in our number of customers, sales, revenues and headcount. We expect to continue to make significant investments in our 

business, including investments in our infrastructure, software, technology, personnel headcount, facilities, marketing and sales efforts. If our business does not generate the 

level of revenue required to support our investment, our net sales and profitability will be adversely affected.
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To manage growth in our operations and personnel, we will need to continue to scale and improve our operational, financial, and management controls, and our 

reporting systems and procedures, which will require significant capital expenditures, increasing our cost of operations and the reallocation of valuable management resources. 

As we scale, it may become more difficult and will require additional capital expenditures to maintain and increase the productivity of our employees, expand production, to 

address the needs of our actual and prospective customers, to further develop and enhance our products, and remain competitive against our competitors’ products. These 

enhancements and improvements will require significant capital expenditures, investments in additional headcount and other operating expenditures and allocation of valuable 

management and employee resources, including but not limited to investments related to our facilities. Our future financial performance and our ability to execute on our 

business plan will depend, in part, on our ability to effectively manage any future growth and expansion. There are no guarantees we will be able to do so in an efficient or timely 

manner, or at all.

As we acquire and invest in companies or technologies, we may not realize expected business, technological or financial benefits and the acquisitions or 

investments could prove difficult to integrate, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value and adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial 

condition.

As part of our business strategy, we may evaluate and make investments in, or acquisitions of, complementary companies, products, software and technologies, to 

further grow and augment our business and product offerings. The success of any attempts to grow our business through acquisitions to complement our business depends in 

part on the availability of, our ability to identify, and our ability to engage and pursue suitable acquisition candidates. We may not be able to find suitable acquisition candidates, 

and we may not be able to complete acquisitions on favorable terms, if at all.

If we do complete future acquisitions, we cannot assure you that they will ultimately strengthen our competitive position or that they will be viewed positively by 

customers, financial markets or investors. Furthermore, future acquisitions could pose numerous additional risks to our operations, including:

• diversion of management’s attention from existing operations;
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• unanticipated costs or liabilities associated with the acquisition, including risks associated with acquired intellectual property and/or technologies;

• incurrence of acquisition-related costs, which would be recognized as a current period expense;

• difficulties in, and the cost of, integrating personnel and cultures, operations, technologies, products and services which may lead to failure to achieve the expected
benefits on a timely basis or at all;

• challenges in achieving strategic objectives, cost savings and other anticipated benefits;

• inability to maintain relationships with key customers, suppliers, vendors and other third parties on which the purchased business relies;

• the difficulty of incorporating acquired technology and rights into our products and product portfolio and of maintaining quality and security standards consistent wit
brand;

• ineffective controls, procedures and policies inherited from the acquired company or during the transition and integration;

• inability to generate sufficient revenue to offset acquisition and/or investment costs;

• negative impact to our results of operations because of the depreciation of amounts related to acquired intangible assets, fixed assets, and deferred compensation
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• requirements to record certain acquisition-related costs and other items as current period expenses, which would have the effect of reducing our reported earnings
the period in which an acquisition is consummated;

• recording goodwill or other long-lived asset impairment charges in the periods in which they occur, which could result in a significant charge to our earnings in any 
period, such as the goodwill impairment recorded in the third quarter of 2023;

• use of substantial portions of our available cash, issuance of dilutive equity or the incurrence of debt to consummate the acquisition;

• potential write-offs of acquired assets or investments, and potential financial and credit risks associated with acquired customers;

• tax effects and costs of any such acquisitions, including the related integration into our tax structure and assessment of the impact on the realizability of our future 
assets or liabilities;
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• the potential entry into new markets in which we have little or no experience or where competitors may have stronger market positions; and

• currency and regulatory risks associated with conducting operations in foreign countries.

We may require additional capital to support business growth, and this capital might not be available on acceptable terms, if at all.

We intend to continue to make investments to support our business growth and may require additional funds to respond to business challenges and opportunities, 

including the need to develop new features or enhance our products, improve our operating infrastructure or acquire complementary businesses and technologies. Accordingly, 

we may need to engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds if our existing sources of cash and any funds generated from operations do not provide us with 

sufficient capital. Current capital market conditions, including the impact of inflation, have increased borrowing rates and can be expected to significantly increase our cost of 

capital as compared to prior periods should we seek additional funding. Moreover, global capital markets have undergone periods of significant volatility and uncertainty in the 

past, and there can be no assurance that such financing alternatives will be available to us on favorable terms or at all, should we determine it necessary or advisable to seek 

additional capital. If we raise additional funds through future issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution, and any 

new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of holders of our common stock. Any debt financing that we may secure in the 

future could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain 

additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential acquisitions, and any new or refinanced debt may be subject to substantially higher interest rates, 

which could adversely affect our financial condition and impact our business. Recent quantitative tightening by the U.S. Federal Reserve, along with other central banks around 

the world, may further negatively affect our short-term ability or desire to incur debt. We may not be able to obtain additional financing on terms favorable to us, for example, if 

interest rates continue to rise and make debt financing prohibitively expensive, or such financing may not be available at all. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or 

financing on terms satisfactory to us when we require it, our ability to continue to support our
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business growth and to respond to business challenges and opportunities could be significantly impaired, and our business may be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Third Parties

A real or perceived defect, security vulnerability, error or performance failure in our software or technical problems or disruptions caused by our third-party service 

providers could cause us to lose revenue, damage our reputation and expose us to liability.

Our hardware products rely upon our complementary software products which are inherently complex and, despite extensive testing and quality control, have in the past 

and may in the future contain defects, vulnerabilities, or errors, especially when first introduced, or otherwise not perform as contemplated. As the use of our products, including 

products that were recently acquired or developed, expands to more sensitive, secure or mission critical uses by our customers, we may be subject to increased scrutiny, 

potential reputational risk or potential liability should our software fail to perform as contemplated in such deployments. We have in the past and may in the future need to issue 

corrective releases of our software to fix these defects, vulnerabilities, errors or performance failures and we may encounter technical problems when we attempt to perform 

routine maintenance or enhance our software, internal applications, and systems, which could require us to allocate significant research and development and customer support 

resources to address these problems and divert the focus of our management and research and development teams. In addition, our platform may be negatively impacted by 

technical or security issues experienced by our third-party service providers.
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Our business, brands, reputation and ability to attract and retain customers depend upon the satisfactory performance, reliability and availability and security of our 

software products, which in turn, with respect to our planned software as a service (“SaaS”) offerings depend upon the availability and security of the internet and our third-party 

service providers. For example, for our SaaS offerings we outsource our cloud infrastructure to Amazon Web Services (“AWS”), our hosting provider, which hosts our software 

products. Our hosting provider runs its own platforms upon which our products depend, and we are, therefore, vulnerable to service interruptions at the hosting provider level. 

We do not control the operation of any of AWS’ data center hosting facilities, and they may be subject to damage, compromise, or interruption from earthquakes, floods, fires, 

power loss, telecommunications failures, terrorist attacks and similar events. They may also be subject to damage, compromise, or interruptions due to system failures, 

cybersecurity incidents, compromises, or vulnerabilities (including system-encrypting ransomware), software errors or subject to breaches of computer hardware and software 

security, break-ins, sabotage, intentional acts of vandalism and similar misconduct. And while we rely on service level agreements with our hosting provider, if they do not 

properly maintain their infrastructure or if they incur unplanned outages, our customers may experience performance issues or unexpected interruptions and we may not meet 

our service level agreement terms with our customers. We have experienced, and expect that in the future we may experience interruptions, delays and outages in service and 

availability from time to time due to a variety of factors, including infrastructure changes, human or software errors, website hosting disruptions and capacity constraints.
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Any inefficiencies, security vulnerabilities, errors, defects, technical problems or performance failures with our software, internal applications, systems or infrastructure, 

or those of our third-party providers, could reduce the quality of our products or interfere with our customers’ (and their users’) use of our products, which could negatively 

impact our brand and reputation, reduce demand, lead to a loss of customers or revenue, adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition, increase our costs to 

resolve such issues and subject us to financial penalties and liabilities under our service level agreements. Any limitation of liability provisions that may be contained in our 

customer agreements may not be effective as a result of existing or future applicable law or unfavorable judicial decisions. The sale and support of our products entail the risk of 

liability claims, which could be substantial in light of the use of our products in enterprise-wide environments. In addition, our insurance against this liability may not be adequate 

to cover a potential claim.

We depend on a limited number of third-party contract manufacturers for a substantial portion of all of our manufacturing needs and any delay, disruption or quality 

control problems in their operations, could cause harm to our operations, including loss of market share and damage to our brand.

We depend on third-party contract manufacturers for the production of our 3D printers and on third-party suppliers for the components and raw materials used in our 

products. While there are several potential manufacturers for most of these products, all of our products are manufactured, assembled, tested and generally packaged by a 

limited number of third-party manufacturers and several single source providers of certain supplies. In most cases, we rely on these manufacturers to procure components and, 

in some cases, subcontract engineering work. Our reliance on a limited number of contract manufacturers involves a number of risks, including:

• unexpected increases in manufacturing and repair costs;

• inability to control the quality and reliability of products;

• inability to control delivery schedules;
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• potential liability for expenses incurred by third-party contract manufacturers in reliance on our forecasts that later prove to be inaccurate;

• potential lack of adequate capacity to manufacture all or a part of the products we require;

• potential labor unrest affecting the ability of the third-party manufacturers to produce our products; and

• unexpected component or process obsolescence making key components unavailable.

If any of our third-party contract manufacturers experience a delay, disruption or quality control problems in their operations, including due to global supply chain 

disruptions, or if a primary third-party contract manufacturer does not renew its agreement with us, our operations could be significantly disrupted and our product shipments 

could be delayed. Qualifying a new manufacturer and commencing volume production is expensive and time consuming. Ensuring that a contract manufacturer is qualified to 

manufacture our products to our standards is time consuming. In addition, there is no assurance that a contract manufacturer can scale its production of our products at the 

volumes and in the quality that we require. If a contract manufacturer is unable to do these things, we may have to move production for the products to a new or existing third-

party manufacturer, which would take significant effort and our brand, business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected. Finally, if a 
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contract manufacturer producing a highly specified product changes its materials or is unable to meet our production demands, it could lead to specification changes, increased 

lead time or cancellation of the product.

As we contemplate moving manufacturing into different jurisdictions, we may be subject to additional significant challenges in ensuring that quality, processes, and 

costs, among other issues, are consistent with our expectations. If such jurisdictions are outside the U.S., we may also face significant challenges regarding compliance with law 

in such jurisdictions as well as export control laws of such jurisdictions and the U.S., as more fully described in the section “Risk Factors – Risks Related to International 

Operations” as well as risks associated with quality control, currency exchange rates, foreign laws and customs, timing and loss risks associated with international transportation 

and potential adverse changes in the political, legal and social environment in the jurisdiction, including the outbreak of war or sustained armed conflict in such jurisdiction or 

geographic region.

In addition, because we use a limited number of third-party contract manufacturers, increases in the prices charged may have an adverse effect on our results of 

operations, as we may be unable to find a contract manufacturer who can supply us at a lower price. As a result, the loss of a limited source supplier could adversely affect our 

relationships with our customers and our results of operations and financial condition.

All of our products must satisfy safety and regulatory standards and some of our products must also receive government certifications. We rely on third-party providers 

to conduct the tests that support our applications for most regulatory approvals for our
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products. As part of the certification process, our third-party contract manufacturers are subject to audit and must receive approvals from third-parties providing such 

certifications. Failure to meet these certifications by our third-party contract manufacturers could adversely impact our business. Moreover, if our third-party contract 

manufacturers fail to timely and accurately conduct the tests supporting our applications for regulatory approvals, we may be unable to obtain the necessary domestic or foreign 

regulatory approvals or certifications to sell our products in certain jurisdictions. As a result, we would be unable to sell our products and our sales and profitability could be 

reduced, our relationships with our sales channel could be harmed and our reputation and brand would suffer.

Our manufacturing facility and those of our third-party contract manufacturers and suppliers, as well as our customers’ facilities and our third-party logistics 

providers, are vulnerable to disruption due to natural or other disasters, strikes and other events beyond our control.

A major earthquake, fire, tsunami, hurricane, cyclone or other disaster, such as a major flood, seasonal storms, nuclear event, war, sustained armed conflict, such as 

Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, the armed conflict in Israel, Gaza and the Middle East generally or terrorist attack affecting our facilities or the areas in which they are located, or 

affecting those of our customers or third-party manufacturers, suppliers or fulfillment centers, could significantly disrupt our or their operations and delay or prevent product 

shipment or installation during the time required to repair, rebuild or replace our or their damaged manufacturing facilities. These delays could be lengthy and costly. In order to 

maintain our production timelines and supply chains throughout the world, including with our recently added third party manufacturer in Israel, we may be required to develop 

alternative infrastructure and we may not be able to avoid interruptions or additional costs. If any of our facilities, or those of our third-party contract manufacturers, suppliers, 

third-party logistics providers or customers are negatively impacted by such a disaster, production, shipment and installation of our additive manufacturing machines could be 

delayed, which can impact the period in which we recognize the revenue related to that additive manufacturing machine sale. Additionally, customers may delay purchases of 

our products until operations return to normal. Even if we are able to respond quickly to a disaster, the continued effects of the disaster could create uncertainty in our business 

operations. We have no way to predict the progress or outcome of these situations, including any impact on the rest of the world, as
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the conflicts and government reactions are rapidly developing. In addition, concerns about terrorism, the effects of a terrorist attack, political turmoil, labor strikes, war or the 

outbreak of epidemic or pandemic diseases could have a negative effect on our operations and sales.

Risks Related to International Operations

Our existing and planned global operations subject us to a variety of risks and uncertainties that could adversely affect our business and operating results. Our 

business is subject to risks associated with selling machines and other products in non-United States locations.

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

65/93

Our products and services are distributed across the world, and we derive a substantial percentage of our sales from these international markets. Accordingly, we face 

significant operational risks from doing business internationally.

Our operating results may be affected by volatility in currency exchange rates and our ability to effectively manage our currency transaction risks. Although we currently 

invoice customers in United States dollars, increases in the value of the dollar relative to foreign currencies may make our products less attractive to foreign customers. We may 

also incur currency transaction risks if we were to enter into either a purchase or a sale transaction using a different currency from the currency in which we report revenues. In 

such cases we may suffer an exchange loss because we do not currently engage in currency swaps or other currency hedging strategies to address this risk. As we realize our 

strategy to expand internationally, our exposure to currency risks may increase. Given the volatility of exchange rates, we can give no assurance that we will be able to 

effectively manage our currency transaction risks or that any volatility in currency exchange rates will not have an adverse effect on our results of operations.

The shipments of our products to foreign customers and/or end-users may be subject to tariffs and other restrictions imposed by the destination countries. As we 

procure equipment and materials from foreign suppliers, we may be required to pay import duties and comply with regulations imposed by the U.S. Customs and Border 

Protection. Both the U.S. and foreign tariff rates and import restrictions may change from time to time, which could adversely impact our global operations, for example, by 

decreasing the price competitiveness of our products in foreign markets and/or by increasing our manufacturing costs.

Other risks and uncertainties we face from our global operations include:

• difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations;

• limited protection for the enforcement of contract and intellectual property rights in certain countries where we may sell our products or work with suppliers or other
parties;
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• potentially longer sales and payment cycles and potentially greater difficulties in collecting accounts receivable;

• costs and difficulties of customizing products for foreign countries;

• challenges in providing solutions across a significant distance, in different languages and among different cultures;

• laws and business practices favoring local competition;

• being subject to a wide variety of complex foreign laws, treaties and regulations and adjusting to any unexpected changes in such laws, treaties and regulations, 
including local labor laws;

• strict laws and regulations governing privacy and data security, including the European Union’s and the United Kingdom’s General Data Protection Regulation;

• uncertainty and resultant political, financial and market instability arising from the United Kingdom’s exit from the European Union;

• compliance with U.S. laws affecting activities of U.S. companies abroad, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act;

• tariffs, trade barriers and other regulatory or contractual limitations on our ability to sell or develop our products in certain foreign markets;

• operating in countries with a higher incidence of corruption and fraudulent business practices;

• changes in regulatory requirements, including export controls, tariffs and embargoes, other trade restrictions, competition, corporate practices and data privacy 
concerns;

• failure by our VARs or other distribution partners to comply with local laws or regulations, export controls, tariffs and embargoes or other trade restrictions;
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• potential adverse tax consequences arising from global operations;

• seasonal reductions in business activity in certain parts of the world, particularly during the summer months in Europe and at year end globally;

• rapid changes in government, economic and political policies and conditions; and

• political or civil unrest or instability, terrorism or epidemics and other similar outbreaks or events.

In addition, additive manufacturing has been identified by the U.S. government as an emerging technology and is currently being further evaluated for national security 

impacts. We expect additional regulatory changes to be implemented that will result in increased and/or new export controls related to additive manufacturing technologies, 
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components and related materials and software. These changes, if implemented, may result in our being required to obtain additional approvals and/or licenses to sell 3D 

printers in the global market.

Our failure to effectively manage the risks and uncertainties associated with our global operations could limit the future growth of our business and adversely affect our 

business and operating results.

 

The effects of regulations relating to foreign trade, manufacturing, development and investment may adversely impact our business.

Changes in U.S. social, political, regulatory and economic conditions or in laws and policies governing foreign trade, manufacturing, development and investment could 

also adversely affect our business. In particular, on June 23, 2016, the U.K. held a referendum in which a majority of the eligible members of the electorate voted to leave the 

EU, commonly referred to as Brexit. Pursuant to Article 50 of the Treaty on EU, the U.K. ceased being a member state of the EU on January 31, 2020. The implementation 

period began February 1, 2020 and continued until December 31, 2020, during which the U.K. continued to follow all of the EU’s rules, and the U.K.’s trading relationship 

remained the same. The U.K. and the EU have signed an EU-UK Trade and Cooperation Agreement, or TCA, which became provisionally applicable on January 1, 2021 and 

then formally entered into force on May 1, 2021 after being ratified by both the U.K. and the EU. This agreement provides details on how some aspects of the U.K. and EU’s 

relationship will operate going forwards however there are still many uncertainties and how the TCA will take effect in practice is still largely unknown. Additionally, there is a risk 

that other countries may decide to leave the European Union. This uncertainty surrounding this transition not only potentially affects our business in the United Kingdom and the 

European Union, but also may have an effect on global economic conditions and the stability of global financial markets, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on 

our business, financial condition and results of operations. In extreme cases, we could experience interruptions in production
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due to the processing of customs formalities or reduced customer spending in the wake of weaker economic performance. If global economic conditions remain volatile for a 

prolonged period or if European economies experience further disruptions, our results of operations could be adversely affected. In addition, the armed conflicts involving 

Russia and Ukraine may have direct and indirect effects on global economic conditions and the stability of global financial markets, which could also have a material adverse 

effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Rising inflation rates could negatively impact our revenues and profitability if increases in the prices of our services or a decrease in consumer spending results in 

lower sales. In addition, if our costs increase and we are not able to pass along these price increases to our customers, our net profit (loss) would be adversely 

affected, and the adverse impact may be material.

Inflation rates, particularly in the United States, have increased recently to levels not seen in years. Increased inflation may result in decreased demand for our products 

and services, increased operating costs (including our labor costs), reduced liquidity, and limitations on our ability to access credit or otherwise raise debt and equity capital. In 

addition, the United States Federal Reserve has raised, and may again raise, interest rates in response to concerns about inflation. Increases in interest rates, especially if 

coupled with reduced government spending and volatility in financial markets, may have the effect of further increasing economic uncertainty and heightening these risks. In an 

inflationary environment, we may be unable to raise the sales prices of our products and services at or above the rate at which our costs increase, which could reduce our profit 

margins and have a material adverse effect on our financial results and net profit (loss). We also may experience lower than expected sales and potential adverse impacts on 

our competitive position if there is a decrease in consumer spending or a negative reaction to our pricing. A reduction in our revenue would be detrimental to our profitability and 

financial condition and could also have an adverse impact on our future growth.

The effects of regulations relating to conflict minerals may adversely affect our business.

Pursuant to Section 1502 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, the SEC adopted requirements for companies that use certain 

minerals and metals, known as conflict minerals, in their products, whether or not these products are manufactured by third parties. These requirements require companies to 

research, disclose and report whether or not such
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minerals originate from the Democratic Republic of Congo and adjoining countries. The implementation of these requirements could adversely affect the sourcing, availability 

and pricing of such minerals if they are found to be used in the manufacture of our products, including our 3D printers or materials. In addition, we expect to continue to incur 

additional costs to comply with the disclosure requirements, including costs related to determining the source of any of the relevant minerals and metals used in our products. 

Since our supply chain is complex, we may not be able to sufficiently verify the origins for these minerals and metals used in our products through the due diligence procedures 

that we implement, which may harm our reputation. In such event, we may also face difficulties in satisfying customers who require that all of the components of our products 

are certified as conflict mineral free.

Risks Related to Sales of Products to U.S. and Foreign Governments

A significant portion of our business depends on sales to the public sector, and our failure to receive and maintain government contracts or changes in the 

contracting or fiscal policies of the public sector could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue from contracts that we have, either directly or through distribution partners and VARs, with federal, state, local and foreign 

governments and government agencies, and we believe that the success and growth of our business will continue to depend on our successful procurement of government 

contracts. For example, we have historically derived, and expect to continue to derive, a significant portion of our revenue from sales to agencies of the U.S. federal government 

and governments of other nations, either directly by us or through other distribution partners. Sales to such governments and their agencies are subject to a number of 

challenges and risks. The procurement process for governments and their agencies is highly competitive, time-consuming, and may, in certain circumstances, be subject to 

political influence. We incur significant up-front time and expense, which subjects us to additional compliance risks and costs, without any assurance that we (or a third-party 

distributor or reseller) will win a contract.

Accordingly, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects may be adversely affected by certain events or activities, including, but not limited to:

• changes in fiscal or contracting policies or decrease in available government funding;

• changes in government programs or applicable requirements;

• changes in the political environment, including before or after a change to the leadership within the government administration, and any resulting uncertainty or cha
in policy or priorities and resultant funding;
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• appeals, disputes or litigation relating to government procurement, including but not limited to bid protests by unsuccessful bidders on potential or actual awards of
contracts to us or our partners by the government;

• the adoption of new laws or regulations or changes to existing laws or regulations;

• budgetary constraints, including automatic reductions as a result of “sequestration” or similar measures and constraints imposed by lapses in appropriations for the
federal government or certain of its departments and agencies;

• influence by, or competition from, third parties with respect to pending, new or existing contracts with government customers;

• potential delays or changes in the government appropriations or procurement processes, including as a result of events such as war, incidents of terrorism, natura
disasters, and public health concerns or epidemics, such as the COVID-19 pandemic; and

• increased or unexpected costs or unanticipated delays caused by other factors outside of our control, such as performance failures of our partners and subcontrac

Any such event or activity, among others, could cause governments and governmental agencies to delay or refrain from purchasing our products and services in the 

future, reduce the size or payment amounts of purchases from existing or new government customers, or otherwise have an adverse effect on our business, results of 

operations, financial condition and prospects.

Government programs are limited by budgetary constraints and political considerations and are subject to uncertain future funding levels that could result in the 

termination of programs.

Government agency and department purchases are often strategic in nature and large in size. Therefore, reductions in funding levels that impact our customers could 

negatively affect the size of our customers’ orders or lead to cancellation of orders. Government contracts are often subject to more extensive scrutiny and publicity than 

commercial contracts. The number and terms of new government contracts signed can be affected significantly by political and economic factors, such as pending elections and 

revisions to government tax policies. Negative publicity related to our government contracts, regardless of its accuracy, may damage
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our business by affecting our ability to compete for new contracts. A decline in security-related government spending for any reason, or a shift away from programs that we 

address, could hurt our sales, put pressure on our prices and reduce our revenue and margins. Relatedly, the use of our products by militaries or other government agencies or 

departments in a way that is perceived negatively by the public could adversely affect our business and reputation.

A multi-year U.S. government program may be implemented through the award of many different individual contracts, grants, cooperative agreements and subcontracts 

or other subawards. For U.S. government programs, program funding is subject to congressional appropriations. Congress generally appropriates funds on a fiscal year basis 

even though a program may continue for several years. Government programs are often only partially funded initially, and additional funds are committed only as Congress 

makes further appropriations. The termination of a program or failure to commit funds to a program would result in a loss of anticipated future revenue attributable to that 

program, which could materially harm our business.

We are subject to audits by the U.S. government which could adversely affect our business.

U.S. government agencies routinely audit and investigate government contractors to monitor performance, cost allocations, cost accounting and compliance with 

applicable laws, regulations and standards. Since some of our contracts provide for cost reimbursement, the U.S. government has the right to audit our costs even after job 

completion and after we have billed and recognized the corresponding revenue. The U.S. government also may review the adequacy of, and a contractor’s compliance with, its 

internal control systems and policies, including the contractor’s purchasing, property, estimating, compensation and management information systems. Any costs found to be 

improperly allowed or improperly allocated to a specific contract will not be reimbursed, and any such costs that have already been reimbursed must be refunded, which would 

affect associated revenue that had already been recognized. While we intend to implement uniform procurement and compliance programs for all of our business, we may be 

subject to more risks from these audits until we are able to implement such a program effectively.

Responding to governmental audits, inquiries or investigations may involve significant expense and divert the attention of our management. If a government review or 

investigation uncovers improper or illegal activities, we may be subject to civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions, including termination of contracts, forfeiture of 

profits, suspension of payments, damages, fines and suspension or debarment from doing business with U.S. government agencies. In addition, our reputation could be 

seriously harmed by allegations of impropriety, even if unfounded. Our internal controls may not prevent or detect all improper or illegal activities.
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Our business is subject to laws and regulations that are more restrictive because we are a contractor and subcontractor to the U.S. government.

As a contractor and subcontractor to the U.S. government, we are subject to various laws and regulations that are more restrictive than those applicable to non-

government contractors, including the Federal Acquisition Regulations and its supplements, which comprehensively regulate the formation, administration and performance of 

U.S. government contracts, and the Truth in Negotiations Act and various other laws, which require certain certifications and disclosures. These laws and regulations, among 

other things:

• require that we obtain and maintain material governmental authorizations and approvals to conduct our business as it is currently conducted;

• require certification and disclosure of cost and pricing data in connection with certain contract negotiations;

• impose rules that define allowable and unallowable costs and otherwise govern our right to reimbursement under certain cost-based U.S. government contracts;

• restrict the use and dissemination of information classified for national security purposes and the export of certain products and technical data; and

• impose requirements relating to ethics and business practices, which carry penalties for noncompliance ranging from monetary fines and damages to loss of the a
to do business with the U.S. government as a prime contractor or subcontractor.

In addition, we may be subject to industrial security regulations of the U.S. Department of Defense and other federal agencies that are designed to safeguard against 

unauthorized access by foreigners and others to classified and other sensitive U.S. government information. If we were to come under foreign ownership, control or influence, 

our U.S. government customers could terminate, or decide not to renew, our contracts, or we may be subjected to burdensome industrial security compliance measures. Such a 

situation could impair our ability to obtain new contracts and subcontracts. The government may also change its procurement practices or adopt new contracting rules and 

regulations that could be costly to satisfy or that could impair our ability to obtain new contracts.
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Our contracts and those of our VARs with governments may impose requirements that may be unfavorable to us and that may have a material adverse effect on our 

growth prospects and operating results.

Most of our sales to government entities have been made indirectly through our VARs and other distribution partners. In some cases, we have entered contracts directly 

with government customers. There are inherent risks in contracting with governments and their agencies. Government customers can typically terminate, reduce orders under 

or otherwise modify any of its contracts with us or our VARs for its convenience (i.e., without cause) whether or not we have failed to perform under the terms of the applicable 

contract. In such case, the government would not be required to pay our VARs or us for the lost profits for the unperformed work. A termination arising out of our VARs or our 

default could expose our VARs or us to liability and harm our VARs or our ability to compete for future contracts and orders. In addition to unfavorable termination provisions, our 

VARs or our U.S. government contracts and related regulations contain provisions that allow the U.S. government to unilaterally suspend our VARs or us from receiving new 

contracts pending resolution of alleged violations of procurement laws or regulations, reduce the value of existing contracts, issue modifications to a contract and potentially 

restrict exports of our products, services and associated materials.

Our VARs or our contracts with government agencies may subject our VARs or us to other risks and give the government additional rights and remedies not typically 

found in commercial contracts, including rights that allow the government to, for example:

• obtain detailed cost or pricing information;

• receive “most favored customer” pricing;

• require us to prioritize orders from our government customers above our other customers’ existing orders, which we may fail to do and, even if we do prioritize suc
orders, may impact our relationships with our other customers;

• perform routine audits;

• impose equal employment and hiring standards;

• require products to be manufactured in specified countries;

• restrict non-U.S. ownership or investment in our company; and/or

• pursue administrative, civil or criminal remedies for contractual violations.
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These rights and remedies have the potential to limit our VARs or our sales to, and increase our VARs or our costs of, doing business with both government and 

commercial customers, which could materially adversely affect our growth prospects and operating results.

Additionally, we sometimes rely on our VARs and other distribution partners to satisfy certain regulatory obligations that we would otherwise have to satisfy if we sold 

directly to the government entities, and our VARs and other distribution partners may be unable or unwilling to satisfy these obligations in the future. In the event of such 

termination or change, it may be difficult for us to arrange for another VAR or other distribution partner to sell our solutions to these government entities in a timely manner, and 

we could lose sales opportunities during the transition.

Risks Related to Litigation and Liability

We are, and have been in the recent past, subject to business and intellectual property litigation.

The additive manufacturing industry has been, and may continue to be, litigious, particularly with respect to intellectual property claims. We have been in the recent past 

involved in litigation, and we could be involved in additional litigation in the future.

In particular, in July 2021, Continuous Composites filed a patent-infringement case against us in the United States District Court of Delaware. On April 11, 2024, the jury 

returned a verdict against us in the amount of $17.3 million. The jury found one of the two patent claims Continuous Composites asserted at trial against us to be invalid and no 

infringement was found. However, the jury found that we had infringed the other patent claim and awarded monetary damages. While we cannot predict what additional action 

Continuous Composites may take, it is possible that they may seek additional relief through post-trial motions for royalty payments on future revenue, which could materially 

impact our business and operations. As discussed elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we disagree with this verdict and intend to seek to overturn the verdict in 

post-trial motions with the District Court and are exploring all available options, including seeking to overturn the verdict and any resulting judgment through the appeals 

process, but cannot predict the outcome of any such efforts.
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In order to protect our intellectual property rights in the Continuous Composites litigation described above, or in any other similar claims in the future, we may be 

required to spend significant resources to monitor, protect, and defend these rights, and we
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may or may not be able to detect infringement by our customers or third parties. Litigation has been and may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights 

and to protect our trade secrets. Such litigation, regardless of merit, can be costly, time consuming, and distracting to management and key technical personnel, and can result 

in the impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual property. Furthermore, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims, and 

countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights. Our inability to protect our proprietary technology against unauthorized copying or use, as 

well as any costly litigation or diversion of our management’s attention and resources, could delay further sales or the implementation of our platform, impair the functionality of 

our platform, delay introductions of new features, integrations, and capabilities, result in our substituting inferior or more costly technologies into our platform, or injure our 

reputation. In addition, we may be required to license or pay royalties on additional technology from third parties to develop and market new features, integrations, and 

capabilities, and we cannot be certain that we could license that technology on commercially reasonable terms or at all, and our inability to license this technology could harm 

our ability to compete.

As part of any settlement or other compromise to avoid complex, protracted litigation, we may agree not to pursue future claims against a third party, including related to 

alleged infringement of our intellectual property rights. Part of any settlement or other compromise with another party may resolve a potentially costly dispute but may also have 

future repercussions on our ability to defend and protect our intellectual property rights, which in turn could adversely affect our business. Moreover, our potential liabilities are 

subject to change over time due to new developments, changes in settlement strategy or the impact of evidentiary requirements. Regardless of the outcome, litigation has 

resulted in the past, and may result in the future, in significant legal expenses and require significant attention and resources of management. As a result, any present or future 

litigation that may be brought against us by any third party could result in reputational harm, losses, damages and expenses that may have a significant adverse effect on our 

financial condition.

We could be subject to personal injury, property damage, product liability, warranty and other claims involving allegedly defective products that we supply.

The products we supply are sometimes used in potentially hazardous or critical applications, such as the assembled parts of an aircraft, medical device or automobile. 

The sale of our products and the provision of related services in general, and to customers in the foregoing industries in particular, exposes us to possible claims for property 

damage and personal injury or death, which may result from the use of these end-use parts.

While we have not experienced any such claims to date, actual or claimed defects in the products we supply could result in our being named as a defendant in lawsuits 

asserting potentially large claims. We may be potentially liable, in significant amounts, and face significant harm to our reputation if an aircraft, medical or automotive part, 

component or accessory or any other aviation, medical or automotive product that we have sold, produced or repaired fails due to our fault, in whole or in part, or if an aircraft or 

automobile for which we have provided services or in which their parts are installed crashes, and the cause can be linked to those parts or cannot be determined. A similar risk 

arises in connection with sales of our products to customers in the aerospace industry to the extent that the parts produced by those products do not function properly and are 

responsible for damages. Our commercial contracts generally contain product warranties and limitations on liability and we carry liability insurance in amounts that we believe 

are adequate for our risk exposure and commensurate with industry norms. While we intend to monitor our insurance coverage as our business continues to grow, claims may 

arise in the future, and that insurance coverage may not be adequate or available to protect our consolidated company in all circumstances. Additionally, we might not be able to 

maintain adequate insurance coverage for our business in the future at an acceptable cost. Any liability claim against us that is not covered by adequate insurance could 

adversely affect our consolidated results of operations and financial condition. Finally, any liability claim against us may cause harm to our brand, reputation and adversely 

impact our business.

We could face liability if our additive manufacturing solutions are used by our customers to print dangerous objects.

Customers may use our 3D printers to print parts that could be used in a harmful way or could otherwise be dangerous. For example, there have been news reports that 

additive manufacturing machines were used to print guns or other weapons. We have little, if any, control over what objects our customers print using our products, and it may 

be difficult, if not impossible, for us to monitor and prevent customers from printing weapons with our products. Additionally, individuals or entities unaffiliated with us could 

disseminate plans or digital files that could be used with our products to produce parts and items that could be deemed illegal or harmful. While we have never printed weapons 

on any printers in our offices, there can be no assurance that we will not be held liable if someone were injured or killed by a weapon printed by a third party using one of our 

products. Additionally, association of such an incident with our products may cause harm to our brand reputation and adversely impact our business.

Third parties may produce or sell counterfeit or imitation versions of our materials or components.
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Third parties may sell counterfeit or imitation versions of our materials or components that are inferior or pose safety risks. If consumers confuse these counterfeit 

products or materials for our products or materials or have a bad experience with the counterfeit products or materials, they might refrain from purchasing our products or 

materials in the future, which could harm our reputation and sales. Further, if third parties develop materials that compete favorably on price, and/or meet or exceed the quality 

and performance of our own materials, we may lose recurring revenue from lost sales of our materials. If we do not maintain favorable perceptions of our products and 

materials, and if we are unable to compete successfully with third party manufacturers of materials, our brand, business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows 

could be adversely impacted.
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Failure of our global operations to comply with anti-corruption laws and various trade restrictions, such as sanctions and export controls, could have an adverse 

effect on our business.

We operate in a number of countries throughout the world, including countries known to have a reputation for corruption. Doing business on a global basis requires us to 

comply with anti-corruption laws and regulations imposed by governments around the world with jurisdiction over our operations, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices 

Act and the U.K. Bribery Act 2010, as well as the laws of the countries where we do business.

We are also subject to various trade restrictions, including trade and economic sanctions and export controls, imposed by governments around the world with jurisdiction 

over our operations. For example, in accordance with trade sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control and the U.S. Department of Commerce, we are 

prohibited from engaging in transactions involving certain persons and certain designated countries or territories, including Cuba, Iran, Syria, North Korea and the Crimea 

Region of Ukraine. In light of the conflicts between Russia and Ukraine, we are also prohibited from engaging in transactions involving persons and entities located or 

headquartered in the so-called Donetsk and Luhansk People’s Republics (DNR and LNR). In addition, our products are subject to export regulations that can involve significant 

compliance time and may add additional overhead cost to our products. In recent years the United States government has a renewed focus on export matters. For example, the 

Export Control Reform Act of 2018 and regulatory guidance thereunder have imposed additional controls, and may result in the imposition of further additional controls, on the 

export of certain “emerging and foundational technologies.” Our current and future products may be subject to these heightened regulations, which could increase our 

compliance costs. For instance, recent amendments to the U.S. Export Administration Regulations (“EAR”) increased restrictions on exports to certain “military end-users” and 

for “military end-uses” by certain persons in Belarus, Burma, Cambodia, China, Iraq, Nicaragua, Russia, or Venezuela, which requires us to perform due diligence on customers 

and end-users in those countries for potential military connections.

We also need to monitor the changes in export-related laws and regulations, such as International Traffic in Arms Regulations (“ITAR”), and their applicability to our 

products and services. If our products or services become subject to the ITAR, we will be required to implement ITAR compliance policies and procedures and we may also be 

required to obtain licenses, clearances, or authorizations from various regulatory entities. Even in the absence of changes in the ITAR, some of our products, services, or 

activities may become subject to the ITAR if, for example, we customize them for certain customers in the defense and aerospace industries or if we receive ITAR-controlled 

information from customers or other parties. If we are not allowed to export our products or services or to engage in certain controlled activities, or if the clearance process is 

burdensome, our ability to generate revenue would be adversely affected and our operating costs could increase.

In addition, international sales of certain of our products may be subject to local laws and regulations in foreign jurisdictions which we may not be familiar with. We may 

not be allowed to ship our products to certain countries without meeting their local laws and regulations. The failure to comply with any of these laws or regulations could 

adversely affect our ability to conduct our business and generate revenues.

We are committed to doing business in accordance with applicable anti-corruption laws and regulations and with applicable trade restrictions. We are subject, however, 

to the risk that our affiliated entities or our and our affiliates’ respective officers, directors, employees and agents (including distributors and VARs of our products) may take 

action determined to be in violation of such laws and regulations. Any violation by us or by any of these persons could result in substantial fines, sanctions, civil and/or criminal 

penalties, or curtailment of operations in certain jurisdictions, and might adversely affect our operating results. In addition, actual or alleged violations could damage our 

reputation and ability to do business.
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Although we take precautions to prevent violations of applicable anti-corruption laws and regulations and applicable trade restrictions, we may have exported products 

in the past in apparent violation of the EAR. If we are found to be in violation of U.S. export control laws, it could result in substantial fines and penalties for us and for the 

individuals working for us. We may also be adversely affected through other penalties, reputational harm, loss of access to certain markets or otherwise.
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We are subject to environmental, health and safety laws and regulations related to our operations and the use of our 3D printers and materials, which could subject 

us to compliance costs and/or potential liability.

We are subject to domestic and foreign environmental, health and safety laws and regulations governing our operations. A certain risk of environmental liability is 

inherent in our production activities. These laws and regulations govern, among other things, the generation, use, storage, registration, handling, transport and disposal of 

chemicals and waste materials, the presence of specified substances in electrical products; the emission and discharge of hazardous materials into the ground, air or water; the 

investigation and cleanup of contaminated sites, including any contamination that results from spills due to our failure to properly dispose of chemicals and other waste materials 

and the health and safety of our employees. As such, our operations, including our production activities, carry an inherent risk of environmental, health and safety liabilities. 

Under these laws and regulations, we could be subject to liability
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for improper disposal of chemicals and waste materials, including those resulting from the use of our systems and accompanying materials by end-users. Accidents or other 

incidents that occur at our facilities or involve our personnel or operations could result in claims for damages against us. In the event we are found to be financially responsible, 

as a result of environmental or other laws or by court order, for environmental damages alleged to have been caused by us or occurring on our premises, we could be required 

to pay substantial monetary damages or undertake expensive remedial obligations. If our operations fail to comply with such laws or regulations, we may be subject to fines and 

other civil, administrative or criminal sanctions, including the revocation of permits and licenses necessary to continue our business activities, or may be required to make 

significant expenditures to achieve compliance. In addition, we may be required to pay damages or civil judgments in respect of third-party claims, including those relating to 

personal injury (including exposure to hazardous substances that we generate, use, store, handle, transport, manufacture or dispose of), property damage or contribution 

claims. Some environmental laws allow for strict, joint and several liabilities for remediation costs, regardless of fault. We may be identified as a potentially responsible party 

under such laws. The amount of any costs, including fines or damages payments that we might incur under such circumstances could substantially exceed any insurance we 

have to cover such losses. Any of these events, alone or in combination, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations and 

could adversely affect our reputation.

We may be subject to environmental laws and regulations including, without limitation, the United States Toxic Substances Control Act (“TSCA”) and the Registration, 

Evaluation, Authorization and Restriction of Chemical Substances (“REACH”) concerning the use, import and export of chemicals and hazardous substances, such as 

chlorinated solvents. Other countries may have more stringent requirements that lead to increased costs, which could have material adverse effect on our business, financial 

conditions, and results of operations. These laws and regulations require the testing and registration of some chemicals that we ship along with, or that form a part of, our 

systems and other products. If we fail to comply with these or similar laws and regulations, we may be required to make significant expenditures to reformulate the chemicals 

that we use in our products and materials or incur costs to register such chemicals to gain and/or regain compliance. We could also be subject to significant fines or other civil 

and criminal penalties should we not achieve such compliance. Additionally, customer sentiment regarding the use of certain chemicals and hazardous substances could 

negatively impact our ability to sell certain products.

The cost of complying with current and future environmental, health and safety laws applicable to our operations, or the liabilities arising from releases of, or exposure 

to, hazardous substances, may result in future expenditures. Any of these developments, alone or in combination, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial 

condition and results of operations.

Aspects of our business are subject to laws and regulations governing privacy and data security. Changes in laws, regulations, and public perception concerning 

data protection and privacy, or changes in the interpretation or patterns of enforcement of existing laws and regulations, could impair our efforts to maintain and 

expand our customer base or the ability of our customers to use our services. Breaches of laws and regulations concerning data protection and privacy could 

expose us to significant fines and other penalties.
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We hold personal information about a variety of individuals, such as our employees, prospects, and our customers. Processing of personal information is increasingly 

subject to legislation and regulation in numerous jurisdictions around the world.

For example, relevant applicable laws and regulations governing the collection, use, disclosure or other processing of personal information include, in the United States, 

rules and regulations promulgated under the authority of the Federal Trade Commission, the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (the “CCPA”) and similar state privacy 

laws, and state breach notification laws. In particular, the CCPA, among other things, establishes comprehensive data privacy rights for California consumers and imposes 

certain requirements on how businesses can collect and use personal information about such individuals. The CCPA provides for civil penalties for violations, as well as a 

private right of action for certain data breaches that result in the loss of personal information. This private right of action may increase the likelihood of, and risks associated with, 

data breach litigation.

The California Privacy Rights Act (“CPRA”), which became effective on January 1, 2023, significantly modified the CCPA, including by expanding consumers’ rights 

concerning their personal information, introducing data minimization and retention requirements, and establishing a state agency vested with the authority to enforce the CCPA. 

It is not yet fully clear how the CCPA (as
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amended by the CPRA) will be enforced and how it will be interpreted. The evolving nature of the CCPA may require us to modify our data collection or processing practices 

and policies and to incur substantial costs and expenses in an effort to comply.

Similar laws have been passed in numerous other states and other states have proposed similar new privacy laws, and it is possible that certain of these proposals will 

pass. Such proposed legislation, if enacted, may add additional complexity, variation in requirements, restrictions and potential legal risk, require additional investment of 

resources in compliance programs, impact strategies and the availability of previously useful data and could result in increased compliance costs and/or changes in business 

practices and policies. The existence of privacy laws in different states in the country would make our compliance obligations more complex and costly and may increase the 

likelihood that we may be subject to enforcement actions or otherwise incur liability for noncompliance. Other states have also proposed and/or passed legislation that regulates 

the privacy and/or security of certain specific
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types of information. For example, a small number of states have passed laws that regulate biometric data specifically. The costs associated with these various privacy and 

security laws may impede our development and could limit the adoption of our services. Further, any failure by our vendors to comply with applicable law or regulations could 

result in proceedings against us by governmental entities or others. State laws are changing rapidly and there is discussion in the U.S. Congress of a new comprehensive 

federal data privacy law to which we may likely become subject, if enacted.

Moreover, we maintain offices in the European Union (“EU”), specifically, Ireland, and we have customers located in various countries throughout the EU and the United 

Kingdom (“UK”). Accordingly, in the EU, we are subject to the General Data Protection Regulation (EU) 2016/679 (the “EU GDPR”), and related member state implementing 

legislation. The EU GDPR governs the collection, use, disclosure, transfer or other processing of personal data of individuals in the EU. Among other things, the EU GDPR 

imposes strict requirements regarding the security of personal data and notification of data breaches to the competent national data protection authorities, imposes limitations 

on retention of personal data, imposes stringent requirements relating to the consent of data subjects or ensuring another appropriate legal basis applies to the processing of 

personal data, requires us to maintain records of our processing activities and to document data protection impact assessments where there is high risk processing, ensuring 

certain measures are in place with third-party processors. The EU GDPR is also explicitly extraterritorial in its application, and could affect our business activities in jurisdictions 

outside the EU. The EU GDPR imposes sanctions for violations up to the greater of €20 million and 4% of worldwide gross annual revenue. Further, the EU GDPR enables 

individuals to claim damages for violations and introduces the right for non-profit organizations to bring claims on behalf of data subjects. Noncompliance could also result in the 

imposition of orders to stop data processing activities. Compliance with the EU GDPR is a rigorous and time-intensive process and requires us to allocate substantial legal costs 

to the development of necessary policies and procedures and overall compliance efforts. We expect to incur continued costs associated with maintaining compliance with EU 

GDPR into the future.

Additionally, the EU GDPR imposes strict rules on the transfer of personal data outside of the EU to countries that do not ensure an adequate level of protection, like the 

United States. These transfers are prohibited unless a valid transfer mechanism is implemented, such as the Standard Contractual Clauses (SCCs) published by the EU 

Commission or binding corporate rules. Transfers made pursuant to the SCCs need to be assessed on a case-by-case basis to ensure the law in the recipient country provides 

“essentially equivalent” protections to safeguard the transferred data. If the standard is not met, businesses will be required to adopt supplementary measures. Further, the EU 
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and United States have adopted its adequacy decision for the EU-U.S. Data Privacy Framework ("Framework"), which entered into force on July 11, 2023. This Framework 

provides that the protection of personal data transferred between the EU and the United States is comparable to that offered in the EU. This provides a further avenue to 

ensuring transfers to the United States are carried out in line with EU GDPR.

Following the withdrawal of the UK from the EU (“Brexit”), the EU GDPR has been incorporated into UK laws (“UK GDPR”). Non-compliance with the UK GDPR may 

result in monetary penalties of up to £17.5 million or 4% of worldwide revenue, whichever is higher. Despite Brexit, the EU and UK GDPR remain largely aligned. Currently, the 

most impactful point of divergence relates to transfer mechanisms (i.e., the ability for companies in the EU or the UK to transfer personal information to third countries, including 

the United States). Like the EU GDPR, the UK GDPR restricts personal data transfers outside the UK to countries not regarded by the UK as providing adequate protection. The 

UK government has confirmed that personal data transfers from the UK to the EU remain free flowing. The new SCCs do not apply to the UK, but the UK Information 

Commissioner’s Office has published its own transfer mechanism, the International Data Transfer Agreement (“UK IDTA”), which entered into force on 21 March 2022, and 

enables data transfers originating from the UK. It requires a similar assessment of the data protection provided in the importer’s country. In addition, there has been an 

extension to the Framework to cover UK transfers to the United States. The Framework could be challenged like its predecessor frameworks. There may be further divergence 

in the future, including with regard to administrative burdens. The UK has announced plans to reform the country’s data protection legal framework in its Data Reform Bill, which 

will introduce changes to the UK GDPR. This may lead to additional compliance costs and could increase our overall risk exposure as we may no longer be able to take a 

unified approach across the EU and the UK.

We publicly post documentation regarding our privacy practices as needed to address state, federal and foreign privacy laws. Although we endeavor to comply with our 

published policies and documentation, we may at times fail to do so or be alleged to have failed to do so. Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with our privacy 

policies could expose us to costly litigation, significant awards, fines or judgments, civil and/or criminal penalties or negative publicity, and could materially and adversely affect
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our business, financial condition and results of operations. The publication of our privacy policy and other documentation that provide promises and assurances about privacy 

and security can subject us to potential state and federal action if they are found to be deceptive, unfair, or misrepresentative of our actual practices, which could, individually or 

in the aggregate, materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The regulatory framework governing the collection, processing, storage, use and sharing of personal information is rapidly evolving and is likely to continue to be subject 

to uncertainty and varying interpretations at both the domestic and international level. It is possible that these laws, rules and regulations may be interpreted and applied in a 

manner that is inconsistent with our practices or the features of our services and platform capabilities, and may not be consistent with one another. The lack of a unified 

approach to data privacy and protection laws in the U.S. and internationally could lead to complicated and potentially conflicting compliance
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requirements. Complying with these evolving compliance and operational requirements may impose significant costs, such as costs related to organizational changes, 

implementing additional protection technologies, modifying our data processing practices and policies, training employees and engaging consultants and legal advisors, which 

are likely to increase over time and may require that we utilize management’s time and/ or divert resources from other initiatives and projects. We cannot yet fully determine the 

impact these or future laws, rules, regulations and industry standards may have on our business or operations. Additionally, our customers may be subject to differing privacy 

laws, rules and legislation, which may mean that they require us to be bound by varying contractual requirements applicable to certain other jurisdictions. Adherence to such 

contractual requirements may impact our collection, use, processing, storage, sharing and disclosure of personal information and may mean we become bound by, or voluntarily 

comply with, self-regulatory or other industry standards relating to these matters that may further change as laws, rules and regulations evolve.

We have incurred, and may continue to incur, significant expenses to comply with evolving mandatory privacy and security standards and protocols imposed by law, 

regulation, industry standards, shifting merchant and customer expectations, or contractual obligations, and we may not be able to respond quickly or effectively to regulatory, 

legislative and other developments. These changes may in turn impair our ability to offer our existing or planned features, products and services and/or increase our cost of 

doing business. Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with any applicable federal, state or foreign laws and regulations relating to data privacy and security could 

result in damage to our reputation, as well as proceedings or litigation by governmental agencies or other third parties, including class action privacy litigation in certain 

jurisdictions, which would subject us to significant fines, sanctions, awards, injunctions, penalties or judgments. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our 

business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
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The use of new and evolving technologies, such as artificial intelligence, in our offerings may result in spending material resources and presents risks and 

challenges that can impact our business including by posing security and other risks to our confidential information, proprietary information and personal 

information, and as a result we may be exposed to reputational harm and liability.

We continue to build and integrate artificial intelligence into our offerings, and this innovation presents risks and challenges that could affect its adoption, and therefore 

our business. If we enable or offer solutions that draw controversy due to perceived or actual negative societal impact, we may experience brand or reputational harm, 

competitive harm or legal liability. The use of certain artificial intelligence technology can give rise to intellectual property risks, including compromises to proprietary intellectual 

property and intellectual property infringement. Additionally, we expect to see increasing government and supranational regulation related to artificial intelligence use and ethics, 

which may also significantly increase the burden and cost of research, development and compliance in this area. For example, the EU’s Artificial Intelligence Act (“AI Act”) — 

the world’s first comprehensive AI law — is anticipated to enter into force in Spring 2024 and, with some exceptions, become effective 24 months thereafter. This legislation 

imposes significant obligations on providers and deployers of high risk artificial intelligence systems, and encourages providers and deployers of artificial intelligence systems to 

account for EU ethical principles in their development and use of these systems. If we develop or use AI systems that are governed by the AI Act, it may necessitate ensuring 

higher standards of data quality, transparency, and human oversight, as well as adhering to specific and potentially burdensome and costly ethical, accountability, and 

administrative requirements. The rapid evolution of artificial intelligence will require the application of significant resources to design, develop, test and maintain our products 

and services to help ensure that artificial intelligence is implemented in accordance with applicable law and regulation and in a socially responsible manner and to minimize any 

real or perceived unintended harmful impacts. Our vendors may in turn incorporate artificial intelligence tools into their own offerings, and the providers of these artificial 

intelligence tools may not meet existing or rapidly evolving regulatory or industry standards, including with respect to privacy and data security. Further, bad actors around the 

world use increasingly sophisticated methods, including the use of artificial intelligence, to engage in illegal activities involving the theft and misuse of personal information, 

confidential information and intellectual property. Any of these effects could damage our reputation, result in the loss of valuable property and information, cause us to breach 

applicable laws and regulations, and adversely impact our business.

We rely on our software and information technology systems to manage numerous aspects of our business and a disruption of these systems could adversely 

affect our business.
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We rely on our information technology systems to manage numerous aspects of our business, including to efficiently purchase products from our suppliers, provide 

procurement and logistic services, ship products to our customers, receive orders from our customers, manage our accounting and financial functions, including our internal 

controls, and maintain our research and development data. Our information technology systems are an essential component of our business and any disruption or compromise 

could significantly limit our ability to manage and operate our business efficiently. A failure of our information technology systems to perform properly could disrupt our supply 

chain, product development and customer experience, which may lead to increased overhead costs and decreased sales and have an adverse effect on our reputation and our 

financial condition. In particular, our integrated software platform is an essential system that virtually all of our customers depend on for their design needs. If our integrated 

software platform were to fail, we could face adverse consequences to our results of operations, financial condition and business reputation.
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Although we take steps and incur significant costs to secure our information technology systems, including our computer systems, intranet and internet sites, email and 

other telecommunications and data networks, our security measures may not be effective and our systems may be vulnerable to damage, compromise, or interruption. 

Disruption to or compromise of our information technology systems could result from power outages, computer and telecommunications failures, computer viruses, cyber-attack 

or other security compromises or breaches (including ransomware), catastrophic events such as fires, floods, earthquakes, tornadoes, hurricanes, acts of war, terrorism and 

usage errors by our employees, wrongful conduct by employees, vendors, or other third parties, hostile foreign governments, industrial espionage, wire fraud and other forms of 

cyber fraud or cyber-attacks. Attacks on information technology systems are increasing in their frequency, levels of persistence, sophistication and intensity, and they are being 

conducted by increasingly sophisticated and organized groups and individuals with a wide range of motives and expertise. Such attacks could include the deployment of harmful 

malware, ransomware, denial-of-service attacks, social engineering and business email compromises, and other means to affect service reliability and threaten or compromise 

the security, confidentiality, integrity, and availability of systems and information.

Our reputation and financial condition could be adversely affected if, as a result of a significant cyber-event or otherwise:
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• our operations are disrupted or shut down;

• our confidential and/or proprietary information or other sensitive information, including customer or employee information, is stolen, disclosed, misappropriated, or 
otherwise compromised;

• we incur costs or are required to pay fines in connection with a security compromise, including stolen, disclosed, misappropriated, or otherwise compromised 
confidential information and/or proprietary information or other sensitive information, including customer or employee information; or

• we must dedicate significant resources to system repairs, security incident investigation or remediation, or increase cyber security protection.

In addition, any unauthorized access, disclosure or other loss, compromise, or unauthorized use of information or data could result in legal claims or proceedings, 

regulatory investigations or actions, and other types of liability under laws that protect the privacy and security of protected information, including personal information, including 

federal, state and foreign data protection and privacy regulations, violations of which could result in significant penalties and fines. In addition, although we seek to prevent and 

detect all data security incidents, security compromises or breaches and other malicious cyber activities can be difficult to detect and any delay in identifying or remediating 

them may lead to increased harm and legal exposure.

The cost of investigating, mitigating and responding to potential data security compromises or breaches and complying with applicable legal obligations, including 

breach notification obligations to individuals, regulators, partners and others can be significant. Our insurance policies may not be adequate to compensate us for the potential 

costs and other losses arising from such disruptions, failures or security compromises or breaches. In addition, such insurance may not be available to us in the future on 

economically reasonable terms, or at all. Further, defending a suit or regulatory inquiry or investigation, regardless of its merit, could be costly, divert management attention and 

harm our reputation.

If our computer or technology systems are damaged or cease to function properly, or, if we do not replace or upgrade certain systems, we may incur substantial costs to 

repair or replace them and may experience an interruption of our normal business activities, security compromise, or loss of critical data. Any such disruption or compromise 

could adversely affect our reputation and financial condition.

We also rely on information technology systems maintained by third parties, including third-party cloud computing services and the computer systems of our suppliers 

for both our internal operations and our customer-facing infrastructure related to our additive manufacturing solutions. These systems are also vulnerable to the types of 

interruption, compromise, and damage described above, but we have less ability to take measures to protect against such disruptions or compromises or to resolve them if they 

were to occur.

59

Information technology problems or security compromises faced by third parties on which we rely could adversely impact our business and financial condition as well as 

negatively impact our brand reputation.

Any unauthorized control or manipulation of our products’ systems could result in loss of confidence in us and our products and harm our business.

Our products contain complex information technology systems and software. For example, our additive manufacturing machines are designed with built-in data 

connectivity to accept and install periodic remote updates from us to monitor, improve and update their functionality. We have designed, implemented and tested security 

measures intended to prevent and detect unauthorized access to our information technology networks, our products and their systems. However, hackers may attempt to gain 

unauthorized access to
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modify, alter and use such networks, products and systems to gain control of, or to change, our products’ functionality, user interface and performance characteristics, or to gain 

access to data stored in or generated by our products. We encourage reporting of potential vulnerabilities in the security of our products and we aim to remedy any reported and 

verified vulnerability. Accordingly, we have received reports of potential vulnerabilities in the past and have attempted to remedy them. However, there can be no assurance that 

vulnerabilities will not be exploited in the future before they can be identified, or that our remediation efforts are or will be successful.
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Any unauthorized access to or control of our products or their systems or any loss of data could result in legal claims or proceedings. In addition, regardless of their 

veracity, reports of unauthorized access to our products, their systems or data, as well as other factors that may result in the perception that our products, their systems or data 

are capable of being “hacked,” could negatively affect our brand and harm our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.

Our business has risks that may not be adequately covered by insurance or indemnity.

We may face unanticipated risks of legal liability for damages caused by the actual or alleged failure of our products. While we have attempted to secure liability 

insurance coverage at an appropriate cost, it is impossible to adequately insure against all risks inherent in our industry, nor can we assure you that our insurers will pay a 

particular claim, or that we will be able to maintain coverage at reasonable rates in the future. Our insurance policies also contain deductibles, limitations and exclusions, which 

increase our costs in the event of a claim. Even a partially uninsured claim of significant size, if successful, could have an adverse effect on our financial condition. In addition, 

we may not be able to continue to obtain insurance coverage on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, and our existing policies may be cancelled or otherwise terminated by 

the insurer. Maintaining adequate insurance and successfully accessing insurance coverage that may be due for a claim can require a significant amount of our management’s 

time, and we may be forced to spend a substantial amount of money in that process. Substantial claims in excess of or not otherwise covered by indemnity or insurance could 

harm our financial condition and operating results.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property

We may not be able to adequately protect our proprietary and intellectual property rights in our data or technology.

Our success is dependent, in part, upon protecting our proprietary information and technology. Our intellectual property portfolio primarily consists of patents, patent 

applications, registered and unregistered trademarks, unregistered copyrights, domain names, know-how, and trade secrets. We may be unsuccessful in adequately protecting 

our intellectual property.

Our trade secrets, know-how and other unregistered proprietary rights are a key aspect of our intellectual property portfolio. While we take reasonable steps to protect 

our trade secrets and confidential information and enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements intended to protect such rights, such agreements can be 

difficult and costly to enforce or may not provide adequate remedies if violated, and we may not have entered into such agreements with all relevant parties. Such agreements 

may be breached and trade secrets or confidential information may be willfully or unintentionally disclosed, including by employees who may leave our company and join our 

competitors, or our competitors or other parties may learn of the information in some other way. Additionally, certain unauthorized use of our intellectual property may go 

undetected, or we may face legal or practical barriers to enforcing our legal rights even where unauthorized use is detected. The disclosure to, or independent development by, 

a competitor of any of our trade secrets, know-how or other technology not protected by a patent or other intellectual property system could materially reduce or eliminate any 

competitive advantage that we may have over such competitor. This concern could manifest itself in particular with respect to our proprietary materials that are used with our 

systems. Portions of our proprietary materials may not be afforded patent protection. Our pending patent applications may not be granted, and we may not be able to obtain 

foreign patents or pending applications corresponding to our U.S. patents. Even if foreign patents are granted, effective enforcement in foreign countries may not be available. If 

our patents and other intellectual property do not adequately protect our technology, our competitors may be able to offer products similar to ours. Our competitors may also be 

able to develop similar technology independently or design around our patents and other intellectual property. Any of the foregoing events would lead to increased competition 

and reduce our revenue or gross margin, which would adversely affect our operating results.
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Current laws may not provide for adequate protection of our products, especially in foreign jurisdictions which may have laws that provide insufficient protections to 

companies. In addition, legal standards relating to the validity, enforceability, and scope of protection of proprietary rights in internet-related businesses are uncertain and 

evolving, and changes in these standards may adversely impact the viability or value of our proprietary rights. Some license provisions protecting against unauthorized use, 

copying, transfer, and disclosure of our products, or certain aspects of our products may be unenforceable under the laws of certain jurisdictions. Further, the laws of some 

countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States, and the laws and mechanisms for protection and enforcement of intellectual 

property rights in some foreign countries may be inadequate. As we continue to operate in foreign countries and expand our international activities, we have encountered and 

may in the future encounter challenges in navigating the laws of foreign countries, which may adversely affect our ability to protect our proprietary rights. Further,
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competitors, foreign governments, foreign government-backed actors, criminals, or other third parties may gain unauthorized access to our proprietary information and 

technology. Accordingly, despite our efforts, we may be unable to prevent third parties from infringing upon or misappropriating our technology and intellectual property or 

claiming that we infringe upon or misappropriate their technology and intellectual property.

To protect our intellectual property rights, we may be required to spend significant resources to monitor, protect, and defend these rights, and we may or may not be 

able to detect infringement by our customers or third parties. Litigation has been and may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights and to protect our 

trade secrets. Such litigation, regardless of merit, could be costly, time consuming, and distracting to management and key technical personnel, and could result in the 

impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual property. In particular, in July 2021, Continuous Composites brought a claim in the United States District Court for the District of 

Delaware against us regarding patent infringement and on April 11, 2024, the jury returned a verdict against us in the amount of $17.3 million. , which we are seeking to 

overturn through post-trial motions with the District Court. For more information on the Continuous Composites litigation, please reference the Risk Factor section entitled “Risks 

Related to Our Business and Industry – We are, and have been in the recent past, subject to business and intellectual property litigation.”

Furthermore, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims, and countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of 

our intellectual property rights. Our inability to protect our proprietary technology against unauthorized copying or use, as well as any costly litigation or diversion of our 

management’s attention and resources, could delay further sales or the implementation of our platform, impair the functionality of our platform, delay introductions of new 

features, integrations, and capabilities, result in our substituting inferior or more costly technologies into our platform, or injure our reputation. In addition, we may be required to 

license or pay royalties on additional technology from third parties to develop and market new features, integrations, and capabilities, and we cannot be certain that we could 

license that technology on commercially reasonable terms or at all, and our inability to license this technology could harm our ability to compete.

As part of any settlement or other compromise to avoid complex, protracted litigation, we may agree not to pursue future claims against a third party, including related to 

alleged infringement of our intellectual property rights. Part of any settlement or other compromise with another party may resolve a potentially costly dispute but may also have 

future repercussions on our ability to defend and protect our intellectual property rights, which in turn could adversely affect our business.

If third parties claim that we infringe upon or otherwise violate their intellectual property rights, our business could be adversely affected.

We have in the past are and may in the future continue to be subject to claims that we have infringed or otherwise violated third parties’ intellectual property rights. There 

is patent, copyright and other intellectual property development and enforcement activity in our industry and relating to the additive manufacturing technology we use in our 

business. Our future success depends in part on not infringing upon or otherwise violating the intellectual property rights of others. From time to time, our Our competitors or 

other third parties (including non-practicing entities and patent holding companies) have and may from time to time continue to claim that we are infringing upon or otherwise 

violating their intellectual property rights and we may be found to be infringing upon or otherwise violating such rights. As discussed elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 

10-Q, a jury found that we had infringed on a patent owned by Continuous Composites and awarded monetary damages in the amount of $17.3 million. While we disagree with 

this verdict and have sought to overturn the verdict in post-trial motions with the District Court, there is no guarantee that we will be successful. For more information on the 

Continuous Composites litigation, please reference the Risk Factor section entitled “Risks Related to Our Business and Industry – We are, and have been in the recent past, 

subject to business and intellectual property litigation.” Further, we may be unaware of the intellectual property rights of others that may cover some or all of our current or future 

technology or conflict with our rights, and the patent, copyright, and other intellectual property rights of others may limit our ability to improve our technology and compete 

effectively. Any claims of intellectual property infringement or other intellectual property violations, even those without merit, could:

• be expensive and time consuming to defend;

• cause us to cease making, licensing or using our platform or products that incorporate the challenged intellectual property;

• require us to modify, redesign, reengineer or rebrand our platform or products, if feasible;

• divert management’s attention and resources; or

• require us to enter into royalty or licensing agreements to obtain the right to use a third-party’s intellectual property.

Any royalty or licensing agreements, if required, may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. A successful claim of infringement against us could result in 

our being required to pay significant damages, enter into costly settlement agreements, or prevent us from offering our platform or products, any of which could have a negative 

impact on our operating profits and harm our
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future prospects. We may also be obligated to indemnify our customers or business partners in connection with any such litigation and to obtain licenses, modify our platform or 

products, or refund premium subscription fees, which could further exhaust our resources. Such disputes could also disrupt our platform or products, adversely affecting our 
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customer satisfaction and ability to attract customers.

Our additive manufacturing technology contains third-party open-source software components, and failure to comply with the terms of the underlying open-source 

software licenses could restrict our ability to commercialize our products.

Our additive manufacturing technology contains components that are licensed under so-called “open source,” “free” or other similar licenses. Open source software is 

made available to the general public on an “as-is” basis under the terms of a non-negotiable license. We currently combine our proprietary software with open source software 

and intend to continue doing so in the future. Additionally, we make some of our source code available under open source licenses, which may limit our ability to protect our 

intellectual property rights in our source code and prevent our competitors or others from using such source code. Our use and distribution of open source software may entail 

greater risks than use of third-party commercial software because open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or other contractual protections regarding 

infringement claims or the quality of the code. In addition, if we combine our proprietary software with open source software in a certain manner, we could, under certain open 

source licenses, be required to disclose or make available the source code of our proprietary software to third parties. We may also face claims alleging noncompliance with 

open source license terms or infringement or misappropriation of third-party intellectual property rights in open source software. These claims could result in litigation, require us 

to purchase a costly license or remove the software. In addition, if the license terms for open source software that we use change, we may be forced to re-engineer our 

solutions, incur additional costs or discontinue the sale of our offerings if re-engineering could not be accomplished on a timely basis. Although we monitor our use of open 

source software to avoid subjecting our offerings to unintended conditions, there is a risk that these licenses could be construed in a way that could impose unanticipated 

conditions or restrictions on our ability to commercialize our offerings. We cannot guarantee that we have incorporated open source software in our software in a manner that 

will not subject us to liability or in a manner that is consistent with our current policies and procedures.

General Risk Factors

If we are unable for any reason to meet the continued listing requirements of the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), such action or inaction could result in a 

delisting of our securities.

On November 17, 2023, we were notified by the NYSE that we are not in compliance with Section 802.01C of the NYSE Listed Company Manual because the average 

closing price of our common stock was less than $1.00 over a consecutive 30 trading-day period. The notice had no immediate impact on the listing of our common stock, which 

will continue to be listed and traded on the NYSE during the period allowed to regain compliance, subject to our compliance with other listing standards. We notified the NYSE 

that we intend to cure the stock price deficiency and to return to compliance with the NYSE continued listing standard. We can regain compliance at any time within the six-

month period following receipt of the NYSE notice (subject to permitted extension(s) by the NYSE) if on the last trading day of any calendar month during the cure period our 

common stock have has a closing share price of at least $1.00 and an average closing share price of at least $1.00 over the 30 trading-day period ending on the last trading day 

of that month. Under the NYSE’s rules, if we determine a listed company determines that we it will cure the stock price deficiency by taking an action that will require stockholder 

approval at our its next annual meeting of stockholders, the price condition will be deemed cured if the price promptly exceeds $1.00 per share, and the price remains above that 

level for at least the following 30 trading days. We submitted a reverse stock split proposal to our stockholders at our 2024 annual meeting to increase the trading price of our 

common stock and regain compliance. The reverse stock split proposal was approved by the stockholders at the 2024 annual meeting and we can implement the reverse stock 

split within the range approved by our stockholders before December 31, 2024. A reverse stock split may allow us to meet the minimum bid price requirement, but we cannot 

assure you that a reverse stock split will be approved by our stockholders or that any reverse stock split, if implemented, will be sufficient to enable us to maintain our NYSE 

listing. Additionally, if a reverse stock split is implemented, there can be no assurance that the market price per new share of our common stock following the reverse stock split 

will remain unchanged or will increase in proportion to the reduction in the number of old shares of our common stock outstanding before the reverse stock split. split, and there 

is no assurance that the stock price increase resulting from any reverse stock split will be maintained. The liquidity of the shares of our common stock may be affected adversely 

by any reverse stock split given the reduced number of shares of our common stock that will be outstanding following the reverse stock split. Furthermore, following any reverse 

stock split, the resulting market price of our common stock may not attract new investors and may not satisfy the investing requirements of those investors.

The delisting of our common stock from the NYSE could make it more difficult for us to raise capital on favorable terms in the future. Such a delisting would likely have a 

negative effect on the price of our securities and would impair your ability to sell or purchase our securities when you wish to do so. In the event of a delisting, actions taken by 

us to restore compliance with listing requirements may not allow our securities to become listed again, stabilize the market price or improve the liquidity of our securities, prevent 

such securities from dropping below any minimum bid price requirement or prevent future non-compliance with the NYSE listing requirements.
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Changes in accounting rules and regulations, or interpretations thereof, could result in unfavorable accounting charges or require us to change our compensation 

policies.
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Accounting methods and policies for public companies are subject to review, interpretation and guidance from our independent registered accounting firm and relevant 

accounting authorities, including the SEC. Changes to accounting methods or policies, or interpretations thereof, may require us to reclassify, restate or otherwise change or 

revise our consolidated financial statements.

Our disclosure controls and procedures may not prevent or detect all errors or acts of fraud.

We designed our disclosure controls and procedures to reasonably assure that information we must disclose in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is 

accumulated and communicated to management, and recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC. We 

believe that any disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls and procedures, no matter how well-conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, 

assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that 

breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people 

or by an unauthorized override of the controls.

Our management team has limited experience managing a public company.

Our management team has limited experience managing a publicly traded company, interacting with public company investors, and complying with the increasingly 

complex laws, rules and regulations that govern public companies. As a public company, we are subject to significant obligations relating to reporting, procedures and internal 

controls, and our management team may not successfully or efficiently manage such obligations. These obligations and scrutiny require significant attention from our 

management and could divert their attention away from the day-to-day management of our business, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results 

of operations.

Our internal controls over financial reporting currently do not meet all of the standards contemplated by Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act, and failure to 

achieve and maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act could impair our ability to 

produce timely and accurate financial statements or comply with applicable regulations and have a material adverse effect on our business.

We operated as a private company until July 2021. Our management has significant requirements for enhanced financial reporting and internal controls as a public 

company. The process of designing and implementing effective internal controls is a continuous effort that requires us to anticipate and react to changes in our business and the 

economic and regulatory environments and to expend significant resources to maintain a system of internal controls that is adequate to satisfy our reporting obligations as a 

public company. If we are unable to establish or maintain appropriate internal financial reporting controls and procedures, it could cause us to fail to meet our reporting 

obligations on a timely basis or result in material misstatements in our consolidated financial statements, which could harm our operating results. In addition, we are required, 

pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes Oxley Act”), to furnish a report by management on, among other things, the effectiveness of our 

internal control over financial reporting. This assessment needs to include disclosure of any material weaknesses identified by our management in our internal control over 

financial reporting.

The rules governing the standards that must be met for our management to assess our internal control over financial reporting are complex and require significant 

documentation, testing, and possible remediation. Testing and maintaining internal controls may divert management’s attention from other matters that are important to our 

business. Our independent registered public accounting firm will be required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting on an annual basis. 

However, while we remain an emerging growth company, we will not be required to include an attestation report on internal control over financial reporting issued by our 

independent registered public accounting firm. If we are not able to complete our initial assessment of our internal controls and otherwise implement the requirements of Section 

404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act in a timely manner or with adequate compliance, our independent registered public accounting firm may not be able to certify as to the adequacy 

of our internal control over financial reporting.

In addition to our results determined in accordance with GAAP, we believe certain non-GAAP measures may be useful in evaluating our operating performance. We 

present certain non-GAAP financial measures in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and intend to continue to present certain non-GAAP financial measures in future filings with 

the SEC and other public statements. Any failure to accurately report and present our non-GAAP financial measures could cause investors to lose confidence in our reported 

financial and other information, which would likely have a negative effect on the trading price of our common stock.
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We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and may identify additional material weaknesses in the future or fail to 

maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, which may result in material misstatements of our consolidated financial statements or cause us to fail 
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to meet our periodic reporting obligations.

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 

control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or 

detected on a timely basis. These material weaknesses are as follows:

• We did not design and maintain an effective control environment commensurate with our financial reporting requirements. Specifically, we lacked a sufficient 
complement of resources with (i) an appropriate level of accounting knowledge, experience and training to appropriately analyze, record and disclose accounting 
matters timely and accurately, and (ii) an appropriate level of knowledge and experience to establish effective processes and controls. Additionally, the lack of a 
sufficient number of professionals resulted in an inability to consistently establish appropriate authorities and responsibilities in pursuit of our financial reporting 
objectives, as demonstrated by, among other things, insufficient segregation of duties in our finance and accounting functions. This material weakness contributed
following additional material weaknesses:

• We did not design and maintain effective controls related to the period-end financial reporting process, including designing and maintaining formal accounting polic
procedures and controls to achieve complete, accurate and timely financial accounting, reporting and disclosures. Additionally, we did not design and maintain con
over the preparation and review of account reconciliations and journal entries, including maintaining appropriate segregation of duties.

• We did not design and maintain effective controls related to the identification of and accounting for certain non-routine, unusual or complex transactions, including 
proper application of U.S. GAAP of such transactions. Specifically, we did not design and maintain controls to timely identify and account for share repurchase 
transactions, warrant instruments, and performance based stock awards.

These material weaknesses resulted in audit adjustments to the following financial statement line items in the historical Markforged financial statements: operating 

expense, other expense, interest expense, other assets, other liabilities, additional paid in capital, treasury stock, retained earnings, note receivable—equity, and series D 

preferred stock. These adjustments were recorded prior to the issuance of the consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019. 

Additionally, these material weaknesses resulted in audit adjustments to additional paid in capital and stock-based compensation expense for the quarters ended June 30, 2021, 

September 30, 2021, December 31, 2021, June 30, 2022, and December 31, 2022. The material weakness related to accounting for warrant instruments resulted in the 

restatement of the previously issued financial statements of AONE, the entity we merged with as part of the Merger related to warrant liabilities and equity. Additionally, these 

material weaknesses could result in a misstatement of substantially all of our accounts or disclosures that would result in a material misstatement to the annual or interim 

consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected.

• We did not design and maintain effective controls over information technology (“IT”) general controls for information systems that are relevant to the preparation of
financial statements. Specifically, we did not design and maintain (i) program change management controls for financial systems to ensure that information techno
program and data changes affecting financial IT applications and underlying accounting records are identified, tested, authorized and implemented appropriately; (
user access controls to ensure appropriate segregation of duties and that adequately restrict user and privileged access to financial applications, programs, and da
appropriate Company personnel; (iii) computer operations controls to ensure that critical batch jobs are monitored, privileges are appropriately granted, and data 
backups are authorized and monitored; and (iv) testing and approval controls for program development to ensure that new software development is aligned with 
business and IT requirements. These IT deficiencies did not result in any misstatements to the financial statements, however, the deficiencies, when aggregated, c
impact our ability to maintain effective segregation of duties, as well as the effectiveness of IT-dependent controls (such as automated controls that address the ris
material misstatement to one or more assertions, along with the IT controls and underlying data that support the effectiveness of system-generated data and repor
that could result in misstatements potentially impacting all financial statement accounts and disclosures that would result in a material misstatement to the annual o
interim financial statements that would not be prevented or detected. Accordingly, management has determined these deficiencies in the aggregate constitute a m
weakness.

We are in the process of designing and implementing controls and taking other actions to remediate the material weaknesses described above, including the following:
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• We have hired, and continue to hire, additional accounting and IT personnel to bolster our reporting, technical accounting and IT capabilities. Additionally, we desig
and implemented controls to formalize roles and review responsibilities to align with our team’s skills and experience and we are designing and implementing cont
over segregation of duties.

• We have designed and implemented controls related to the period-end financial reporting process, including formal accounting policies, procedures and controls to
achieve complete, accurate and timely financial accounting, reporting and disclosures. Additionally, we have designed and implemented controls over the preparat
and review of account reconciliations and journal entries.

• We have designed and implemented controls to timely identify and account for non-routine, unusual or complex transactions and other technical accounting and 
financial reporting matters, including controls over the preparation and review of accounting memoranda addressing these matters.

• We have designed and implemented IT general controls, including controls over program change management, the review and update of user access rights and 
privileges, controls over batch jobs and data backups, and program development approvals and testing.
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We have engaged third-party specialists to assist with testing and validating the operating effectiveness of certain controls over financial reporting to gain assurance that 

such controls are present and operating as designed, as well as to help review and update existing documentation of our internal controls for compliance with the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002.

We are working to remediate the material weaknesses as efficiently and effectively as possible and expect full remediation could potentially go beyond December 31, 

2024. At this time, we cannot provide an estimate of costs expected to be incurred in connection with implementing this remediation plan; however, these remediation measures 

will be time consuming, will result in us incurring significant costs, and will place significant demands on our financial and operational resources.

Our ability to use net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards and other tax attributes may be limited.

We have incurred substantial losses during our history and our ability to become profitable in the near future is uncertain. To the extent that we continue to generate 

taxable losses, unused losses will carry forward to offset future taxable income, if any, until such unused losses expire (if at all). As of December 31, 2023, we had federal NOL 

carryforwards of approximately $171.6 million, of which $15.0 million are subject to expire at various times beginning in 2033, and $156.6 million that have no expiration date 

and will be carried forward indefinitely. We also had state NOL carryforwards of approximately $89.9 million that will begin to expire in 2026, unless previously utilized. On 

December 31, 2023, we had federal and state research and development credit carryforwards of approximately $11.0 million and $5.6 million, respectively. The research and 

development credit carryforwards will begin expiring in 2033, unless previously utilized.

Federal NOLs incurred in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017 and before January 1, 2021 may be carried back to each of the five tax years preceding such 

loss, and NOLs arising in tax years beginning after December 31, 2020 may not be carried back. Because we have had no taxable income in prior years, we do not anticipate 

carrying back any of our net operating losses. Moreover, federal NOLs generated in taxable years ending after December 31, 2017, may be carried forward indefinitely, but the 

deductibility of such federal NOLs may be limited to 80% of our taxable income annually for tax years beginning after December 31, 2020. Our NOL carryforwards are subject to 

review and possible adjustment by the IRS, and state tax authorities. In addition, in general, under Sections 382 and 383 of the Code, a corporation that undergoes an 

“ownership change” is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change NOLs or tax credits to offset future taxable income or taxes. For these purposes, an ownership 

change generally occurs where the aggregate stock ownership of one or more stockholders or groups of stockholders who own at least 5% of a corporation’s stock increases 

their ownership by more than 50 percentage points over their lowest ownership percentage within a specified testing period. Our existing NOLs or credits may be subject to 

limitations arising from previous ownership changes, and future changes in our stock ownership, many of which are outside of our control, could result in an ownership change 

under Sections 382 and 383 of the Code. Our NOLs or credits may also be impaired under state law. Accordingly, we may not be able to utilize a material portion of our NOLs or 

credits. If we determine that an ownership change has occurred and our ability to use our historical NOLs or credits is materially limited, it will harm our future operating results 

by effectively increasing our future tax obligations. Section 382 and 383 of the Code would apply to all net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards, whether the carryforward 

period is indefinite or not. If we earn taxable income, such limitations could result in increased future tax liability to us and our future cash flows could be adversely affected. We 

have recorded a full valuation allowance related to our NOLs and other deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty of the ultimate realization of the future benefits of those 

assets.

Comprehensive tax reform legislation could adversely affect our business and financial condition.
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The rules dealing with U.S. federal, state and local income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process and by the Internal 

Revenue Service, or IRS, and the U.S. Treasury Department. Changes to tax laws (which changes may have retroactive application) could adversely affect us or holders of our 

common stock. In recent years, many changes have been made and changes are likely to continue to occur in the future.

Additional changes to U.S. federal income tax law are currently being contemplated. Future changes in tax laws could have a material adverse effect on our business, 

cash flow, financial condition or results of operations. It cannot be predicted whether, when, in what form, or with what effective dates, new tax laws may be enacted, or 

regulations and rulings may be enacted, promulgated or issued under existing or new tax laws, which could result in an increase in our or our stockholders’ tax liability or require 

changes in the manner in which we operate in order to minimize or mitigate any adverse effects of changes in tax law or in the interpretation thereof.

Additional Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock and Us Operating as a Public Company

 

We will continue to incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management are required to devote substantial time to new 

compliance initiatives.
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As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. In addition, the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 

and rules subsequently implemented by the Securities and Exchange Commission and the NYSE have imposed various requirements on public companies, including 

establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and corporate governance practices. Our management and other personnel need to devote a 

substantial amount of time to these compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules and regulations increase our legal and financial compliance costs and make some activities 

more time-consuming and costly. For example, we expect that these rules and regulations may make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer 

liability insurance.

Pursuant to the Sarbanes Oxley Act, we are required to furnish a report by our management on our internal control over financial reporting, including an attestation 

report on internal control over financial reporting issued by our independent registered public accounting firm. However, while we remain an emerging growth company, we are 

not required to include an attestation report on internal control over financial reporting issued by our independent registered public accounting firm. To achieve compliance with 

Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act within the prescribed period, we are engaged in a process to document and evaluate our internal control over financial reporting, which is 

both costly and challenging. In this regard, we need to continue to dedicate internal resources, potentially engage outside consultants and adopt a detailed work plan to assess 

and document the adequacy of internal control over financial reporting, continue steps to improve control processes as appropriate, validate through testing that controls are 

functioning as documented and implement a continuous reporting and improvement process for internal control over financial reporting. Despite our efforts, there is a risk that 

neither we nor our independent registered public accounting firm will be able to conclude within the prescribed timeframe that our internal control over financial reporting is 

effective as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act. This could result in an adverse reaction in the financial markets due to a loss of confidence in the reliability of 

our financial statements. In addition, if we are not able to continue to meet these requirements, we may not be able to remain listed on NYSE.

The price of our common stock and warrants may be volatile.

The price of our common stock as well as our common stock warrants may fluctuate due to a variety of factors, including:

• changes in the industries in which we and our customers operate;

• developments involving our competitors;

• changes in laws and regulations affecting our business;

• variations in our operating performance and the performance of our competitors in general;

• actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly or annual operating results;

• publication of research reports by securities analysts about us or our competitors or our industry;

• the public’s reaction to our press releases, other public announcements and filings with the SEC;

• actions by stockholders;

• additions and departures of key personnel;

• commencement of, or involvement in, litigation involving the combined company;
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• changes in our capital structure, such as future issuances of securities (including such issuances associated with the reverse stock split) or the incurrence of addit
debt;

66

• the volume of shares of our Common Stock available for public sale; and

• general economic and political conditions, including but not limited to global supply chain disruptions, recessions, interest rates, inflation, local and national electio
fuel prices, international currency fluctuations, corruption, political instability and acts of war or terrorism.

These market and industry factors may materially reduce impact the market price of our Common Stock and warrants regardless of our operating performance. Stock 

markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market prices of equity securities of many technology companies. 

Stock prices of many technology companies, including e-commerce companies have fluctuated in a manner unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those 

companies. If the stock prices for technology companies or the broader stock market continue to experience a loss of investor confidence, the trading price of our common stock 

could decline for reasons unrelated to our business, financial condition or results of operations.
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We do not intend to pay cash dividends for the foreseeable future.

We currently intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to finance the further development and expansion of our business and do not intend to pay cash dividends in the 

foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our financial condition, results of operations, 

capital requirements, restrictions contained in future agreements and financing instruments, business prospects and such other factors as its board of directors deems relevant.

If analysts do not continue to publish research about our business or if they publish inaccurate or unfavorable research, our stock price and trading volume could 

decline.

The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that analysts publish about our business. We do not have any control over these 

analysts. We currently have limited research coverage by securities and industry analysts. If other securities or industry analysts do not commence coverage of our company, 

the trading price for our stock could be negatively impacted. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our common stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable 

research about our business, the price of our common stock would likely decline. If few analysts cover us, demand for our common stock could decrease and our common stock 

price and trading volume may decline. Similar results may occur if one or more of these analysts stop covering us in the future or fail to publish reports on us regularly.

We may be subject to securities litigation, which is expensive and could divert management attention.

The market price of our common stock may be volatile and, in the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been subject 

to securities class action litigation. We may be the target of this type of litigation in the future. Securities litigation against us could result in substantial costs and divert 

management’s attention from other business concerns, which could seriously harm our business.

Future issuances and/or resales of our Common Stock may increase the volatility of and/or cause the market price of our securities to drop significantly, even if our 

business is doing well.

14,666,667 shares of our common stock may be issued (the “Markforged Earnout Shares”) upon our achievement of certain Earnout Triggering Events (as described in 

the Merger Agreement and Note 11 to our condensed consolidated financial statements), and additional shares may be issued upon exercise of the outstanding warrants to 

purchase shares of our common stock. To the extent such additional shares of our common stock are issued, it will result in dilution to the holders of our common stock and an 

increase to the number of shares eligible for resale in the public market. Sales, or the potential for sales, of substantial numbers of such shares in the public market could 

increase the volatility of and/or adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

The obligations associated with being a public company involve significant expenses and require significant resources and management attention, which may 

divert from our business operations.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The Exchange Act requires the filing of annual, 

quarterly and current reports with respect to a public company’s business and financial condition. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that a public company 

establish and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting. As a result, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not previously incur. 

Our entire management team and many of our other employees will need to devote substantial time to compliance.
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These rules and regulations result in us incurring substantial legal and financial compliance costs and make some activities more time-consuming and costly. For 

example, these rules and regulations will likely continue to make it more difficult and more expensive

67

for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and it may be required to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same 

or similar coverage. As a result, it may be difficult for us to attract and retain qualified people to serve on our board of directors, our board committees or as executive officers.
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We are currently an emerging growth company within the meaning of the Securities Act, and to the extent we have taken advantage of certain exemptions from 

disclosure requirements available to emerging growth companies or smaller reporting companies, this could make our securities less attractive to investors and 

may make it more difficult to compare our performance with other public companies.

We are currently an “emerging growth company” within the meaning of the Securities Act, as modified by the JOBS Act, and we may take advantage of certain 

exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies including, but not limited to, not being 

required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our 

periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder approval of 

any golden parachute payments not previously approved. As a result, our shareholders may not have access to certain information they may deem important. We cannot predict 

whether investors will find our securities less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our securities less attractive as a result of our reliance 

on these exemptions, the trading prices of our securities may be lower than they otherwise would be, there may be a less active trading market for our securities and the trading 

prices of our securities may be more volatile.

Further, Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised financial accounting standards until 

private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement declared effective or do not have a class of securities registered under the Exchange 

Act) are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period 

and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies but any such election to opt out is irrevocable. We have elected not to opt out of such extended 

transition period, which means that when a standard is issued or revised and it has different application dates for public or private companies, we, as an emerging growth 

company, can adopt the new or revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard. This may make comparison of our financial statements with 

another public company, which is neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company which has opted out of using the extended transition period, difficult or 

impossible because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.

When we cease to be an emerging growth company, we will no longer be able to take advantage of certain exemptions from reporting, and, absent other exemptions or 

relief available from the SEC, we will also be required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. We will incur additional 

expenses in connection with such compliance and our management will need to devote additional time and effort to implement and comply with such requirements.

Delaware law and our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain certain provisions, including anti-takeover provisions that limit the ability of stockholders to 

take certain actions and could delay or discourage takeover attempts that stockholders may consider favorable.

The DGCL and our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could have the effect of rendering more difficult, delaying, or preventing an acquisition 

that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares. These provisions could also limit the 

price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock, and therefore depress the trading price of our Common Stock. These provisions could 

also make it difficult for stockholders to take certain actions, including electing directors who are not nominated by the current members of our board of directors or taking other 

corporate actions, including effecting changes in our management. Among other things, our certificate of incorporation and bylaws include provisions regarding:

• the ability of our board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock, including “blank check” preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of those s
including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer;

• the board of directors are classified into three classes, with only one class being elected each year to serve three-year terms. As a result, in most circumstances, a
person can gain control of our board only by successfully engaging in a proxy contest at two or more annual stockholders meetings;

• the certificate of incorporation will prohibit cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;
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• the limitation of the liability of, and the indemnification of, our directors and officers;
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• the ability of our board of directors to amend the bylaws, which may allow our board of directors to take additional actions to prevent an unsolicited takeover and in
the ability of an acquirer to amend the bylaws to facilitate an unsolicited takeover attempt; and

• advance notice procedures with which stockholders must comply to nominate candidates to our board of directors or to propose matters to be acted upon at a 
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stockholders’ meeting, which could preclude stockholders from bringing matters before annual or special meetings of stockholders and delay changes in our board
directors and also may discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise 
attempting to obtain control of us.

These provisions, alone or together, could delay or prevent hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in our board of directors or management.

The provisions of our bylaws requiring exclusive forum in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the federal district courts of the United States for 

certain types of lawsuits may have the effect of discouraging certain lawsuits, including derivative lawsuits and lawsuits against the directors and officers of us, by 

limiting plaintiffs’ ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that they find favorable.

Our bylaws provide that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, and unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the 

State of Delaware (or, in the event that such court does not have jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware or other state courts of the State of Delaware) 

will be the sole and exclusive forum for any state law claims for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of us, (ii) any action asserting a claim for or based on a 

breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director, officer or other employee of us to us or our stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to 

any provision of the DGCL or the Bylaws or Certificate of Incorporation (as either may be amended from time to time) (including the interpretation, validity and enforceability 

thereof), (iv) any action asserting a claim related to or involving us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine, and (v) any action asserting an “internal corporate claim” as 

that term is defined in Section 115 of the DGCL (the “Delaware Forum Provision”). The Delaware Forum Provision, however, does not apply to actions or claims arising under 

the Exchange Act. The Bylaws also provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternate forum, the sole and exclusive forum for the resolution of any 

complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, will be the Federal District Courts of the United 

States (the “Federal Forum Provision,” and with the Delaware Forum Provision, the “Exclusive Forum Provisions”). In addition, the Bylaws provide that any person or entity 

purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock is deemed to have notice of and consented to the Delaware Forum Provision and the Federal 

Forum Provision, provided, however, that stockholders cannot and will not be deemed to have waived compliance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the rules and 

regulations thereunder.

These provisions may impose additional litigation costs on stockholders in pursuing any such claims and have the effect of discouraging certain lawsuits, including 

derivative lawsuits and lawsuits against our directors and officers, by limiting plaintiffs’ ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that they find favorable. In addition, while the 

Delaware Supreme Court and other state courts have upheld the validity of federal forum selection provisions purporting to require claims under the Securities Act be brought in 

federal court, there is uncertainty as to whether other courts will enforce our Federal Forum Provision. The Federal Forum Provision may also impose additional litigation costs 

on stockholders who assert that the provision is not enforceable or invalid, and if the Federal Forum Provision is found to be unenforceable, we may incur additional costs 

associated with resolving such matters. The Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the Federal District Courts of the United States may also reach different judgments 

or results than would other courts, including courts where a stockholder considering an action may be located or would otherwise choose to bring the action, and such 

judgments may be more or less favorable to us than our stockholders.

The private placement warrants issued to the Sponsor, and the Markforged Earnout Shares, are accounted for as liabilities recorded at fair value upon issuance 

with changes in fair value each period reported in earnings, which may have an adverse effect on the market price of our Common Stock.

Under U.S. GAAP, we are required to evaluate our warrants to determine whether they should be accounted for as a warrant liability or as equity. We have concluded 

that the warrants contain provisions requiring liability classification. Therefore, we are accounting for the warrants as a warrant liability and recorded that liability at fair value 

upon issuance. We will record any subsequent changes in fair value as of the end of each period for which earnings are reported. The impact of changes in fair value on 

earnings may have an adverse effect on the market price of our common stock and may cause fluctuations in our results of operations based on factors that are outside of our 

control.
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Additionally, the Markforged Earnout Shares are also accounted for as a liability because the triggering events that determine the number of shares to be earned 

included events that were not indexed to our Common Stock. These liabilities are subject to re-measurement at each balance sheet date. With each such re-measurement, the 

earnout liability will be adjusted to fair value, with a resulting non-cash gain or loss related to the change in the fair value being recognized in our earnings in the statement of 

operations. The impact of changes in fair value on earnings may have an adverse effect on the market price of our Common Stock. Due to the recurring fair value 

measurement, we expect that we will recognize non-cash gains or losses for each future reporting period and that the amount of such gains or losses could be material.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
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None. On April 24, 2024, we issued an aggregate of 1,086,136 shares of our common stock to various persons as earnout consideration as part of our contingent 

consideration liability associated with the 2022 acquisition of Teton Simulation Software following the achievement of certain business and development milestones, as further 

described in Note 3 “Acquisitions” to our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The earnout shares of 

common stock were issued for no consideration.

The offer, sale and issuance of these shares was deemed to be exempt from registration under the Securities Act in reliance on Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act as 

transactions by an issuer not involving a public offering. The recipients of the shares acquired them for investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any 

distribution thereof and appropriate legends were affixed to these shares. The recipients were all accredited investors within the meaning of Rule 501 of Regulation D under the 

Securities Act and had adequate access to information about us. No underwriters or placement agents were involved in these transactions.

Item 3. Defaults upon Senior Securities.

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information.

(c) Securities Trading Plans of Directors and Executive Officers

During the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, no director or officer of the Company adopted or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or 

“non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.
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Item 6. Exhibits.

The following exhibits are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into, this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

 
Exhibit

Number Description

   

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of Markforged Holding Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Markforged Holding Corporation’s Current Report 

on Form 8-K filed July 20, 2021).

   

3.2 Bylaws of Markforged Holding Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Markforged Holding Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed 

July 20, 2021).

3.3 Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of Markforged Holding Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Markforged Holding 

Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 18, 2024).

   

31.1** Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to 

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2** Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to 

Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1**+ Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2**+ Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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10.1**# Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy

101.INS** Inline XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH** Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema with Embedded Linkbases Documents

104** Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

+ These certifications are furnished to the SEC pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and are deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, nor shall they be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, except as shall be expressly set forth by 

specific reference in such filing.

** Filed herewith

# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan, contract or agreement.
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SIGNATURES

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto 

duly authorized.

     

Markforged Holding Corporation

Date: May 8, 2024 August 8, 2024 By: /s/ Shai Terem

Shai Terem

Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: May 8, 2024 August 8, 2024 By: /s/ Assaf Zipori

Assaf Zipori

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 10.1

MARKFORGED HOLDING CORPORATION AMENDED AND RESTATED
NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION POLICY

The purpose of this Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy (the “Policy”) of Markforged Holding Corporation 
(the “Company”) is to provide a total compensation package that enables the Company to attract and retain, on a long-term basis, high- caliber 
directors who are not employees or officers of the Company or its subsidiaries (“Outside Directors”). This Policy will become effective as of the 
date on which it is approved by the Board of Directors (the “Effective Date”). In furtherance of the purpose stated above, all Outside Directors shall 
be paid compensation for services provided to the Company as set forth below:

Cash Retainers
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Annual Retainer for Board Membership: $50,000 for general availability and participation in meetings of our Board of Directors, to be paid 
quarterly in arrears, pro-rated based on the number of actual days served by the director during such calendar quarter. No additional 
compensation will be paid for attending individual meetings of the Board of Directors.

Additional Annual Retainers for Committee Membership:

Audit Committee Chair: $20,000

Audit Committee member: $10,000

Compensation Committee Chair: $15,000

Compensation Committee member: $7,500

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Chair: $8,000

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee member: $4,000

Chair and committee member retainers are in addition to retainers for members of the Board of Directors. No additional compensation will 
be paid for attending individual committee meetings of the Board of Directors.

Equity Retainers

Initial Award: An initial, one-time restricted stock unit award (the “Initial Award”) with a Value (as defined below) of $75,000 will be granted to 
each new Outside Director upon his or her election or appointment to the Board of Directors, which shall vest in equal annual installments 
over three years from the date of grant, provided, however, that all vesting shall cease if the director’s service with the Company ends, unless 
the Board of Directors determines that the circumstances warrant continuation of vesting. In addition to the Initial Award, each newly 
appointed Outside Director who is appointed to the Board at least three (3) months prior to the next Annual Meeting (other than any Outside 
Director who is elected as of an Annual Meeting)

shall also receive a prorated Annual Award (as defined below) with a Value in an amount equal to the product of (i) the Annual Award Value 
(as defined below) times (ii) the quotient of (A) the total number of days between (1) the date of grant of the Initial Award and (2) the date of 
the Annual Meeting following the date of grant of the Initial Award divided by (B) 365. This Initial Award and Annual Award applies only to 
Outside Directors who are first elected or appointed to the Board of Directors subsequent to the Effective Date.

Annual Award: On each date of each Annual Meeting of Stockholders of the Company following the Effective Date (the “Annual Meeting”),
each continuing Outside Director and each newly elected Outside Director will receive an annual restricted stock unit award (the “Annual 
Award”) with a Value of $150,000 (the “Annual Award Value”), which shall vest in full upon the earlier of (i) the first anniversary of the date of 
grant or (ii) the date of the next Annual Meeting; provided, however, that all vesting shall cease if the director’s service with the Company 
ends, unless the Board of Directors determines that the circumstances warrant continuation of vesting.

Value: For purposes of this Policy, “Value” means with respect to (i) any stock option award, the grant date fair value of the option (i.e., Black-
Scholes Value) determined in accordance with the reasonable assumptions and methodologies employed by the Company for calculating the 
fair value of options under Financial Accounting Standard Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 718; and (ii) any 
award of restricted stock or restricted stock units the product of (A) the closing market price on the New York Stock Exchange (or such other 
market on which the Company’s common stock is then principally listed) of one share of the Company’s common stock as of the grant date, 
and (B) the aggregate number of shares of common stock underlying such award.
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Sale Event Acceleration: All outstanding Initial Awards and Annual Awards held by an Outside Director shall become fully vested and 
nonforfeitable upon a Sale Event (as defined in the Company’s 2021 Stock Option and Incentive Plan).

Expenses

The Company will reimburse all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by non- employee directors in attending meetings of the Board 
of Directors or any committee thereof.

Maximum Annual Compensation

The aggregate amount of compensation, including both equity compensation and cash compensation, paid by the Company to any Outside 
Director in a calendar year for services as an Outside Director shall not exceed $750,000; provided, however, that such amount shall be
$1,500,000 for the calendar year in which the applicable Outside Director is initially elected or appointed to the Board of Directors; (or such
other limits as may be set forth in Section 3(d) of the Company’s 2021 Stock Option and Incentive Plan or any similar provision of a 
successor plan). For this purpose, the “amount” of equity compensation paid in a calendar year shall be determined based on the grant date 
fair value thereof, as determined in accordance with FASB

ASC Topic 718 or its successor provision, but excluding the impact of estimated forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions.
2

Adopted: April 8, 2024.
3

 

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Shai Terem, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 of Markforged Holding Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in lig
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, result
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-1
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that mat
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in w
this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generall
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the 
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disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the 
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal con
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors an
audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial rep

Date: May 8, 2024 August 8, 2024 By: /s/ Shai Terem

Name: Shai Terem

Title: Chief Executive Officer

 

 

 

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Assaf Zipori, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 of Markforged Holding Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in lig
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, result
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-1
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that mat
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in w
this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generall
accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the 
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the 
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal con
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors an
audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial rep

Date: May 8, 2024 August 8, 2024 By: /s/ Assaf Zipori

 Name: Assaf Zipori

 Title: Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Markforged Holding Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, as filed 

with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Shai Terem, Chief Executive Officer, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted 

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: May 8, 2024 August 8, 2024 By: /s/ Shai Terem

Name: Shai Terem

Title: Chief Executive Officer

 

 

 

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Markforged Holding Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, as filed 

with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Assaf Zipori, Chief Financial Officer, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted 

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: May 8, 2024 August 8, 2024 By: /s/ Assaf Zipori

Name: Assaf Zipori

Title: Chief Financial Officer
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